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HISTORICAL.

CHAPTER"T.

CONQUEST OF CANADA—TREATY OF PARIS—THE GREATER NOVA SCOTIA
—ISLE OF ST. JEAN—CAPE BRETON.

The conquest of Canada which had been prefigured by Wolfe’s
victory at Quebec in September 1 759, was consummated a year later,
when Montreal, where Vaudrueil, the Governor General made his last
stand, was compelled to capitulate to Amherst and other generals con-
verging on it from points already seized by British arms. So far as
operations in America were concerned, Vaudrueil's surrender brought
the Seven Years War to an end three years before it had completely
run its course in Europe,

Eventually preliminary articles of a general pacification were agreed
on at Fontainebleau on November 2, 1762. Royal proclamations en-
joining an immediate cessation of hostilities followed. On February
10, 1763, the definitive Treaty of Paris was signed.

Pitt, under whose masterly direction the chief successes of the war
had been achieved, was no longer in office to dictate the terms of settle-
ment. All he could do was to protest against concessions which he
deemed discreditable to a nation which had emerged triumphant from
the struggle,—the surrender of Havanna and the continuance to France
of the provisions of the Treaty of Utrecht, guaranteeing her valuable
rights and privileges in the waters and on the coasts of Newfoundland,
with St. Pierre and Miquelon thrown in as a free gift.

But these were but small matters. Pitt’s policy had triumphed. He
had done for England, and particularly for the cause of England in
North America, what even a temporising and selfish man like Bute
could not undo. North America had been won. Instead of the
English colonies being squeezed, as de la Galisonniere had planned,
between the Alleghanies and the sea, and thus compressed almost into
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nothingness, the flag of Britain now flew over the whole vast domain
from the St. Lawrence to the Gulf, from the Atlantic to the Mississippi.

The following are the articles of the Treaty of Paris particularly
relating to Canada and Nova Scotia :(—

The following are the articles from the definitive Treaty of Paris,
1oth of February, 1763, bearing upon the renunciation of Nova Scotia,
and the cession of Canada to the Crown of Great Britain: His most
Christian Majesty renounces all pretensions, which he has heretofore
formed, or might form, to Nova Scotia, or Acadia in all its parts,
and guaranties the whole of it, and with all its dependencies, to the
King of Great Britain.

Moreover, his most Christian Majesty cedes and guarantees to his
said Britannic Majesty, in full right, Canada, and all its dependencies,
as well as the Island of Cape Breton, and all the other islands and
coasts in the Gulf and River St. Lawrence, and in general, everything
that depends on the said countries, lands, islands, and coasts, with the
sovereignty, property, possession, and all rights, acquired by treaty or
otherwise, which the most Christian King, and the Crown of France,
have had till now over the said countries, islands, lands, places, coasts,
and their inhabitants, so that the most Christian King cedes and makes
over to the said King, and the Crown of Great Britain, and that in
the most ample manner and form, without restriction, and without
liberty to depart from the said cession and guaranty, under any pre-
tence, or to disturb Great Britain in the possessions above men-
tioned.

His Britannic Majesty, on his side, agrees to grant the liberty of
the Catholic religion to the inhabitants of Canada: he will consequently
give the most effectual orders, that his new Roman Catholic subjects |
may profess the worship of their religion, according to the rites of
the Romish church, as far as the laws of Great Britain permit.

His Britannic Majesty further agrees that the French inhabitants
or others, who had been the subjects of the most Christian King in
Canada, may retire, with all safety and freedom, whenever they shall
think proper, and may sell their effects, as well as their persons, with-
out being restrained in their emigration, under any pretence whatso-
ever, except that of debts, or of criminal prosecutions; the term limited
for this emigration shall be fixed to the space of eighteen months, to be
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computed from the day of the exchange of the ratification of the
present treaty.

From 1760, the date of Vaudrueil's surrender until 1763, the date
of the Treaty of Paris, Canada as a conquered country was under
strict military rule. This bald statement, however, might give a wrong
impression, for this seems to have been a case of military control of
a civilian population at its best. General Jeffery Amherst, on whom
devolved the duty of inaugurating British rule in Canada, was just
the man for the hour. Without brilliancy or dash as a soldier, he owed
his military successes to caution, foresight, self-possession, and inflex-
ible resolve. It was beyond his power to win a victory like Wolfe’s
and equally impossible for him to have suffered a defeat like Brad-
dock’s. Into the administration of civil affairs he brought the same
qualities that won him distinction on the field. His careful eye sur-
veyed every feature of a delicate and difficult situation. The prepos-
sessions and prejudices of the people whom he temporarily governed,
and for whose future government he was called on to provide, were
taken into account. He rightly saw the folly and the danger of
attempting to impose on the French Canadians, either a full-fledged
system of British law, or a harsh military despotism. Between these
extremes a happy compromise was effected. A distinguished French
jurist, who made the history of this interregnum period a matter of
special investigation, bears testimony that “although the regimental
officers were the administrators of justice, nevertheless they respected
and even followed in their procedure the laws and ancient customs of
the colony to the extent they knew then, or that circumstances per-
mitted,” The change of sovereignty did not become associated in the
French Canadian mind, with the tearing up by the roots of everything
made sacred by association and tradition.

ISLAND OF ST. JOHN.

Though the Treaty of Paris was signed on February 1oth. (1763)
it was not publicly proclaimed until September 8th. Three weeks later
came an officially appointed day of general thanksgiving. Soon the
Gazette published a proclamation to the effect that King George the
Third, with the advice of the Privy Council had “connected the
islands adjacent thereto, to our Government of Nova Scotia.” The
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Treaty thus in general terms ceded Cape Breton and St. John islands
to Great Britain, while the proclamation specifically annexed them to
Nova Scotia, practically the territorial equivalent of what we have
called the historical Acadia, and of what are now known as the Mari-
time Provinces of the Dominion of Canada. That part of the greater
Nova Scotia now constituting the Province of New Brunswick will
not require special or separate consideration inasmuch as being accord-
ing to the English centention an integral part of Acadia, or Nova
Scotia. The cases of Cape Breton and Isle St. John stand on a differ-
ent footing. They were foreign territory until 1763. Isle St. John
will drop off in 1770, Cape Breton—happily but temporarily—in
1784. It is proposed to give a brief outline of the history of each
during the periods (1763-1770 and 1763-1784) of their connec-
tion with Nova Scotia, if we cannot say of their incorporation in
the greater Nova Scotia.”

Governor Wilmot on opening the next ensuing session of the
Assembly thus alluded to these important insular accretions: “The
islands of Breton and St. John having been annexed to this government
by the Royal Proclamation, I shall consider what profits and advan-
tages may be thence derived, as soon as I shall receive His Majesty’s
instructions, and know his pleasure relating to the acquisitions.”

As to the “acquisitions” the Governor lets us know very clearly the
standard by which he proposes to elevate them. Everything depends
on “the profits and advantages” that may accrue to the Province in
general.” His caution lays him open to the charge of disregarding the
proverb which warns us against looking a gift-horse in the mouth.

A paragraph or two may be devoted to a consideration of the few
facts known regarding the history of Isle St. John when a part of
Nova Scotia. At the date of the Treaty of Paris this island had not
recovered in the least from the desolate and depopulated condition in
which Lord Rollo’s fleet had left it a month or two after the fall of
Louisburg. There were supposed to be about thirty Acadian families
which somehow had managed to escape Lord Rollo’s depopulating
broom. Captain Hill with a company of troops occupied a wretched
stockade called Fort Amherst. :

In 1764 the British government appointed Samuel Hubbard to
make a minute survey of the coasts of Isle St. John and Cape Breton.
While engaged in this work, apparently in 1668, Captain Hubbard had
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occasion to visit Halifax. About the same time instructions reached
the authorities at Halifax to make arrangements for granting land
in Isle St. John. What these instructions were in detail we have no
means of knowing. Lieutenant-Governor Francklin and his Council
interpreted them literally. In addition to laying off the island into
counties, with county towns—the divisions and names remain undis-
turbed unto this day—they undertook to equip the island with a full
staff of civil officials. “A judge was proposed, to have 200 pounds a
year and other officials.” Francklin wrote to the Secretary of State,
“The Chief Surveyor (Captain Samuel Holland) with two assistant
surveyors, and several other civil officers and magistrates, this day
sailed from hence to the island of St. John.” Isaac Deschamps of
Windsor, M. P. P. for Newport, judge of the court of Common Pleas
for Kings County, was appointed “to be for the time superintendent
of affairs for the island.” Jonathan Binney of Halifax was appointed
second judge.

TIn due time the official party, including Mr. Morris, Provincial
Surveyor General, reached Port Le Joie (Charlottetown) and pro-
ceeded to business. They selected the exact site on which Charlotte-
town now stands, put up a small shed as a home for themselves during
the winter, laid off streets and actually disposed of house lots. Whether
this official posse remained on the island during the winter or not, we
have no means of knowing. A year later, so Murdock tells us, “Lieu-
tenant-Governor Francklin’s conduct in sending several officers and
entering into expenses at the island of St. John, was censured by the
authorities in England, who had only intended a survey of lots for
settlers. He resolved to visit England and the Council gave its opinion
that he might do so without express leave of absence from the King,
as the Governor was now here to command.”

Francklin went to England and returned, but does not appear to
have given out any information as to what effect his representation
to the “Authorities” may have had in modifying their criticism of his
conduct in appointing a whole staff of officials for an absolutely unset-
tled country. Our Nova Scotia histories and we suppose our Nova
Scotia records too, are barren of reference to the separation of the
island from the Province of Nova Scotia. The separation actually

took place in 1770.
Turning to Prince Edward Island histories and archives we get an



418 HISTORY OF NOVA SCOTIA.

entirely different view of the development of affairs. The connection
between the island and Nova Scotia established by the Treaty of Paris
and King George’s proclamation is indeed mentioned in the first few
lines of the story and then dropped. The narrative for those early
years consists mainly of an account of a series of efforts by the Earl
of Egmont, first Lord of the Admiralty to obtain a grant of the whole
island the same to be held in fee of the Crown forever. Egmont
himself was to be Lord Paramount, with forty capital lords of forty
hundreds, four hundred lords of manors and eight hundred
freeholders. Each lord was to have 2 castle, and the castles were to
be so near each other that a cannon fired at one castle would be heard
at the next, and thus the firing would proceed in regular order from
castle to castle and be the means of putting every inhabitant of the

- whole island under arms and in motion in the space of one quarter
of an hour.” This memorial, which we are told “was. supported.by
thirty influential gentlemen” was referred by the King to the Board
of Trade for consideration. The Board of Trade reported unfavorably
on the general ground that the scheme was too military in its aim and
scope, and concluded their statement with the following apt reference
the precedent of Nova Scotia: “As your Majesty has been pleased
to annex the island of St. John to your Province of Nova Scotja, we
humbly recommend the settling it upon the plan and under the regula-
tions approved by your Majesty for the settlement of that Province
in general.” Lord Egmont did not give the matter up. It is not
necessary to trace the distinctions between his first and second mem-
orials. The latter, in its turn, was unable to pass the ordeal of the
Board of Trade. As a solution, the memorialist was offered a grant
of 100,000 acres “to be selected by himself.” Presumably the land
offered was within the island of St. John itself. Still we find that
Lord Egmont some years after (1770) obtained a grant of like extent
on the Shubenacadie River in Nova Scotia, and that a little later
“three vacant lots in front of his former grant were allowed him on
the memorial of his agent, Mr. Woodmass.”

CAPE BRETON ANNEXED.

Cape Breton, like the Island of St. John was ceded by the Treaty
of Paris to England and like it, was by Royal proclamation “annexed
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to the government of Nova Scotia.” The new acquisition experienced
something almost of the nature of a rebuff at the very inception of
this connection. To induce officers and soldiers who had taken grants
of land on a generous scale were offered all such veterans. Particularly
to mark the government’s appreciation of the service of Boscawen
similar grants were offered “to such reduced officers of the navy of
like rank as served on board of ships of war in North America at the
time of the reduction of Louisburg. While in large numbers, officers
seized the opportunity of acquiring lands in both Canada and Nova
Scotia, none were allowed to take up grants in Cape Breton. Such
certainly called for a statement of reasons. The reasons, as furnished
Governor Wilmot of Nova Scotia by the Lords of Trade and
Plantations, are not absolutely cogent and convincing. Coupling Cape
Breton and St. John together, the Lords of Trade commend the islands
as now connected with the government of Nova Scotia “to the Gov-
ernor’s particular care and attention.” Wilmot is instructed to have
a particular survey made of both, to collect information and to con-
sider “what establishments might be necessary for effectually uniting
them to Nova Scotia.” However until the survey was completed, he
was to make no grants to any one in either of the islands, and “to
discourage every attempt that might in its nature and consequence
operate as a monopoly. “This is perhaps the most—if not the only—
argumentative point made by their lordships in explanation of the
closure. In a second letter they repeat emphatically the prohibition,
but without further showing cause. Wilmot was cautioned “against
making any grants of land, upon any pretence whatever, in St. John's
and Cape Breton Islands.” The coal veins were in like manner her-
metically sealed, though Brigadier-General Howe and several other
officers were “desirous of becoming adventurers in opening coal mines
and of endeavoring to establish a colliery for the better supplying the
several colonies and garrisons on the continent with fuel,” They offered
to pay two shillings, sterling per ton (London measure) on every
chaldron exported.” The grant thus wanted extended “from the
point on the north side of Mira Bay to the southeast side of the
entrance into the Labrador (Le Bras d'Or).” Sir Samuel Fludgers
applied first for a lease of all the coals in the island of Cape Breton
“paying two shilings 6d. sterling for the first ten years, 3s. 9d. for the
next ten, and 5s. for the last ten years of their lease. Then Sir Samuel
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narrowed his offer down to the territory asked for by Brigadier-
General Howe, but bidding much higher. All applications for coal
areas and coal leases were summarily turned down by the Lords of
Trade in their wisdom.

The administration of civil affairs in this earliest period of English

rule in Cape Breton calls for some notice. In an account of affairs

of the same date at the Island of St. John, we have quoted Governor
Wilmot’s guarded and calculated reference to the profits and advan-
tages which the annexation of the two islands might bring to the
Province in general, and his proposal to await instructions.

The island having been annexed to Nova Scotia by royal procla-
mation on October 7, 1763, the Governor in opening the Legislative
Assembly on March 24th following stated, “that he should consider
what profits and advantages might thence be derived to the Province
in general, as soon as he should receive His Majesty’s instructions and
know his further pleasure relating to this acquisition.” No steps, how-
ever, were taken for giving the island a voice in the Legislature until
December 10, 1765, when it was orderd by the Governor and Council :
“That the island of Cape Breton should be erected into a distinct
county, to be known by the name of “County of Breton, comprehending
the islands of Madame and Scatari, and all islands within three leagues,
and that a writ should be issued for choosing two representatives ; and
further, that the free holders should be at liberty to choose non-resi-
dents.” A very necessary proviso, no doubt, when we bear in mind
that in the month of July previous, the Attorney-General had been
ordered by Governor Wilmot “to make inquiry whether there was a
sufficiency of people for making a jury to be summoned at Louisburg
to try a man who had been charged with having committed a murder
there.” A writ accordingly having been issued to the Provost-Marshal,
directing him to summons the Freeholders of the County of Breton
to make choice of two representatives, John Grant, Esquire, and Mr.
Gregory Townshend were elected, who proceeded to Halifax to take
their seats in the Assembly on June 3, 1766.

The validity of their election having been called in question, on the
ground that “the return varied from the tenor of the writ, which
directed that the choice should be made by Freeholders, and the return
specified that the same had been made by the inhabitants,” it was on
June 5th “Resolved and ordered that Messrs. Butler, Morris, Smith,
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Brenton, and Burbridge be a committee to examine into the validity of
the said election and report thereon.”  On June 7th, the committee
reported as follows :

“1st. That the usage of choosing representatives in this Province
has always been a majority of Freeholders in the county or town
for which such representatives are chosen, in pursuance of a resolution
of the Governor and Council passed August 2z, 1759.

“2nd. That the Writ which by the above members are returned
directs the Provost-Marshal in direct words to summon the Free-
holders of the County of Breton qualified by the said resolution to make
choice of two representatives for that county.

“3rd. By the return of the said writ, that the above election has
been made by the inhabitants of the said county, and it does not appear
to us that there is one Freeholder qualified as above directed in that
county.

“Lastly. The committee therefore are of opinion that the said
election is contrary to the resolution aforesaid, not conformable to
the precept of the writ, and ought not to be admitted.”

The report of the committee was adopted by the House. Then a
difficulty arose. The Assembly had imposed taxes on the people of
Cape Breton, to whom it was now denying the right of representa-
tion. Instead of solving the contradiction by altering the terms of
the franchise, the Assembly proceeded to make matters worse by
passing “An Act for the more effectual recovery of His Majesty’s
dues in the Islands of Cape Breton and St. John and islands adjacent.”
This heaping of injustice naturally, but without avail, led the people of
Louisburg and wherever else English speaking people were found to
transmit the following remonstrance to the Lords Commissioners of
Trade and Plantations:

That they had been settlers in the island ever since its reduction,
and that many of them had aided in that conquest: that their great
distance from the capital of Nova Scotia was the cause of innumerable
difficulties, from which the Governors of that colony had taken no
measures to relieve them; that they were neither consulted at home nor
represented in the Assembly; that they were oppressed by the most
grevious impositions on almost every necessary commodity, and
charged exorbitant rents for the liberty of dwelling in the wretched

(28)
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ruins of the town of Louisburg; that they had no courts of justice to
which they could apply for the redress of wrongs; that they had in
vain applied to the Governors of Nova Scotia for absolute grants of
land ; and that spirituous liquors, so essential in carrying on the fisheries
‘in this intemperate climate’ were highly taxed by the Legislature of
Nova Scotia while they were excluded from every benefit common to
the settlers of the said Province.

No notice whatever was taken of this petition until May 28th in
the following year when the Lords of Trade reported to His Majesty
that no grants could be completed, as was well known to the people of
Louisburg ; that the island had been erected into a distinct county and a
writ issued for choosing two representatives, (you have already seen
how this had been settled twelve months previously), and that a com-
mission had been issued for holding a Court of Quarter Sessions and
for erecting a Court of Common Pleas. “This,” they add, “being
the state of affairs in Cape Breton, and the inhabitants of Louisburg
having been made participant in every advantage, a privilege enjoyed
by your Majesty’s other subjects in the continental part of Nova
Scotia, they had no foundation either in reason or justice to complain.
On the contrary, we think that every attention has been paid to their
interests, under their unauthorized state of settlement, they had any
just right to expect.”

So far as parliamentary representation was concerned the position
of the people of Cape Breton was a peculiarly hard and trying one.
The island had been duly constituted a county, and as a county of Nova
Scotia had gained the right of sending two members to the Provincial
Assembly. But members of course must be chosen in harmony with
the provisions of the statute governing elections. By that statute, the
franchise, that is the right of voting for members of the Assembly, was
limited to freeholders. But in the County of Cape Breton there was
not a single freeholder to be found. The right of representation was
purely conditional ; practically it was reduced to a perfect nullity. That
there were bona fide, permanently domiciled, settlers on the island, was
without question, but the only title they had to the property on which
they lived was a so-called “license of occupation.” The whole popu-
lation was thus unfranchised. But though the situation was awkward
and unpleasant, it was one for which a simple remedy seemed to sug-
gest itself. By the conversion of licenses of occupation into freehold
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grants the required constituency of voters could be at once provided.
The Assembly undertook to grapple with the problem and on April 2,
1770, seven years after Cape Breton became a part of Nova Scotia,
passed the following resolution: “That no writ shall issue to the Isle
of Breton, because, of the want of freeholders to make an election,
and that the said isle be deemed to be represented by the members for
the County of Halifax, into which it has resolved and become a part
thereof as heretofore.” The absurdity of the suggestion that the people
of Cape Breton should be represented by men in whose selections they
had no voice whatever, is perhaps a little relieved when it is recalled
that when the county system was established in Nova Scotia it had
been decided to include in Halifax all places not embraced in other
counties. No satisfactory explanation has been given of the extra-
ordinary repugnance shown by England to the issue of freehold grants
in Cape Breton, or of the wide contrast between the land policies
pursued towards her and the island of St. John respectively. Cape
Breton remained unrepresented in the Assembly through the whole
period of her first connection with Nova Scotia.



CHAPTER II.

DIFFERENT MODES OF ADMINISTERING THE GOVERNMENT—VIEW OF
BELCHER'S ADMINISTRATION—DISMISSAL OF OFFICIALS BY
BELCHER—GOVERNOR MONTAGUE WILMOT—ASSEM-

BLY DISSOLVED IN I765——NEW SCHEME OF REP-
RESENTATION—LIST OF MEMBERS
RETURNED AT ENSUING ELECTION.

No ordinary powers of memory can retain with minute accuracy
the lists of governors-in-chief, lieutenant-governors, and pro tem gov-
ernors who administered the affairs of Nova Scotia during the half
century following the founding of Halifax. This is particularly true
of the period succeeding the death of Lawrence in 1760, For three
years, Chief Justice Belcher was the actual administrator, for nearly a
year by virtue of his position as president of the council, for the
remainder of the period under regular commission as lieutenant-gover-
nor. Not long after Lawrence’s death, Henry Ellis, Esq., of whom
not much is known, except that in 1758 he was Governor of Georgia,
was appointed “Captain-General and Governor-in-Chief of Nova Sco-
tia,” but contented himself with the titular distinction and the attached.
salary, leaving the duties to be performed by the lieutenant-governor.
Ellis formally retired from the governorship-in-chief in August or Sep-
tember, 1763. A few months earlier Belcher had been superseded as
lieutenant-governor by Col. Montague Wilmot, who, on Ellis's with-
drawal, was on October 8th raised to the supreme command.

A review of the three years of Belcher’s administration, we venture
to say, tend to support the view that the concentration of the two
highest offices in the Province—offices having little natural connection
and obvious points of contrast, was decidedly unwise. The ministry at
home took care that such a conjunction should not occur again. A
“royal instruction” was read on the occasion of the induction of Wil-
mot into the governorship, less than a year after Belcher’s retirement,
“signifying His Majesty’s pleasure that the Chief Justice of the
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Province shall not be capable of taking on him the administration of
the government on the death or absence of the Governor or Com-
mander-in-chief.” “His Majesty” was not infallible, but speaking
generally one must say that his view seems to be an eminently wise
one. If not absolutely incompatible, there was between the offices held
by Belcher for three years, absolutely no natural correlation but rather
much to suggest that the person who held the one should not hold the
other. Besides, that a man already charged with the duty of construc-
ting, and in his own sole person administering, the legal or judicial
system of the Province, should in addition have time and strength for
the onerous function of the governorship, at a time when the personal
quality of the Governor was all important, was beyond all reason-
able expectation. Things turned out much as they might have been
anticipated to do. No distinctive mark of statesmanship is attached to
Belcher’s period of rule. The praise bestowed upon it is due to the
light reflected from his judicial accomplishments and high personal
character. What constructive statesmanship Belcher might have dis-
played under conditions different from those which actually confronted
him, it was vain to conjecture. The record shows that his mind was
scarcely for a moment free from the paralyzing fear inspired by the
return to their native shores of bands—never too small to throw him
into a panic—of the proscribed Canadian exiles. With each fresh batch
of news, another dispatch to the Secretary of State, another letter 10
General Amherst, and of course several meetings of the Council.

The following extract from Murdock refers to an incident which
occurred during Belcher’s lieutenant-governorship: “In Council, 28th
August, the lieutenant-governor was pleased to declare that His
Majesty’s ministry was so much offended against the members of the
Assembly, who had not attended their duty there in the last fall, that
he had directions to dismiss them from all their employments, both
civil and military; and the lieutenant-governor ordered that the fol-
lowing gentlemen should be dismissed accordingly, viz: Mr. Malachy
Salter, Mr. Jonathan Binney, Mr. Benjamin Gerrish, Mr. Philip
Knaut, Mr. Robert Dennison, and Mr. Stephen West.”

To the above paragraph, Murdock appends a note to the effect that
Malachy Salter was his own great-grandfather, and in addition speci-
fies the location of the said great-grandfather’s home in Halifax: “at
the corner of Hollis and Salter streets (the site now occupied by the
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buildings of the Maritime Telephone Company). The historian, how-
ever does not go into a particular explanation as to the precise nature
of the fault of the dismissed officials; whether it was simply a sin of
“omission,” mere failure to attend the session, or some graver breach
of duty. Almost without exception the inculpated gentlemen had borne
excellent representations. With the exception of Mr. Knaut, who was
one of the German members for Luenburg, they were all New Eng-
landers. Messrs. Salter, Binney and Gerrish had been members from
the beginning. Mr. Dennison as one of the members for the newly
created County of Kings, and Mr. West, one of the representatives of
the township of Cornwallis.

As to the civil or military employments from which Governor
Belcher dismissed the above named gentlemen full information is not
available. What official position Jonathan Binney' then had does not
seem to be known. Two years later he was made a member of the
Council and subsequently held a number of important appointments.
Malachy Salter, for whom one of the streets of Halifax is named.
and a number of leading Nova Scotian families,? are descended, had
one of the largest mercantile establishments in Halifax, but does not
figure in the records as an officeholder. Benjamin Gerrish—Gerrish
street perpetuates the family name—was “agent for Indian affairs.”
In his case we know the precise office from which he was dismissed.
He was raised to the Council in 1768. Probably Binney and Salter
held appointments in connection with the militia staff of the Province.
The same is a plausible presumption in the case of the county members,
Knaut, Dennison, and Best.

Joseph Gerrish, an elder brother of the Benjamin Gerrish, just
mentioned as stripped by order of “His Majesty's Ministry” of what-
ever official positions he held, was the next to get into trouble. We
read that on December 12th. a month or so after the previous dis-
missals, the lieutenant-governor declared “that in consequence of orders
which he had received, Joseph Gerrish, Esq., must be suspended from
being a member of the Council until His Majesty’s pleasure shall be
further known.” Nor was this all. The fallen are often deemed
worthy of an additional kick. Three days afterwards “the lieutenant-
governor dismissed Joseph Gerish, Esq., from the office of Inferior

1Ancestor of the well-known Binney family.
2Duffus, Cunard, Morrow, Henry, Ritchie, Sangster.
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Court of Common Pleas for the County of Halifax.” It is hard to
believe that the action taken by the ministry in the case of these
dismissed officials was not based on representations or charges sent
over by the lieutenant-governor himself. Just a year later at a council
held immediately after the accession of Wilmot to the full governor-
ship, a Royal mandamus was read reconstituting the complete Council.
Among the names is that of Joseph Gerrish. One of the new
appointees was William Nesbitt, who at that time was speaker of the
Assembly and Attorney-General of the Province. Consequently,
“while he was highly sensible of the honor that was intended for him,
he had some very particular reasons to decline accepting therof,” and
therefore prayed the Governor to have him excused. He had been a
member of the Assembly from the beginning and speaker until since
1759, and continued to sit both as a member and speaker until his
death in 1783.

The grounds on which Col. Montague Wilmot received his appoint-
ment to the governorship of Nova Scotia have never been disclosed.
His gift was oratory. Mr. Murdock has exhumed and embalmed the
speeches with which he opened and closed the first session of the
Assembly held after his appointment. He tells his “friends and fel-
low subjects’”” that “the most material points which at present demand
your consideration are the revival of former laws, the enacting of
those which may be useful, as well as the re-enacting such expiring
laws as may be deemed most salutary and productive of the public
good, and that you will take the most effectual measures in your
power for the satisfaction and relief of such persons as may have any
legal demands on the government. Long before His Majesty placed
me in this station, was I well acquainted with the zeal and fidelity of
his subjects of Nova Scotia.” His speech at the adjournment is
exhuberant with felicitations: “I cannot help professing that the event
of your deliberations have more than answered my most sanguine
hopes and expectations. Your minds untinctured with and divested
of all private and selfish views have, to your honor, been directed to the
public good, and have sufficiently served to confirm me in the opinion
I ever entertained of you, as a prudent and truly worthy people. Long
may this happy disposition remain among you—Ilong may such virtuous
principles flourish in this colony, and may I be allowed the happiness
with every sincere well-wisher, to join in a sincere desire that they
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may be permanent to the latest posterity.” Not a great deal of import-
ant business was interjected between these orations. There were, how-
ever, some items of interest. ‘“Mahogany chairs for each member
(nineteen in number) were ordered to be made,” and it was thought
necessary to add, “by a carpenter.” Laws were henceforth to be .
printed, and not as before to be published or proclaimed by being read
on the parade, “after notice of beat of drum.”

The most important matter before the House was a proposed
enlargement of the Supreme Court by associating two puisne judges
with the Chief Justice. It was conceived “that His Majesty’s subjects
ought not to rest satisfied with the judgment of one person only,” and a
formal address was presented to the Governor that this court should
be held in every county, and that so important a court should not consiss
“of one man however capable and upright.” The suggestion bore
fruit. A few months later the Council recommended the ministry
that two assistant judges of the Supreme Court should be appointed as
asked for by the Assembly. When this recommendation came to be
acted on the Chief Justice saw to it that his own powers and preroga-
tives on the bench were not too severely trenched on.

On the 39th of January, 1765, the Assembly was dissolved and
writs issued for a new election, according to the following schedule
of representation: The county of Halifax four members, each of the
other counties two members; the town of Halifax, two members, and
each of the following townships one member, Horton, Cornwallis,
Falmouth, Cumberland, Granville, Annapolis, Lunenburg, Liverpool,
Onslow and Truro. Any other township, it was provided, should
have a right to this unitary representation whenever it could prove
that it contained a population of fifty families. By comparing the list
of townships enumerated with that of the members elected, it will be
seen that between the publication of the schedule and the election, the
township of Newport was allowed representation.

There were now six counties. The new County of Queens was
defined as comprising the townships of Liverpool, Barrington and Yar-
mouth, the only point of settlement in the long stretch of territory lying
between the counties of Lunenburg and Annapolis. Somewhat later
it was arranged that the part of the present Province of New Bruns-
wick lying to the west of Westmorland County—the latter being at
that time included in the original County of Cumberland, should he
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erected into a county which under the name of Sunbury, should be
entitled to return as the other counties two members to the Assembly.
Sackville, a New England township on the northern border of the
isthmus of Chignecto, was aaded to the list of townships entitled to a
member when a population of fifty families was reached. The act
making these provisions goes on to mention the townships to which
this principle of potential representation was supposed particularly to
apply; Barrington, Yarmouth, Chester, Dublin, Amherst, St. John’s
(?) Windsor, Wilmot, ( Annapolis Co.), Louishurg, and Wilmot town
(Canso).” Of these the only places securing representation as town-
ships, sooner or later, were Barrington, Yarmouth, Ambherst, and
Windsor.

The Governor and Council were, some years afterwards, instructed
not to allow this scheme of increased township representation to take
effect “without first ascertaining His Majesty’s pleasure.” It thus came
about, that the system of allotting members to certain townships
operated most inequitably. Some of the older counties obtained a
voting power in the Assemblly to which their population did not entitle
them. Some of the later organized counties obtained no township
representation at all, and so were limited in the Assembly to the votes
of their two county members.

The following is a list of the members returned for the fourth
General Assembly of Nova Scotia :

Halifax County—William Nesbitt, Benjamin Gerrish, John Butler,
William Best ; King County—Winckworth Tonge, Charles Morris, Jr.;

"Queens County—William Smith, Simeon Perkins; Lunenburg County
—Joseph Pernette, Philip Knaut; Annapolis County— Joseph Winnett,
John Harris; Cumberland County—Benoni Danks, Gamaliel Smet-
hurst ; Halifax town—Charles Proctor, Richard Winman ; Truro town
—Charles Morris, Jr.; Onslow town—James Breton; Horton town—
William Welch; Cornwallis town—John Burbridge;' Falmouth town
—Isaac Deschamps; Newport town—John Day ; Liverpool town—Eli-
sha Freeman; Lunenburg town—A. Hinshelwood ; Annapolis town—
Henry Munro ; Cumberland town— Josia Troop.

1Mr Burbridge had sat in the three previous Assemblies as one of the members
for Halifax. He was an Englishman, a native of Comes, Isle of Wight. From the
time of'his settlement in Cornwallis, a few years prior to the election of 1765, until
his death, he was perhaps the most influential man in Kings County. The well-
known Burbridge family is descended from a nephew who followed him to Novo Seotia.
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STAMP ACT—NOVA SCOTIA DECLINES TO JOIN THE PROTEST WITH
MASSACHUSETTS—MURDOCK COMMENTS—DEATH OF WILMOT—
BENJAMIN GREEN BECOMES TEMPORARY ADMINISTRATOR—
YARMOUTH AND SACKVILLE GRANTED REPRESENTATION
IN THE ASSEMBLY—BRITISH VIEW OF COLONIAL
MANUFACTURES—LORD WILLIAM CAMPBELL
APPOINTED GOVERNOR-IN-CHIEF—LORD
WILLIAM’S IMPRESSIONS OF THE RE-

SOURCES OF NOVA SCOTIA—HE IS
BLAMED BY THE MINISTRY
FOR OPENING THE COAL
MINES OF CAPE
BRETON.

About this time (1764-5) projects of direct colonial taxation for
the benefit of the imperial exchequer, previously mooted and then
dropped, re-appeared and began to take definite shape. In 1764 Gran-
ville, Chancellor of the Exechuquer, gave notice of a bill requiring that
a stamp for which duty must be paid in England, should be imposed
on all written documents to make them legally valid. The notice was
accompanied by an intimation that the measure would be willingly
exchanged for any equally effective one that the colonies might prefer
as better suited to their conditions. Instead of suggested substitutes
the anouncement evoked loud and indignant remonstrance from New
Hampshire to Georgia. Massachusetts was particularly conspicuous
by the energy of her protests. The Molasses Act which forbade pious
distillers from importing material for their New England rum from
foreign countries was bad enough, but what was threatened now was
the dread ogre of direct taxation.

Trans-Atlantic objections went for nothing. The ministry carried
the act with an overwhelming majority and it came duly into operation,
in Nova Scotia and the other colonies. The experiment proved to be
“a most unfortunate one. Vexatious in its details—the “schedule of
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purposes” indicating the different forms required, covered no less than
forty-three heads—it was still more objectionable, the bulk of the
colonists claimed, on account of its principle. There was, however,
a respectable minority who claimed that however inopportune and
exasperating, the Stamp Act was not unconstitutional. Benjamin
Franklin, it is said, offered his services to help the government obtain
the services of an efficient stamp-collector in Pennsylvania. But
whether constitutional or unconstitutional, the Stamp Act could not
outride the show of indignation with which it was received. It broke
down before Parliament had time to repeal it. The process of repeal
which was carried through at the next session of Parliament was much
facilitated by an intervening change of ministry, brought about, how-
ever, by causes having no connection with the Stamp Act. The repeal-
ing bill is said to have been inspired by Edmund Burke, the private
secretary of the new Prime Minister, Lord Rockingham, and received
the support of William Pitt. Parliament, however, did all that it could
to make the surrender ungracious and unsatisfactory by passing a
Declaratory Act affirming in most positive terms its constitutional right
to impose direct taxation on the colonies. Notwithstanding the testi-
mony of Governor Wilmot that “His Majesty’s subjects in this
Province have without any opposition submitted themselves to the
authority of Parliament,” we may be sure that if there was no active
opposition, there was much inward dissatisfaction and not a little
audible grumbling.

To anticipate somewhat for the sake of convenience. Two years
after the repeal of the Stamp Act another Chancellor of the Exchequer,
Charles Townshend, introduced and carried through Parliament an act
imposing duties on tea and other articles imported into the colonies.
This was not exactly a new principle, but as the revenue resulting was
to be applied in making an American civil list, it had the effect of
bringing colonial officials directly under the control of the home govern-
ment, a policy which so far Massachusetts had steadfastly and success-
fully resisted. Moreover the wound inflicted by the Stamp Act had
not yet entirely healed. To say nothing of its quality in the abstract, a
more foolish policy than that of Townshend’s cannot easily be con--
ceived of. Massachusetts led the way in opposition to what she
regarded as a new attack on colonial liberty. By order of the Assembly,
the speaker addressed a circular letter to the Governors of the other
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colonies. A copy of this letter will be found in Appendix “B” of this
volume. The following despatch from Lieutenant-Governor Francklin
will show how the letter was received in Nova Scotia :

Halifax, Nova Scotia, 2g9th March, 1768.
My Lord :—

Last night, Mr. Nesbitt, speaker of the House of Assembly of
this Province, communicated to me a letter he had just received from
the speaker of the House of Representatives of the Province of the
Massachusetts Bay ; and as the keeping up of a correspondence between
the several colonies in their legislative capacities may in time prove of
dangerous consequence, I conceived it proper to transmit to your lord-
ship a copy of this letter. And at the same time I must pray leave to
assure your lordship that no temptation, however great, will lead the
inhabitants of this colony to show the least inclination to oppose acts
of the British Parliament.

I have, &
MiCHAEL FRANCKLIN.
The Right Honble. the Earl of Shelburne.

Many who hold in esteem the memory of Francklin, and admire
his loyalty, could wish that he had chosen less slavish language in
which to express his devotion to the Crown.

Murdock’s comments on the situation are as judicious as his lan-
guage is temperate: ‘“There can be no doubt that at this time an almost
unanimous opinion prevailed in America that such acts of Parliament
were illegal and unconstitutional. Some of the Governors and officials
made light of this sentiment, and thought that military power exhibited
in force would frown it down; but meanwhile the attempt to oppose
the current of public feeling kept alive the members of discontent.
Hearts, once thoroughly loyal and submissive, became estranged and
alienated ; party spirit grew up, and the first seeds were sown of the
revolutionary contest which began in-action seven years later. Nova
Scotia was, fortunately, but little excited or involved in ‘the matter,
although being so near the political volcano, she was more or less
affected afterwards by its eruption and upheavals.”
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GOVERNOR WILMOT'S SUCCESSOR.

On May 6, 1766, Governor Wilmot applied through the colonial
office for “His Majesty’s gracious permission to return to England
for twelve months, to get some relief in his (my) present bad state
of health.” In a fortnight—long before the letter had reached its
destination—Wilmot succumbed to his fatal malady. As senior coun-
cillor, Benjamin Green' became temporary administrator, and a week
after his entrance upon office was called on to open the legislative ses-
sion, at which no business of great importance was transacted. The
three townships of Kings County through petitions complained that it
did not pay a suitor, however clear his claims might be, to go to the
courts for justice, so high were the fees charged by Halifax lawyers.
Both houses were informed that the Stamp Act had been repealed and
the Declaration Act—affirming the imperial right of taxation—passed.
An address expressive of gratitude for relief from the stamp nuisance
was unanimously agreed to. This was the session at which, “the
return for the County of Breton was reported by a committee to be
invalid, not showing the choice to have been made by the freeholders,”
the said report also being confirmed by the House.

On the 23rd of August—the office of Governor-in-Chief being still
left vacant—the honourable Michael Francklin was sworn in as lieu-
tenant-governor, and at once assumed the command. In this position
he was not superseded until 1776. Eminent as were his qualifications
and deserts he was never raised to the full Governorship.

In his opening speech—the Assembly met early in October—
Francklin congratulated the House on the “paternal tenderness of the
King and Parliament for the colonies,” and coupled with this an assur-
ance that “the conduct observed in this government during the late
Stamp Act commotions in America has obtained His Majesty’s highest
approbation.” The House refused to pay the expenses of Governor
Wilmot’s funeral, though requested to do so by Francklin. Profuse
expressions of respect were intermingled with plain intimations that

1Benjamin Green was the youngest son of Rev. Joseph Green of Salem, Mass.
He was a graduate of Harvard and General Pepperrell’s secretary at the first siege
of Louisburg. Remaining at Louisburg in the position of government secretary until
Cape Breton was restored to France, he removed to Halifax in 1749, and at once
became a member of Cornwallis’ council. Benjamin Green, Jr., M. P. P. and Pro-
visional Treasurer was his son. Another son became sheriff of Halifax. The Green
and Binney families became related by marriage.
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the provincial coffers were empty. Two additional townships—so
statistical returns show—had attained a population entitling them to
representation in the House—Yarmouth and Sackville. The former
elected as its first member, a non-resident, Malachy Salter of Halifax;
the latter, a recent New England settler, Benjamin Mason, a native
of Swansea,® Massachusetts.

The doctrine that the true function of a colony is to furnish a
market for the manufactured products of the mother country, and that
it is almost contrary to nature for a colony to cherish aspiration for
doing something for itself, is well illustrated in a letter written by
Francklin shortly after he became Governor, to the First Lord of
Trade, Lord Shelburne. He is evidently replying to enquiries as to
whether any signs of the noxious heresy of a colony throwing off its
dependence on the looms and forges of England were beginning to
manifest themselves in Nova Scotia. Francklin writes: “The country
people in general work up for their own use, into stockings and a
stuff they call homespun, what little wool their few sheep produce;
and they also make part of their coarse linen from the flax they pro-
duce. The township of Truro, Onslow and Londonderry, consisting
in the whole of 694 men, women and children, composed of people
chiefly from the North of Ireland, make all their linen, and even some
little to spare to the neighboring towns. This year they raised 7524
pounds of flax which will probably be worked up in their several fami-
lies during this winter.” The foregoing is explanatory and apologetic.
Then come assurances: “I cannot omit representing to your lordship,
on this occasion, that the government has at no time given encourage-
ment to manufacturers which could interfere with those of Great
Britain, nor has there been the least appearance of any association of
privéte persons for that purpose, nor are there any persons who pro-

1In 1663, under the leadership of Rev. Nathaniel Mason, brother of the new mem-
ber, the families comprising the entire membership of the Baptist church at Swansea,
migrated to Sackville, to escape from the alleged oppression of the “Ruling Order”
in their own town. It has been suggested that the selection of Sackville as a place
likely to secure for them the priceless blessing of religious equality and freedom
may have been due to the fact that its original settlers came from Rhode Island,
honorably distinguished from her sister New Ingland colonies by the veto put by
Roger Williams on ecclesiastical arroganc: and. assumption. This is probably mere
conjecture. So far as is known the original settlers of Sackville were all Congrega-
tionalists or independents. After an eight years’ stay, the Mason community or church
returned to New England, to what particular point, or with what subsequent history,
there are no records to show. The fact that Sackville and the surrounding country
in time became, as they continue to be, important Baptist centers has, so far as
appears, no connection with the transient Mason episode.
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fess themselves weavers, so as to make it their employment or busi-
ness, but only work at it in their own families during the winter and
other leisure time. It may be also proper to observe to your lordship
that all the inhabitants of this colony are employed either in hus-
bandry, fishing or providing lumber; and that all the manufactures
for their clothing, and the utensils for farming and fishing, are made
in Great Britain.

LORD CAMPBELL AS GOVERNOR.

On November 27, 1766, Lord William Campbell was sworn in as
Governor in succession to Montague Wilmot, Michael Francklin con-
tinuing to hold the post of Lieutenant-Governor. During his term of
office, extending over nearly seven years, he was much out of the
Province, not particularly to the Province’s loss, as during his absence
affairs were in the hands of Michael Francklin, as able an adminis-
trator as ever discharged the duties of the governorship in Nova Scotia
Lord Campbell is described as “a young gentleman, most deservedly
esteemed, and is a most gallant and humane sea-officer.” He was most
favorably impressed with Nova Scotia, surveying her coasts as from
the quarter deck, “Nova Scotia,” he informs Lord Shelburne, ‘“has
more ports of safety for ships of any burden than any other Province
of America, and almost at the entrance of those is blessed with those
inexhaustible mines of fish which furnish all Europe with that com-
modity, and ought to be the fish nursery of seamen to supply, as occa-
sion may require, the British navy.” He showed good sense by point-
ing somewhat reproachfully to the neglected coal mines of Cape Breton,
but takes care to suggest that by employing soldiers in the mines and
applying the proceeds to the roads of the Province the thing might be
so managed to augment the revenue and yet not interfere with England.
Outside of these practical suggestions he is perhaps not quite so happy :
Nova Scotia “can, I hope, bear the test of having always shown a most
noble and submissive obedience.”

Men, however, do not always practise what they preach. ILord
William proceeded to do something which did not strike the Lords of
Trade as evincing “‘a most noble and submissive obedience.” Before
his arrival in the Province, Francklin had urged the Ministry to allow
the Cape Breton coal deposits to be taken advantage of so far as to
secure at least five hundred pounds a year for the betterment of the
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roads between Halifax and the interior towns. Francklin’s proposition
called forth a decidedly curt and peremptory refusal. Instructions
were sent out stating that “His Majesty would not at present author-
ize or permit any coal mines to be opened or worked in the Island
of Cape Breton, and ordering that all petitions and proposals for that
purpose should be dismissed.” Almost as soon as he was sworn in,
Lord William proceeded to treat this prohibition as a nullity. He was
impressed with the folly of allowing so much valuable coal to go to
waste, and with the importance of improving the road to Windsor not
only for the benefit of the farmers but also for that of the gentry of
the capital, a goodly number of whom had established country seats
on their grants round Fort Edward. So the Governor without delay
granted an exclusive right for eight months to Benjamin Gerrish and
three other Halifax merchants to dig 3,000 chaldrons in the island
“anywhere except from such places where his Majesty’s troops were
at work digging for the use of the troops. For this privilege Gerrish
and his partners agreed to pay five hundred pounds and to ship at least
1,500 chaldrons to Halifax at a maximum price of 32s. 6d. a chaldron.
Unfortunately the venture did not prove profitable for Gerrish and
those associated with him. Their total shipments amounted to only
2,280 chaldrons, though Halifax took a larger quantity than arranged
for. An extension of time was asked for, because, (1) Their works
had fallen in, not an unusual occurrence in coal mines; (2) European
importation had been larger than usual, probably because there were
more timber ships coming out. (3) There had been much smuggling
of coal from Cape Breton to Louisburg by one Alexander Lee of
Louisburg, which took the price down below the paying points. The
seat of Gerrish’s operations was at Spanish River (Sydney).
When called on to give an explanation of his bold conduct in defy-
ing the ministry in thus granting permission to Gerrish, Lord Will-
iam’s reply was that “having been told that the coal composed the sur-
face of the island, and could be easily taken away by any adventurer,
he considered it was better to use it and apply the proceeds to the mak-
ing of roads in the Province.” The neat appositeness of his reply
seems to have saved him from direct censure. Tndeed waxing bold, he
proceeded shortly after to advise the Secretary of State to make free
grants to the people of Louisburg, who were “since the island was
annexed to Nova Scotia, obliged to pay the duties of impost and ex-
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cise established in that Province, which they considered a great hard-
ship, as they had not any lots of land or houses granted them there.”
It is hard to tell which of the policies against which Governor Camp-
bell protested—the coal policy or the land policy—was the more inde-
fensible, and the more prejudicial to the interests of Cape Breton.

In July, 1767, the Assembly met again. The speech of the Gover-
nor and the reply of the House were of the stereotyped description.
“His Majesty is well pleased with the dutiful and grateful behaviour
of his colony of Nova Scotia, and they may always depend on his
royal favor and protection. On the other hand, we shall ever esteem
ourselves happy my lord, when we have opportunity to show the
obedience we owe to the King, and our ready submission to the laws
- of the British Parliament. The many powerful motives which engage
us to this conduct will, we trust, always render us superior to any
seduction by the bad example of those who may be misled by mistaken
opinions. We are free to own our dependence.” Obsequiousness
would seem to have reached its limit. The majority of the men who
used this language, or allowed it to be used for them, were native-
born New Englanders.

(29)



CHAPTER IV,

THE UGLY YEAR—ENORMOUS LAND GRANTS—ALEXANDER MCNUTT
AS A COLONISER—SETTLEMENT OF TRURO, LONDONDERRY, NEW
DUBLIN, SHEFFIELD, PORT ROSEWAY AND NEW JERUSALEM
—MCNUTT'S PERSONAL LIFE.

Chapter XXXLL of the second volume of Murdock’s History
concludes with a somewhat sad refrain: “In closing the outline of
1765, and reflecting on the very large land grants sanctioned by
Colonel Wilmot and his Council, I cannot help thinking it an ugly
year, and that the growth of the Province was long retarded by the
rashness of giving forest lands away from the power of the Crown
and of the people in such masses.” The general view of the
historian is incontestably a sound one. It is not clear, however,
that he was not under a somewhat erroneous impression when he
singled out the year 1765 as deserving a specially repulsive epithet.
There were years before, and years after, 1765, which far surpassed
it, in respect to the amount and value of the public lands conveyed
without consideration to private ownership. Murdock’s own record
for 1764 begins with the statement that “petitions for grants were
frequent at this time, and much land was granted; among others
some merchants at Albany got 1000 acres each at Chediak (Shediac)
and Tatamagouche reserved for them.” Few large en bloc grants
to individuals were made in Nova Scotia prior to the Treaty of
Paris (1763). The policy then adopted of endowing discharged
officers and soldiers with land led to natural extensions. So we
find strewn along Murdock’s records for 1764, such statements as
the following: “On application of Lieutenant Desbarres, lands at
Chipoudy and Tusket”—greatly in excess of the regulation allot-
ment—*“were reserved for Colonels Holdimand and Bouguet.” “A
large number of petitions for grants of land to reduced officers and
other settlers, were considered in Council, and mostly passed.”
“Many petitions for grants of land were heard in Council and
granted, one of Lord Colville for 20,000 acres at Ship Harbor; one
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from Joseph Frederick Wallett DesBarres for 100,000 acres at the
river Shepody; and Robert Sinclair, and 19 others for 20,000 acres
near Beaver Harbor.” A little later “several petitions of land were
granted, among others Long Island or St. John's River to Sir Robert
Wilmot, Kt. and 1,00 acres of land were granted to Ann Wilmot on
the river Chibenadadie.” These records are sufficient to show how
the tide was running prior to 1765. And it is clear that Murdock
records but a small fraction of land grants. In 1764 “That part of
the tract of land formerly called Piziquid, on the southeast of the
river commonly known by the name of Pisiquid River in this
Province of Nova Scotia was erected into a township, hereinafter
to be known and called by the name of Windsor.” We are not
told that this fine township instead of having been thrown open for
general settlement like the adjacent country was wholly disposed of
by huge grants to favored claimants. It is only incidentally, we
learn that the Council voted in 1764, a grant of 20,000 acres to each
of its members, to be selected at will. It is only fair to the Lords
of Trade to mention that they reduced the Councillors’ grants to
5,000 acres each.

What led Murdock to apply the hard term ugly to the year 1765
on the ground of the land-granting extravagance indulged in by
the Council was undoubtedly certain extracts which he had just
quoted from the Council records of that year, connected with the
name of one Alexander McNutt. “In council, 30th April, an appli-
cation was made for tracts of land, in all, 200,000 acres, by Alex-
ander McNutt, acting on behalf of merchants and others, chiefly of
Philadelphia, among whom was Dr. (Benjamin) Franklin. McNutt
applied for a tract of land at or near Port Roseway (Shelburne),
sufficient for a township, and further prayed that a charter might
be granted to erect a city there, to be called Jerusalem.” But there
was more to come. “In Council 2nd July, 1765, on the memorial
of Alexander McNutt, Esq., in behalf of himself and others, for
1,000,000 acres of land to be settled into townships, resolved that
100,000 acres shall be reserved for said Alexander McNutt, and
his associates at Meramichi, at Pictou 100,000 acres, at St. Mary’s
River, 100,000 acres, at St. Mary’s Bay, 100,000 acres, at Pedcon-
diak 100,000 acres, and 1,100,000 acres on St. John's River, on con-
dition that fifty families shall be settled on each 100,000 acres every
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year until the whole shall be completed. The first settlement to be
completed without one year from the date of the reservation, allow-
ing 500 acres to each family; and in case such settlement shall not
be made in the first year, the reservation of the whole to be void.”

In regard to these so called grants, it is to be observed that they
are specifically grants for purposes of settlement, and not grants for
individual enrichment. An onerous condition was attached to each,
so onerous indeed that it was utterly incapable of fulfilment. Non-
fulfilment might impose the necessity of formal escheat, but as a
matter of fact no rights of proprietorship were created until the
condition was performed. The enormous areas asked for with the
stupendous immigration responsibilities nominally imposed, pretty
plainly indicate an unbalanced mind. But if McNutt was crazy in
making such demands, how could the council be sane in acceding to
them? That body advised strongly in favor of even the New Jeru-
salem charter.

While McNutt was now grasping after the impossible, his pre-
vious services in connection with the settlement of Nova Scotia de-
serve fuller recognition than has been accorded them. Reference
to these will follow a brief account of his varied, remarkable, and
almost romantic career.

The following are the facts—pretty well ascertained—of Mec-
Nutt’s course in life, prior to his taking part in the work of settling
Nova Scotia. He was born in Ireland (Ulster)—date of birth
uncertain—and brought by his parents in childhood, to what is now
West Virginia. In 1756 we find him—a grown man—taking a
hand in a raid ordered by the Governor of Virginia on an Indian
village near the Ohio. Two years later—September, 1758—he is
in Londonderry, New Hampshire. There is no means of learning
what induced this northward migration, but that, having come north,
he should visit the only Scotch-Irish settlement in New England
was perfectly natural. Short as was his stay in Londonderry, he
secured enrollment among the “freeholders and inhabitants.”

His next move was to attach himself to the militia service of
Massachusetts, and we find him in 1760, as captain, taking a com-
pany of Provincial troops to Fort Cumberland, Nova Scotia, to do
garrison duty there for a short term of service, simply from April
to November. McNutt returned from Fort Cumberland to Boston
by way of Halifax, and may have taken tlie same route in going.
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The Memorial of the committee of Council to the Lords of Trade
in rebutting McNutt’s’ charges of unfair treatment affirms that he
had actually visited Halifax the previous August (1759) when he
applied to Governor Lawrence for grants of land “for himself and
sundry persons, his associates,” and that the Governor had in writ-
ing consented to assign him a township at Port Roseway (now
Shelburne) and six townships in Cobequid, or near Cobequid Bay
and along the Shubenacadie River, with leave to settle families in
thirty-five “rights” in the township of Granville, in Annapolis
County. Though there is nothing about this directly in the Council
books at Halifax—these records seem to sustain the committee’s
statement. It is there stated under date of November 3, 1760—if
our history is accurate, McNutt must then have been at Fort Cum-
berland—that he petitions the Council, as the late Governor of the
Province (Lawrence) had promised him land at Cobequid, Shu-
benadadie, and Port Roseway on the Cape Sable shore, on condition
that he would procure settlers, to give him all the help this body
could.

The Port Roseway part of the scheme was dropped for the pres-
ent; the Cobequid proposition was endorsed.

The first result was the settlement of the township of Truro by
immigrants chiefly from Londonderry, New Hampshire. These
were almost entirely of Ulster origin, and the majority of the adults
of Ulster birth as well. Twelve had done garrison duty at Fort
Cumberland either with McNutt in 1760 or on similar service dur-
ing the previous summer. In these muster-rolls are found the names
of the following Truro grantees: Samuel Archibald, James Dun-
lap, John Fisher, William Foster, Robert Hunter, William Kennedy,
John McKeen, John Taylor, Matthew Taylor, David Archibald,
Thomas Dunlap and Charles McKay. The settlement of the town-
ship of Truro took place in 1761, though the settlers did not receive
their regular grants until 1766. The Board of Trade was respon-
sible for this irritating delay, objecting to free grants of the culti-
vated uplands and dyked marshes.

Beyond Onslow on the north side of Cobequid Bay, McNutt dis-
cerned a splendid site for a third Cobequid township. In the spring
of 1761, without even waiting for his New Hampshire company to
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sail for their new home, he was off to England, bearing a letter
from Governor Belcher to the Lords of Trade, in which he was
commended as a suitable agent to gather in Ulster, a body of colon-
ists for Nova Scotia. The ministry was not in a mood to view with
particular favor a proposition to further reduce the population of
Ulster, but waived their objections in view of the interesting colonial
experiment that was being tried across the water. McNutt lost no
time in crossing the channel, raised his levy with great expedition
and on the gth of October was anchored at Cornwallis Island. The
disputes regarding the probable or exact number of the immigrants
are unimportant. A, despatch printed in the Boston papers stated
that “the passengers arrived here in good health, and a considerable
number of them will proceed to remove with Colonel McNutt to view
and examine the country.” Another report recently disinterred is
to the effect that “during the passage from Ireland the small-pox
broke out on the “Hopewell” and that when the vessel reached Hali-
fax harbour, by the Lieutenant-Governor’s orders, her passengers
were landed on Cornwallis Island, where they remained several days
without shelter. As soon as possible after landing, McNutt waited
on the Lieutenant-Governor and Council, informing them that he
proposed “to set out in a few days with a number of the principal
people to view the lands at Cobequid and Shubenacadie, after which
he was to return to Ireland with their report of the country, and
expected in the spring to bring over ten thousand persons to settle
in the Province.” Ten thousand—even if a typographical blunder
for two thousand—is a stupendous exaggeration of all the proba-
bilities and possibilities of the case, and betokens at least incipient
mental derangement. No accurate list of the passengers who came
in the Hopewell to Nova Scotia exists, neither have precise accounts
come down as to the particulars of the settlement of the majority
of them in the Colgequid township selected for them, and appro-
priately called I,oﬁdoncﬁrfy. A respectable minority preferred to
try their fortunes towards the west and settled, a small number at
Horton, and a goodly sized group in Windsor, where they rented
from the large landed proprietors farms, whose freehold their
descendants of the second generation almost invariably acquired.
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ULSTER IMMIGRANTS.

In the spring of 1762, McNutt was off for Ireland again and
brought back with him in the late autumn from one hundred and
fifty to two hundred additional settlers. [For these, a township on
the west side of the La Have River—and to which the name of
Dublin or New Dublin still clings—had been selected either by the
council or McNutt or by the two acting in concert. Much mystery
hangs over the movements and history of this body of immigrants.
The following is Francklin’s account of their arrival and earlier dis-
posal: - “Mr. McNutt very unexpectedly arrived here in November
last at the head of about two hundred persons, embarked from Ire-
land for the plantations in general, and not for Nova Scotia in par-
ticular, as appeared by Mr. McNutt’s demand of a sum of money
for their provisions or that otherwise he would carry his passengers
to Philadelphia. However contrary to his express engagement with
the Lords of Trade that no expenses should be incurred to this
government for his settlements, yet I conceived it might discourage
the general plan resolved upon, if persons offering themselves, should,
without some very pressing reason be refused, and therefore these
people, who are in extreme poverty, were received upon the terms
required by Mr. McNutt, and are at present fixed at New Dublin.
In Des Brisay’s History of Lunenburg the whole story of the original
New Dublin is told in a few words: “A settlement was made’ in
lower Dublin by people from Ireland in 1762. *Hence the name .of
New Dublin. These emigrants left from time to time for places
promising, as they thought, more inviting prospects.” McNutt’s
brief account is that “in consequence of many discouragements, some
of them embarked the following spring for New England, while
part of those that remained became tenants to Belcher and Company.”
The completeness of the evacuation of Dublin by these Ulster immi-
grants is shown by the fact that in the general return of 1767, it is
credited with only nine inhabitants of Irish birth or parentage.

At this point, McNutt’s career as an actual colonizer practically
ended. Thenceforth there were nothing but ambitions and inflated
schemes, succeeding one another in swift and bewildering succession,
and issuing in nothing but disappointment and mortification to him-
self and all concerned. This fact, however, should not blind us as
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to the real and permanent value of the results which he did actually
accomplish, and that in an almost incredibly short space of time
(1761-3). To say that on his own initiative he founded the town-
ships of Truro and Londonderry is to state but a partial truth. His
settlers poured at an early date into the valleys of the Stewiacke and
Musquodoboit, and took, and through their descendants still retain,
almost exclusive possession of those exceptionally beautiful and fer-
tile districts, while crossing the Shubenacadie and Cobequid Bay,
they realized one of McNutt's cherished dreams by peopling the
whole eastern part of Hants County, now the township of Douglas,
without a name on the old maps but simply marked “for Colonel
McNutt’s settlers.”

It is known that one of the vagaries in which our coloniser in-
dulged when once he began to “dream dreams’ and the time was
not long in coming—was that he had originated the idea of planting
New England settlers in Nova Scotia, and that the actual founding
of the early townships had been carried out. under his direction.
This claim, which is absolutely without support, is to be set down
as mere hallucination rather than as deliberate misrepresetnation.
There is, however, if it can be said without self-contradition, a grain
of truth in what McNutt claims for himself. While he had nothing
to do with the earlier township settlements in the peninsula, either
on the Bay of Fundy or on the southwestern coasts, he is entitled to
the credit of planting & colony from New England on the River
Saint John in 1762. Particulars are wanting as to how McNutt
just before his first visit to Ireland came in contact with the people
of Rowley, Massachusetts, a considerable portion of whom he found
willing to accept his suggestion of immigrating to Nova Scotia. At
Sheffield'—the name is still retained—vast stretches of most fertile
intervale afforded exceptionally favorable conditions for agricul-
tural development, and the township soon became one of the most
prosperous in the Province.

MCNUTT’S FAILURE.

Truro, Sheffield and Londonderry are down to his assured credit.
McNutt without much delay and under some undefinable impulse,

iIn the general return of 1767, Maugerville is substituted for Sheffield, the actual’
name of the township. Joshua Mauger of Halifax had a trading post in Sheffiald,
Sheffield and Maugerville are now contiguous parishes in Sunbury County, New

Brunswick.
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entered on that wild career of exploitation which soon brought him
to ruin and cast a regrettable shadow over his name. The collapse
was sudden indeed. In 1765, we find the council granting him in
addition to Port Roseway and the charter for New Jerusalem, one
million six hundred thousand acres distributed variously from Saint
Mary’s Bay to Miramichi, and Governor Wilmot representing ‘“Mc-
Nutt as very active and zealous in promoting settlement.” The
very next year he is compelled to address a memorial to the Rt. Hon.
the Lords Commissioners for Trade and Plantations inveighing in
the strongest terms against the injustice of the treatment which he
had received from the Nova Scotia Council. The memorial itself
is not within our reach, but from the replies of the Council to at
least some of the allegations a fairly good, though of course some-
what incomplete idea of his charges, can be obtained.

It is not necessary to consider the counter-charges of the Coun-
cil, which they prefer against him as the best means of meeting his
assaults. The weakness of the defense is that the various matters
alleged to the prejudice of the memorialist were substantially sanc-
tioned by themselves when they placed at his disposal nearly two
million acres of land, and by their commander-in-chief when he pro-
nounced so emphatic a eulogium upon him as “a promoter of settle-
ment.” Things had got into a very bad shape and each party was
ready to lay the blame on the other.

But we are now speaking of events which took place in 1765,
with a look forward to 1766. McNutt's active participation in the
colonization of Nova Scotia ceased in 1762-3. Where had he been
in the meantime, and what had he been doing? For the first year
or two he seems to have been in England, engaged as he himself
says in “sending away French Protestants to America,” whatever
that may mean. Then he is in America (Pennsylvania) in 1764,
concocting plans with Benjamin Franklin and others for settling
Nova Scotia with Scotch-Irish Americans. The grant of 100,000
acres at Peticodiac had reference to one of these schemes; that of
200,000 at Pictou, to another; one of 100,000 acres (included in the
1,100,000 acres) on the River St. John to a third.

To make a long story short, McNutt was unable to fulfil the con-
ditions attached to these enormous grants and eventually they were
escheated, When his memorial in 1766 failed to produce any effect,
the best authorities now incline to believe he retired to the island in
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Port Roseway (Shelburne) Harbour, still called by his name, where
in company with a brother Joseph, he spent most of the time between
1766—the year of his collapse—and 1778, the year of his return to
the colonies then fighting for their independence. McNutt's Island
and some land on the adjacent shore occupied by the family, prac-
tically escaped from the escheatment of the Port Roseway grant.

Just how these years were spent by McNutt, it is impossible to
speak definitely. ‘There are traces of his having been much in the
district of Colchester and in the adjoining county of Kings (Hants),
in both of which he had some proprietary interests and many friends.
During these years his youngest brother John was a resident in the
township of Newport, as well as his sister Isther, the wife of
Benjamin Wier.! To the last he was held in the highest esteem and
affection by the people of Truro. Though in general his colonizing
ambitions seem to have died out, occasional gleams of the old spirit
showed themselves from time to time. Murdock quotes from the
records of the Council under the year 1769 to the effect that McNutt
had “parcelled out land to several persons, pretending to have
authority under the King’s sign manual to settle all ungranted lands
in the Province. On this it was ordered that the Attorney-Gen-
eral should prosecute McNutt and that a proclamation should issue
forbidding unauthorized occupation of land.” Results of prose-
cution, if entered on, are unknown.

In 1778 McNutt, who was an ardent sympathizer with the revolu-
tionary party in the older colonies, left Port Roseway and took up
his residence in Boston, and in various ways exerted himself to
bring Nova Scotia within the pale of the revolt then in progress.
By memorials and in person, he appealed to the Continental Congress
at Philadelphia to take steps in that direction. In at least one of
his petitions he was joined by Phineas Nevers, one of his Ronley
settlers on the Saint John, and by Samuel Rogers, M. P. P. for
Sackville. The committee of Congress to which this petition was re-
ferred, recommended that “Lieutenant-Colonel Phineas Nevers and
Captain Samuel Rogers be employed to lay out, mark and clear a
road from the Penobscot River to the St. John River in the most
commodious line and in the most prudent manner.” The road was

not constructed.

1Benjamin Wier was the father of Daniel Wier, M. P. P. for Newport. John
Wier, M. P. P. for Londonderry, grandfather of the Hon. Benjamin Wier of Halifax,
and ancestor of the entire numerous Wier family of Hants and Halifax.
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For some time aiter the close of the War of Independence, Mc-
nutt’s movements and whereabouts are obscure. It is beyond doubt
that he died and was
buried there in 1811. The long current tradition in Nova Scotia
was that when he left Port Roseway for Boston in 1787, he left the
Province for good. Recent investigations tend to overthrow this
belief, and point to a return to Nova Scotia about the year 1786,
with a domicile at Port Roseway (Shellburne) until 1791. The evi-
dence on which this change of view rests is purely documentary,
but seems conclusive. Tax lists and store accounts at Shelburne
are supplemented by still more convincing proof: e. g. “Kings
County, Horton, Nova Scotia, October 27, 1787. Personally ap-
peared Alexander McNutt, Esq., and made solemn oath to the truth
of the above manifest or certificate. Before me, Jonathan Crane,
J. P.” The manifest or certificate referred to in the magistrates’
testamur had to do with the interest of his brothers, Joseph, Benja-
min and John, in a grant of land at Londonderry, in which was
included a thousand acres across the bay at Noel, Kings (now
Hants) County.

- Why, under what circumstances, and just when, McNutt left
Shelburne for Virginia are points on which no positive light has
been thrown. His kinsmen beyond the Alleghanies with whom he
decided to spend his closing years of a somewhat troubled life, were
far more remote from him than the brothers and the sister whom he
was leaving behind in Nova Scotia. In the central districts of the
Province he had a numerous body of attached friends. To the
people of Truro particularly he was to the last the trusted “guide,
philosopher and friend.” During one year indeed of this his last
sojourn in Nova Scotia, he seems to have been domiciled in the first -
township which he founded.

Over against these considerations there may perhaps be put as
an offset the intensely loyal atmosphere of Shelburne, undoubtedly
not congenial to the republican enthusiast. His early visions of a
New Jerusalem on Port Roseway harbour were not exactly realized.

Of his last years spent in Virginia not much can be set down as
in accordance with actual fact. No Virginian writings in which his
name and career are referred to go farther back than twenty-five
years after his death. Not altogether unnaturally, they are largely
legendary and apocryphal. On perhaps his own exaggerations and

that his closing years were spent in Virginia
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mis-statements, a vast structure of fiction was built up. A halo of
romance gathered around his name. He had been Governor of
Nova Scotia, and when he went to England in that capacity, had been
admitted on the recommendation of the Governor of Virginia to an
audience with the King. A “distinguished personage” he “wore
the court costume of the reign of George II, with buckles and
ornamental buttons of silver and trimmings of gold lace, a cocked
hat, powdered hair, and top boots” while *‘his sword never left his
side.” : : :
McNutt's work was done in Nova Scotia and it abides. Its im-
portance and value are beyond question. The answer of the com-
mittee of Council to his memorial of 1766 does indeed contain a
very disparaging reference to what he accomplished in providing
Truro and Londonderry with their original settlers. In his mem-
orial McNutt had represented that the reduction of township mem-
bership from two to one was a breach of faith, in which we may
frankly admit that he was in error. But the committee’s answer
goes far beyond a denial and disproof of McNutt's’ charge. It
claims that “sending two members from each town he settles would,
if granted, be highly prejudicial to the peace and good government
of this colony, should those he may hereafter introduce into the
Province be of the same troublesome disposition with the few he
has brought, the Government here having experienced more difficulty
in keeping peace in the little towns of Truro and Londonderry set-
tled by Colonel McNutt’s followers than with all the other settle-
ments in the whole Province, they being mostly composed of per-
sons from the charter governments, who still retain so great a degree
of republican principles, that they make it a point, to oppose on all
occasions every measure of government calculated to support the
honor and authority of His Majesty’s Crown and dignity.” This
ugly fling at Truro and Londonderry was under date of August,
1766, scarcely a year after the Council had granted 1,000,000 acres
of land to McNutt and Governor Wilmot had testified that he was
“very active and zealous in promoting settlement, and the people he
had introduced here were useful and valuable settlers.” So far our
historians have generally professed themselves unable to find any
grounds whatever on which to vindicate the Council’s consistency—
the Council adopted and sanctioned the committee’s report, and par-
ticularly any on which the attack on Truro and Londonderry could
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be justified. Industrially no townships had given a better account
of themselves. They were the first of the new settlements to pro-
vide themselves with the ordinances of religion. Nowhere else were
the interests of and property better safe-guarded. Wilmot was not
the first Governor who made complimentary allusions to the McNutt
settlers.

SETTLERS MERE SQUATTERS.

‘The castigation inflicted on the two townships can only be ex-
plained by the fact that they had complained more vigorously than
other townships subjected to the same annoyances and injustice of
delay in the perfection of the grants from the Crown. So far, and
the fact remained so for nine years longer as far as Londonderry
was concerned—the people were mere “Squatters,” no man had an
acre of marsh, cultivated upland, or forest that he could call his own.
The Council put the blame of the delay on the Lords of Trade, who
claimed that all but the untilled woodland should have been paid for
by the grantees, notwithstanding Lawrence’s explicit declarations to
the contrary.

The fact being that the Council was as deep in the mire as Mc-
Nutt so far as improvident grants were concerned, his memorial could
only be parried by evasion and sophistry, which some times approxi-
mated very closely to absurdity. McNutt had received indulgence
and kind treatment—that is, enormous grants—not on account of
his knowledge or ability, but from the hope the government had that
his zeal and application to make settlements in this Province might
be a means of inducing men of much more knowledge and ability
than himself to become inhabitants in it.” Whatever may be thought
of taxing the settlers of these townships with “republican principles”
(sic) the charge of over-attachment to “charter governments’ is a
strange one to emanate from a Council more than half of whose
members were educated New Englanders. The settlers of Truro and
Londonderry were almost entirely of Irish birth, though those of
Truro had been domiciled in New Hampshire for a few years be-
fore coming to Nova Scotia. There were no charter governments
in Ireland, while New Hampshire was, unlike Massachusetts, Con-
necticut, and Rhode Island a “royal province” and not a “charter
government.”’
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In the somewhat disconnected account given of McNutt and his
colonizing work there are some not unimportant variations from
statements made by the writer in an article which appeared in Vol.
VII of N. S. Historial Society’s collections. Since that article was
written McNutt’s’ career has been subjected to very critical investi-
gation: (1) by the Rev. Archdeacon Raymond of St. John in two
valuable monographs and (2) by Dr. A. W. H. Eaton in an article
contributed to Americana (December, 1913). The latter particularly
has been freely drawn on in preparation of the above text. Doctor
Eaton has probably said the last word on the Colonel’s career in
Nova Scotia. The following is a summary of his findings: Alex-
ander had with him in Nova Scotia three brothers, and one sister:
(1) Benjamin, who is known to have lived with him on McNutt’s
Island, Roseway, and who died, probably in Shelburne town, in Sep-
tember, 1798; (2) Joseph, who also lived at Port Roseway, on the
mainland adjacent to McNutt’s Island, and died, it is supposed, by
drowning in 1785. He left several children, most of whom in their
turn also had descendants. Rev. Arthur McNutt, a well-known
Methodist minister of a former generation, was Joseph McNutt's
grandson. (3) John McNutt, the youngest brother, is known to
have lived from 1785 till towards the end of the century in New-
port, Hants county. Prior to 1795, he removed to Londonderryﬁ.
where he died and was buried. He married Ann Wier, born in
Rhode Island, and daughter of Benjamin Wier, one of the original
settlers of New Port. They left no descendants: (4) Esther, the
only sister of Alexander McNutt in Nova Scotia, married in New-
port Benjamin Wier, Jr., a brother of her brother John's wife. She
was the ancestress of the numerous and influential Wier connection
of Hants and Colchester Counties.

Colonel McNutt himself was never married. The following is
his picture as drawn by Archdeacon Raymond: “He was quick to
think, quick to act, quick to write. His memorials to the Lords of
Trade and to the Governors of Nova Scotia are in some cases very
voluminous, seemingly written with haste, not always elegant in style,
and expressed with greater freedom than was customary in those
days. Many of his suggestions were wise, his criticism was often
trenchant and well-timed but on the other hand, some of his plans
were very impractical and the claims he advanced not always reason-
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able. He was a staunch upholder of the cause of civil and religious
liberty.”

Here is Dr. Eaton’s portraiture: “A more active adventurer has
perhaps never been seen on the American continent. He conceived
great schemes, and showed remarkable energy in prosecuting them,
but he seems to have been considerably unbalanced, and after tracing
him carefully through the various checkered career, we are forced
to the same conclusion that Lieutenant-Governor Belcher arrived at
as early as 1761, that he was from first to last, an erratic individual,
lacking in mental ballast, and one whose proposals needed to be
watched.”



CHAPTER V.
THE ACADIAN REPATRIATION.

We now approach the period of the so-called Acadian repatriation.
For the past eleven or twelve years the proscribed race has dropped
almost completely out of our story. New interests have arisen; other
races have supplanted it. The man from Germany, the man from New
England, the man from Ulster, these in succession have come to the
front; the Acadian has vanished, or is in hiding; for the work of
extermination has not been absolutely complete. Even at the time of
greatest shrinkage limited bands of the outlawed fugitives were
secreted in the woods of the Peninsula, or behind the boulders of the
extreme southwestern shore. Larger bodies, too, sought refuge in
the islands which then belonged to France, and in the vast inaccessible
forests which stretched from the Bay of Fundy to the Saint Lawrence.
Yet the fact remains that from 1755 to the death of Wilmot in 1766,
any Acadian in Nova Scotia was either an outlaw or a prisoner.

Our last formal notice of Acadian affairs left the unfortunate vic-
tims of deportation involved in the nameless hardships and miseries
which the harsh decree of Lawrence had made inevitable, We shall
not pursue the narrative further in its melancholy and repulsive details.
A measure harsh and cruel in itself, was carried out in a severe and
drastic manner. Writers who vindicate the expulsion of the Acadians
as a necessary “war measure” naturally dwell lightly on its method
and especially on its tragic consequences. It was, they tell us, the
surgeon’s knife in an unavoidable operation. The life of the body
politic was at stake. If its salvation has been secured, we can well
afford to forget the process by which that great end has been accom-
plished. So on the other hand those who hold the deporting scheme
to have been grossly inhuman and unjust in its general character,
naturally use the hideous details as a means of strengthening their
argument.
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Charles Lawrence survived the event for which history holds him
primarily responsible a little over five years. He followed up the
original expulsion with sundry minor deportations of an equally sum-
mary, and perhaps a still more unjustifiable, character. The peninsula
was swept clear. Further north the refugees from the Chignecto
region, who had taken to the woods for safety, did not submit without
a struggle. They strengthened ‘the hands of the wily and elusive
Boishebert who with a conglomerate force, Canadian, Acadian and
Indian, glided through the forests from the Petitcodiac to the Resti-
gouche, inspiring a ‘terror out of all proportion to his real power to
injure. But this state of things could not last long. The total and
final eclipse of French power in America was fast drawing on. Mean-
while Lawrence kept his eye on the Acadians and maintained a policy
towards them as vigorous and relentless as Strafford’s “Thorough.”
The fall of Louisburg in 1758 stripped the maritime region of French
and Canadian troops, and resulted in the deportation to England as
prisoners of war of the large body of Acadians who had taken refuge
in Isle St. John. The conquest of Quebec a year later dealt a final
blow to Acadian hopes and prospects. Throughout what is now the
Province of New Brunswick the Acadian population, which was by
no means small, from almost every direction began to show signs
of submission to the inevitable. Colonel Frye, in command at Fort
Cumberland, was waited on by successive deputations, tendering sur-
render and seeking protection and food. Governor Lawrence was of
course consulted. Frye informed him that in the spring of 1760
there would be at that place and at the Baie Verte, about goo souls,
to be disposed of as his excellency should see fit.” Lawrence’s first
expression of opinion was to the effect that they should be deported.
Whether he was led to change his personal view or not, a decision was
reached at a Council held on January 12, 1760, to accept the submis-
sion of these Acadians and “assist them with provisions.” The fol-
lowing spring they were brought to Halifax as prisoners. In this
transaction there shines forth almost the only gleam of humanity dis-
closed in the whole deportation process. Lawrence and the Council
informed Frye that “vessels would be provided for the transportation
of such of the company as might not be able to march overland.”

The tide continued to run in the same direction. In May Lawrence

(30)
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had “300 French inhabitants of St. John's River, in Halifax, as prison-
ers, until he could send them to England. In July three or four hun-
dred Acadians, assembled at Fort Cumberland, submitting themselves
to Frye, who expected to receive similar proposals for such as were
not able to travel by land to Halifax. In October Lawrence died.
Chief Justice Belcher succeeded him as administrator and later as

lieutenant-governor.

The Acadian situation at this point is interesting enough to require
attention. Circumstances had undergone great changes, but so far
there had been nothing of the nature of repatriation. A large number,
several thousands certainly, of Acadians of various domicils, prior to
the expulsion, had been drawn from the transisthmian region and
concentrated at Halifax, where, imprisoned, they were awaiting what
the fates had in store for them. “Mr. Belcher,” says Murdock and
certainly with much truth, “now made lieutenant-governor, appears to
have been in constant dread from the scattered remnants of the
Acadians in the remote parts of the Province, and wrote on the sub-
ject to the Earl of Egremont” Belcher’s letters to Egremont, to the
Lords of Trade, and especially to General Amherst, the Commander-
in-Chief, amply sustains Murdock’s statement. Belcher was afraid that
the few Acadians left on the Restigouche would do something dreadful
to the new settlers at Chignecto. Then his alarm was excited by “about
forty of them remaining at the wvillage of St. Ann’s on the St. John
River, who as yet, had made no offer of surrender.” Then he had
heard that “the French prisoners assembled frequently in great num-
bers at the Mass house,” though the location of the edifice is not
indicated. Belcher communicated this panicky feeling to the Assembly,
which solemnly memorialised him to give “orders that these French
prisoners may be removed out of the Province.” Removal of these -
prisoners, however, was a step which Belcher could scarcely take with-
out the sanction of some higher authority. He pressed the importance
of this movement on General Amherst, who, however, had already
written him strongly recommending that the Acadians should be
allowed to continue in the Province. To this recommendation Belcher
replied by transmitting to General Amherst the following minute of
Council, adopted in view of the aforesaid recommendation: “The
Council proceeded to take the same (General Amherst’s letter) into
consideration, etc. And that it is their unanimous opinion that the
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said French Acadians cannot by the said royal order and the said
provincial law, be permitted to remain in the Province, and the Council
did advise that their opinion may be submitted with all deference to
the consideration of His Excellency General Amherst.”

GENERAL AMHERST TO THE COUNCIL.
Here is the General's reply to Minute of Council :

“New York, 22nd March, 1761.
“Your despatch of the 25th February reached my hands last night.
I have nothing more at heart than the advantage and security of the
Province of Nova Scotia; if the removal of the Acadians still remain-
ing in the same could add to either, I should be the first to advise
their expulsion, but, as under the new circumstances of that valuable
and flourishing Province, I do not see that it can have anything to fear
from those Acadians, but on the contrary that great advantages might
be reaped in employing them properly; I must own I should incline
towards letting them stay in the Province under proper regulations
and restrictions.”

Belcher’s reply to this is not to be found, but its tenor is easily
gathered from Amherst’s answer, which is dated April 15th.

“I beg to differ in opinion with you on the insufficiency of troops
in your Province. Those that are destined to remain there are far
more than are required under your present circumstances, for the
danger the late Governor (Lawrence) might have had some reason to
apprehend is now entirely removed. The few Acadians (40 or 50) at
Restigouche that are said not to have yet surrendered under the capitu-
lation, can, I am certain, make no object, even were they to persist
in their error; but depend upon it, they will soon awaken out of it
and rejoice at our acceptance of their submission.”

The correspondence continued at some length, Amherst sticking
to his point to the last. :

Foiled in one quarter, Belcher tried the game in another. His final
appeal was to the Lords of Trade who handed the letter embodying
the appeal to Lord Egremont, Secretary of State, that the Ministry
itself might decide so important a matter. Lord Egremont’s letter does
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not appear to have been preserved, but Belcher’s acknowledgement of
it plainly indicates a refusal. Then came still another appeal, and
still another reply, the latter like the previous one, presumably unfavor-
able.

The correspondence closed. Everything went on as usual. The
immense majority of the Acadians were in Halifax, unarmed and
under guard. A few hundreds, perhaps, were in the townships helping
the new settlers rebuild the dykes and replace the sluices. Belcher
decided to carry his point by a regular coupe de main. Having allowed
the matter of deportation to simmer for six or seven months, he
recommended to his Council the summary expulsion of the whole
Acadian population. The Council agreed: “For all reasons, members
of the Council are of opinion that, in this time of danger it is absolutely
necessary immediately to transport the Acadians out of this Province
as their continuing longer in it may be attended with the worst cir-
cumstances to the projected new settlements, in particular, as well as
to the general safety of the Province. And therefore, the Council
does unanimously advise and recommend, in the most earnest manner,
for the safety and security of this Province and its new settlement, that
the lieutenant-governor, would be pleased to take the openest method
to collect and transport the said Acadians out of this Province, and do
further advise that, as the Province of Massachusetts is nearest adja-
cent to this Province that the lieutenant-governor would be pleased
to cause them to be transported to that Province with all convenient
despatch.”

Belcher proceeded to act upon the advice of his Council. Five
transports were loaded with Acadians, including the bulk of those in
Halifax and its environs, and despatched to Boston. Bernard, the
Governor of Massachusetts, seems to have been willing to receive this
shipment of exiles, but the Massachusetts Assembly in the most
emphatic manner refused to concur. Under the Massachusetts charter
such non-concurrence was fatal to the scheme. The transports lay idly
in Boston harbour for two or three weeks, and then sailed back to
Halifax.

We have not at command the letter—no doubt such a letter was
sent—in which the ministry expressed its opinion of Belcher’s fiasco.
It, however, practically pronounced judgment by dismissing Belcher
from the lieutenant-governorship and laying down the principle that
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that office and the chief justiceship should never be conjoined in the
future. :

Their lordships, however, could not but be of the opinion, that,
however expedient it might have been to have removed the Acadians
" at the time when the enterprises of the enemy themselves threatened
danger to the province, yet as that danger is now over and hostilities
between the two nations have ceased, it was neither necessary nor
politic to remove them, as they might, by a proper disposition, pro-
mote the interests of the colony and be made useful members of
society, agreeable to what appeared to be the sentiments of General
Amherst in his letter.”

Belcher, humiliated as he had been by the mortifying rebuff at
Boston and the significant rebuke from the ministry at home, trans-
mitted the Acadian problem unsolved—a legacy of trouble—to his
successor, Governor Montague Wilmot. Unfortunately for both the
Acadians and Nova Scotia, Wilmot took practically the same view of
the pending question as Belcher, while he was about as weak an admin-
istrator as ever sat in the Governor’s chair of our Province.

In the instructions received from Lord Halifax in connection with
notice of his appointment, Wilmot was enjoined to use all possible
and lawful means to prevent the withdrawal of the Acadians from
Nova Scotia, and to facilitate to the extent of his ability their settle-
ment in any part of the British dominion they might prefer. These
instructions Wilmot proceeded to most flagrantly and persistently dis-
regard. : : :
Notice should be taken of the smallness of the group of Acadian
people with which Belcher and Wilmot were successively called on to
deal. The following is a copy of a memorandum transmitted to the
Lords of Trade by Wilmot himself, on the 22nd of March, 1764 :

“Number of families of Acadians still remaining in the Province:

Families. No. of Persons.
At Haldaw and ctheoe . o ool 232 1,056
At Kings County, Fort Edward 77 227
At Annapolis Royal._________ 23 o1
A% Tort Cumberland. ... cnos 73 288

i o) L S RS B 405 1,662
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In addition to the above there are 300 souls on the Island of St.
John (P. E. L) and No. 150 at Canso.”

Richard estimates, and he is probably not far astray, that of the
adults included in the above figures, five-sixths were women. They
were now practically prisoners under close surveillance, but wherever
settled, what possible harm to anyone could such a company of per-
sons have done? It makes one blush, and at the same to utterly
doubt his good faith, to find an English Governor and a British sol-
dier, writing craven letters and despatches as to the danger to which
the country would be put by allowing these poor helpless people to
occupy if not, what ten or eleven years before had been their own land,
yet some small space in the land of their forefathers. This was not to
be just yet, nor at any time in the future, for a good many of them.

WILMOT'S DETERMINATION.

Governor Wilmot's heart was set not on obeying the instructions
of Lord Halifax, but on getting the small remnant of Acadians still
left out of the Province somehow. He ventures on arguing the ques-
tion with his lordship: “It has always been the opinion of this gov-
ernment, and is at this time, that the settlement of them (the Acadians)
in this Province is inconsistent with the safety of it. . . . If
settled in any other Province, it should not be those of the neighboring
colonies of New England, for, I conceive my lord, that the proximity
to- Nova Scotia, would on all occasions, strongly induce them to be
active in disturbing this Province from their returning into it. As
to Canada, they would not be well treated or happy. And on
‘Canadian borders or this Province, I don’t apprehend that it would be
either safe for us, or satisfactory to them.”

His advice to the Ministry was to allow their deportation to the
French West Indies: “It is on account of all these considerations,
that I have in my two former letters, offered to your lordships, the
measure of transporting them to some of the West India Islands.
There cut off from the continent, and from all hopes of returning,
they would content themselves with a settlement.”

Lord Halifax was not to be baulked of his purpose. He insisted
that the Acadians should be settled in Nova Scotia,” in such parts of
your government as may be agreeable to themselves consistent with
the public peace and security.” Taking advantage of the attached con-
dition, Wilmot and the Council proceeded to concoct a scheme, which,
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while superficially agreeable to Lord Halifax’s instructions, would be
sure of rejection by the party to whom it was to be offered. The pro-
posal was to locate the families in groups of ten at certain points
remote from one another throughout the Province. Acceptance of
the proposal implied acceptance of an oath so framed as to offend
the religious sentiments of those to whom it was to be offered. Wil-
mot’s expectation was realized. The Acadians rejected a proposition
which was not even specious. No bait concealed the hook. Life at
Halifax and in forts had become intolerable. They must go some-
where. France had no colonies in the Temperate Zone to offer except
the barren rocks of St. Pierre and Miquelon. Thither sailed the one
hundred fifty Acadians who were around Canso. A large contingent
of the Halifax company decided to try the West Indies. Six hundred
or more managed to get vessels to convey them to Cape Francois, the
capital of Hispaniola, attracted thither it is supposed by hearing that
some groups of their fellow countrymen had gone there from Carolina
and Georgia.

Wilmot’s comment on this event, which of course was much to his
liking, is not very much to his credit: “All these reasons induced the
Council, at which Lord Colville, His Majesty’s Rear Admiral assisted,
to be unanimously of opinion that they should be at full liberty to
depart. . . . Their settlement in the West Indies removes them
far from us, and as that climate is mortal to the natives of northern
countries, the French will not be likely to gain any considerable
advantage from them.”

With this event, the tragedy of the expulsion so far as devised and
carried out by Governors of Nova Scotia may be said to have ended.

The next lieutenant-governor was Michael Francklin.

A census or “general return” of Nova Scotia taken under Franck-
lin’s direction in December, 1666, yields the following results, show-
ing that the Acadian population had declined 947 since Wilmot’s
memorandum of 1664 was issued.

S sabolls i ST R T LR 110
S i R R 2ot Micamiehi ooo el Lo 140
O e 197 Small places —-commcmae-- 41
L R 42
R N 200 hotalaea ey diveh: c0t 1,265
ot. John's Tsland .- .. 197

Largely accounted for by the migrations from Halifax and Canso.
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BANDS OF EXILES RETURN.

The prospects of settlement in Acadia opened up by the Treaty
of Paris in 1763 naturally led to the return, contemplated or actual,
of considerable bands of exiles. These, however, on approaching or
entering Acadia, found tc their sorrow that the obstacles in the way
of their repossessing themselves of a portion of their ancestral soil
still existed, and that, thanks to the unconscionably stupid policy of
the Governors they were still under the ban of outlawry. The
Acadian population, composed mostly of “prisoners” continued to
decline. There was no inflow corresponding to the outflow which
Wilmot in his incredible folly instead of checking did his best to
augment. This population may be said to have reached its minimum
at the date of the so-called ‘“‘general return” of 1667—which was
really issued in December, 1666. Michael Francklin, to whose good
offices the Acadians were chiefly indebted for their re-settlement in
Nova Scotia, was sworn into office as lieutenant-governor on August
23rd, and on March 3oth, “it was ordered that the oaths of allegiance
should be administered to the Acadians on the St. John River, who
had expressed a desire to take them.”

That the establishment of relations of mutual confidence between
the authorities at Halifax and the representatives of the long pre-
scribed race was largely due to Francklin is now a matter of universal
acknowledgement. IHis suavity, his sense of justice, his freedom
from narrow racial and religious prejudice, his conciliatory tact, are
freely recognized by writers, who on the expulsion question and its
connected issues take strong ground against the Acadians, while with
much inconsistency, they pass by without censure, the harsh oppressive
policy of his predecessors, which on his accession to office he pro-
ceeded at once to reverse.

Within a year from the date of the “general return” of 1767, the
Acadian families which it reports as at Annapolis and Windsor, most
of whom had tramped their weary way from Massachusetts, had
received allotments at St. Mary’s Bay, where they laid the founda-
tions of the prosperous township of Clare, never to be forgotten as
the home of the loyal and saintly Abbe Segoigne. Rameau draws
a vivid and touching picture of the march of this “heroic caravan”
from Massachusetts to Nova Scotia, especially of the last two or
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three hundred miles of it when their route took them through most
of what, eleven years before, were the chief centers of Acadian life.

Almost contemporaneously another band of exiles—located tem-
porarily at Halifax—through the kindly intervention of Governor
Francklin—resumed possession of their ancestral lands at Publico
and Tusket, to perpetuate there the lineage of La Tour and the
historical name of D'Entremont. So far as known this was the
only case occurring in the peninsula in which a returning company
came into possession of its ancient patrimony.’

When once the good news had spread about that the way was
opened up, migration followed migration homeward. The exiled
people sought return to the cradle-of their race from far and near,
in comparatively large companies, in smaller groups, in families,
singly. Difficulties had to be faced, privations and sufferings borne,
almost as numerous and trying as those met with on their outward
way. Some, upborne by their ardent longing for home, came safely
through; others dropped out and disappeared.

No better tribute can be paid to the industry and sound judg-
ment of the original settlers of Acadia than the eagerness with which
the lands they cleared, or reclaimed from the sea, were appropriated
by the New England and Ulster immigrants of 1760-2, and by the
shrewdest of the speculators and land-grabbers who, during the de-
cade 1760-70, locked up so much of the best soil in Nova Scotia.
Thus it happened that with one partial exception those of the exiles
whose homes had been on the Bay of Fundy rivers, and who came
back from their wanderings with the hope of resuming them, were
invariably doomed to disappointment.? Necessarily the new settle-
ments formed by the companies returning from exile were for the
most part located north of the Isthmus of Chignecto. Four or five
of the counties of New Brunswick are today almost wholly peopled
by Acadians.

1“phey passed in turn through Beaubassin, Cobequid, Pigiguit, Grand Pré; but
Beausejour was now called Cumberland; Beaubassin, Amherst; Cobequid had taken
the name of Mruro; Pigiguit, that of Windsor, and Grand Pré was named Horton;
everything was changed; English names, English villages, English inhabitants; where-
ever they appeared, they looked like ghosts come pack from a past age; nobody had
thought of them for a long time.”

*The fine district on the Memramcook and Petitecodiac rivers formerly and still
known as Memramcook was resettled by those of its former inhabitants who returned
from exile, The land had meanwhile been granted to Colonel Des Barres, but the
difficulty was adjusted, and the returned exiles retained possession.
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THE NUMBER DEPORTED.

The number of Acadians actually deported has been variously
estimated. If we look at localities rather than conjecture numbers,
we find the facts to be about as follows: A small allowance being
made for stray fugitives, the inhabitants of Mines, Canard, Pisiquid
and (eventually) Annapolis, were seized, put on shipboard, and trans-
ported to the various colonies from Massachusetts to Georgia. The
majority of the people of Cobequid, fleeing to the woods of the
neighboring mountains, effected a hazardous escape to the French
islands of Royale and St. Jean. From Chignecto a few hundreds
were added to the total mass of the deported, but in that region the
attempts at seizure generally miscarried through the facilities for
escape afforded by the trackless forests in the background. The in-
habitants of the smaller and remoter settlements of the peninsula
were immediately proscribed, and soon most of them had left the
country by flight or actual seizure and transportation. So late as
1759, one hundred and fifty Acadians of the Cape Sable district, who
had lingered in the vicinity of their former homes in a state of out-
lawry, surrendered to the government, and were sent to England,
some of them wandering thence to France, a few eventually return-
ing to Nova Scotia.

To recur to the question of numerical estimates, Haliburton in
his “Historical and Statistical Account of Nova Scotia (Vol. 1, page
182),” states that “seven thousand were collected and dispersed
among the British Provinces.” With this Abbe Casgrain substan-
tially agrees. Sir Adams Archibald puts the number of exiles at
6,000. Hannay's estimate that “the total number removed from
Acadia was somewhat less than 3,000 souls” is in keeping with his
view of the reduced population of the peninsula at the time of the
expulsion. Probably the largest estimate quoted is not far above the
truth, if taken to include with the actually deported those who exiled
themselves by flight.

As to the number or proportion of the exiles who ultimately re-
turned to their native land only conjectures can be hazarded. Most
writers content themselves with such indefinite estimates as “a few,”
“some,” a “considerable number.” Mr. Hannay seems alone in the
opinion that “the great bulk of the Acadians finally succeeded in
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returning to the land of their birth.” In another reference to the
question, he substitutes “‘at least two-thirds” for the larger and more
indefinite “the great bulk.” Possibly as many Acadians as the more
moderate of these statements would involve, if the calculations were
made on the basis of Mr. Hannay’s own low estimate of the entire
peninsular population, did succeed in effecting a return, though even
this is doubtful, but as proportional estimates neither of them can
be accepted.

At the date of the “general return” of 1767, just eleven years
had passed since the expulsion, and at that date not a single Acadian
exile had resumed the legal possession of land in Nova Scotia, nor,
so far as we can learn, had a single one subscribed to the required
oath of allegiance. In the list there does not appear the name of a
solitary one of the places which are now the Acadian centers of the
peninsula. Apart altogether from a consideration of the limited
Acadian population disclosed by the return itself, these facts suffici-
ently indicate the slowness of the repatriating process. The story
of the wanderings and hardships of the Acadian refugees during
these eleven years has never been fully told. By English writers
generally a page or two at most has been deemed sufficient. L’Abbe
Casgrain’s “Les Acadiens apres leur dispersion” deals more fully
with the subject, and though not without imaginative elements is a
valuable and interesting supplement to the meagre records of our
professed historians. But from the most meagre of those records
we can gather enough to lead us to doubt Mr. Hannay’s estimate
as to the proportion of the unfortunate exiles who found their way
back to Acadia. When, after twelve years of weary wandering and
waiting the time at length came in which such of them as survived
and were in a position to claim the privilege, were allowed to settle
peaceably, if not on the site of their ancestral homes, at least in
some other part of their beloved Acadia, it may well be doubted if
“the great bulk” of the original exiles were living, to say nothing of
the large proportion of the survivors who had become permanently
domiciled in other lands. The decimating effects of such a career,
involving as it did shipwreck, pestilence, and famine, on a simple
pastoral people like the proscribed Acadians, can scarcely be over-
estimated.



CHAPTER VT

LIEUTENANT-GOVERNOR FRANCKLIN IN ENGLAND—THE YORKSHIRE
SETTLEMENT-—MA]J. FRANCIS LEGGE SUCCEEDS GOVERNOR CAMP-
BELL—BRIEF REVIEW OF HIS ADMINISTRATION—THE LONG
PARLIAMENT.

In January, 1769, Lieutenant-Governor Francklin taking advan-
tage of the Governor’s presence in Halifax sailed for England osten-
sibly for the purpose of rebutting the charges of mal-administration
preferred against him in the matter of the Island of St. John officials.
He had been informed through a despatch from the Secretary of
State that his actions “were highly disapproved by the King” and
that he had been deemed guilty “of total and entire misapprehension
of his orders.” The expenses incurred in setting up an official staff
in the island were very considerable and notice was served on Franck-
lin that if any further drafts should come in on this account they
would probably be protested. Protected by the armour of conscious
innocence Francklin hastened across to meet his accusers. Lord
William Campbell in acknowledging Lord Hillshorough's despatch
had not put forth a very strong defense for his lieutenant. The
only plea suggested was “mistaken zeal.” The financial point at
issue was not easily adjusted.

Francklin was absent from Nova Scotia from January, 1769 to
June, 1772. This long absence was by no means pleasing to the
Governor-in-Chief. Lord William was fond of frequent respites
from active duty and was fertile in inventing excuses to justify
them. If truth be told the Province did not suffer much from his
frequent absence provided only that the Lieutenant-Governor was on
hand to take the reins.

There is not available much information as to how Francklin
employed himself during his prolonged absence from Nova Scotia.
We do not even know to what extent he succeeded in clearing him-
self of the charges preferred against him in such vigorous terms by
Lord Hillshorough. It is certain that he returned to Halifax in
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excellent spirits and seemed to enjoy for several years and for a
time at least in an increasing degree the confidence of the home
authorities. From these facts it is reasonable to infer that his expla-
nations were accepted. Probably the case really stood somewhat
thus: The instructions sent to Francklin meant just what he sup-
posed they did. The officials whom he appointed were all Nova
Scotians. The new proprietors of the island were Englishmen and
Scotchmen who wished to have directly, or indirectly the control of
affairs in their own hands and insisted that the connection with
Nova Scotia should be cut. Their influence with the ministry out-
weighed that of Francklin. The easiest way out of the difficulty
was to say that a mistake had been made, cancel Francklin's appoint-
ments, and hand over the island to the proprietors.

The results accomplished by the Lieutenant-Governor while visit-
ing England are generally given in a space quite disproportionate to
the length of his stay there. “Mr. Francklin, the Lieutenant-Gov-
ernor returned to Halifax on the 2nd of June, 1772. He brought
with him the welcome intelligence of two hundred pounds granted
by the King for the repair of St. Paul's church. He also brought
authority to Governor Patterson of the Island of St. John to use the
stone from the west side of the Island of Cape Breton.” We are
left to doubt whether the intelligence of the two hundred pounds
was welcome because they were the gift of a king, or because the
money was really needed by the parishoners of St. Paul's. As to
the Cape Breton stone, it is gratifying to know that somebody was
permitted to use something from an island whose resources and pro-
ducts it was the good pleasure of His Majesty’s government to keep
so rigorously “under lock and key.”

From other sources we know that Francklin’s visit bore some
fruit for Nova Scotia, as well as for St. Paul's and the Island of
Saint John. In 1774 (May 24th) Governor Legge (Lord William
Campbell’s successor) writes to the Lords of Trade that “two brig-
antines had arrived at Halifax from Hull, importing 280 persons
from Yorkshire, and three more vessels from the same place were
expected. The whole number to exceed 600 persons. ~ They do not
expect grants of land. Some come to purchase land—others per-
haps to become tenants, and some to labor.” Somewhat later than
the date of Legge’s letter there is found in Murdock’s History, the
following: “In May and June this year, nine passenger vessels
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arrived at Halifax, of which, two were from Scarborough, two from
London, one from Newcastle, one from Sunderland, and one from
Aberdeen. Total of their passengers, 703. A list of 400 names is
given. Their names are English.” Murdock gives no information
regarding these two bodies of immigrants—the one first referred to
came in 1773—except that they did not want grants and that those
composing the second and larger group all had English names. It is
not clear whether or not he considered the two immigrations to have
any connection with one another. As a matter of fact they were
parts of a common immigration movement. Somehow the historian
did not get on the track of an earlier arrival. In May, 1772, the
good ship Duke of York, landed in Halifax 62 passengers, the first
installment of what was collectively a large immigrant body. They
were all from Yorkshire, England, and were bound for the Isthmus
of Chignecto. - At home the newcomers had been tenant farmers,
trades people of various kinds, or laborers on the estates of large
landed proprietors in Yorkshire, notably on the extensive holdings of
the Duke of Rutland.

SETTLEMENT OF PICTOU.

It will come with the force of a shock to some readers of this
narrative to learn that there was nothing distinctively Scotch in con-
nection with the earliest settlement of that part of Nova Scotia known
as the district of Pictou. In April, 1765, Governor Wilmot wrote to
the Lords of Trade as follows: “By the late arrival of several persons
from Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and some of the neighboring colonies,
we have the prospect of having this Province soon peopled by the
accession of many settlers from those parts.” This was a gratifying
prospect.

The following is a summary of the further contents of the letter:

1. The gentlemen who had visited Halifax from Pensylvania and
New Jersey represented that immigrants from Germany had so over-
stocked the good lands in those colonies, that the English-speaking
colonists had been obliged to move out and seek their livelihood in
Carolina and Virginia.

2. These gentlemen and the associations whom they represented,
had had their attention directed by Alexander McNutt (and others)
to Nova Scotia as a source of supply of two articles of prime necessity,
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fish and hemp. Their visit was for the purpose of ascertaining how
well adapted the Province was for the carrying on of the fisheries
and the cultivation of flax.

5 lhey were well-to-do people and proposed to provide them-
selves with the needed supply of laborers by importations from Ger-
many, and thus divert to Nova Scotia the annual current of Germans
that now flowed to America.

This very plausible presentation of facts and prospects was
strengthened by other® considerations. The laborers to be brought
from Germany will be so busy with “fish and hemp” that—an assur-
ance which must have been most gratifying to the Lords of Trade—
“they will be sufficiently prevented from any attention to manufac-
turer.”” A second assurance must have equally commended itself.
“These frugal laborers and industrious people will not only improve
and enrich their property, but pertinaciously defend it.”

With these representatives from Pennsylvania and New Jersey
appeared at the Governor’s chambers in Halifax, the ubiquitous
Alexander McNutt. Just what he was doing there, and what were
his relations to the company which these agents represented, are points
that the record does not make very clear. Seemingly he was co-
operating with the agents in securing grants of land, for “he produced
many letters from the associations I have before mentioned, soliciting
them in the most pressing manners to use his utmost endeavors to
procure for them the tracts for which they apply and on such condi-
tions as he had obtained at your lordship’s board, the 27th. February,
1861, for all such settlers as he should introduce into the Province.”

There is a good deal of obscurity in the record as to the grants
which followed these representations. No less than fifteen firms or
companies in New Jersey and Pennsylvania sought grants. Some
wanted 100,000 acres, others 200,000 and so on, the total area applied
for being 2,000,000 acres. Benjamin Franklin’s name appears in
the list of one of the companies. Eventually the Council agreed to
reserve 200,000 acres for a company known as the Philadelphia
Company, in the membership of which McNutt was included. The
land so reserved lay “between Onslow, Truro, and the lands granted
to Colonel Des Barres at Tatamagouche.” When the grantees found
that the limits mentioned did not measure up to 200,000 acres, they
were given liberty to choose the aforesaid quantity between Tatama-
gouche and Pictou.” McNutt meanwhile was looking out for himself.
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In association with three or four of his Scotch-Irish compatriots, he
obtained a grant of 100,000 acres known in Pictou history as the
Irish grant. It adjoined the Philadelphia grant, but was much better
located for settlement purposes, included all the southern and western
shores of Pictou harbour, both banks of the East and Middle Rivers,
and the west side of the West River, the block of land on which the
town now stands. Its main advantage was that it comprised all the
most eligible parts of the harbour, McNutt kept other people out of
it, but it was of no advantage to himself. It'was one of his earliest
escheated grants.

The Philadelphia Company, though anxious to validate its grant
by actual settlement within “the time limits,” found sundry hinderances
in the way. One Mr. Anthill had circulated very disparaging accounts
of the quality of this company’s land. The fact that the survey threw
outside of the limits of their grant the harbor of Pictou, in the stag-
nation of trade consequent on the Stamp Act were also serious deter-
rants to settlement. The company asked for an extension of time,
which was granted up to June 1, 1767. :

In the spring of 1767, the company proceeded to place the settlers
on their grants. The brig Hope was despatched for Pictou, with just
six families to be planted on an immense area of 100,000 acres. The
surnames of the heads of these families, so far as handed down, were
Harris, Patterson, McCabe, Rogers, and Cumminger. The sixth sur-
name is not recorded. Of these men—to whom must be accorded the
honor of having been the first settlers of Pictou, Harris was a Scotch-

Irishman, Patterson and Rogers Lowland Scotchmen, McCabe, an 4

Irish Roman Catholic from Belfast married to a Presbyterian wife,
the racial affiliations of Cumminger can only be conjectured. That
they solved the problem of the first year in the wilds with as little
unpleasantness as any group of settlers that ever landed on our shores
is due to the careful forethought of the company in stocking the Hope
with a two years’ supply of provisions, and especially to the fact that
the men themselves were familiar with the conditions of American
life, knew how to avail themselves of the resources of stream and
forest-and likely enough had had some personal experience of “rough-
ing it in the bush.”

In the course of a few years a large part of the stock of the Phila-
delphia Company fell into the hands of a Scotch merchant, John
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Pagan, of Greenock. Pagan had a ship called the H ectom\i\ch had
carried a body of emigrants from Scotland to Boston. Nothing could
be more natural than that Pagan should suggest to his co-proprietors
the propriety of seeking supplies of settlers for the Philadelphia grant
from Scotland, and should place the Hector at their disposal for char-
ter. An agent named Ross was engaged to sound the praises of Pictou
through the Highland shires, and proclaim the tempting offers of a
free passage and a free farm. The proposal met with a fairly general
response, and a company not far short of two hundred souls was soon
ready to sail with the arrival of the Hector on September 15, 1773, the
true history of Pictou. Dr. Patterson, the historian of Pictou County,
very properly remarks on the importance of the arrival of the Hector
to our Maritime Provinces, and he might have included within the
scope of his observations the entire Dominion of Canada.

“With her passengers may be said to have commenced the really
effective settlement of Pictou. But this was not all: The Hector was
the first emigrant vessel from Scotland to Pictou, or even these Lower
Provinces. That stream of Scottish immigration which in after years
flowed not only over the County of Pictou, but over much of the
eastern part of the Province, Cape Breton, Prince Edward Island, por-
tions of New Brunswick and even the Upper Provinces, began with
this immigration, even in a large measure originated with it, for it
was by the representation of those on board to their friends, that others
followed, and so the stream deepened and widened in succeeding years.
We venture to say that there is no one element in the population of
these Lower Provinces, upon which their social, moral, and religious
condition has depended more than upon its Scottish immigrants, and
of these that those on board the Hector were the pioneers and van-
guards.” Their attention had been directed to Nova Scotia by her
Lieutenant-Governor, Michael Francklin, then in England. At that
time the agricultural industry in Britain was in a most depressed con-
dition, both landlords and tenants rapidly disipating the money made
during the Seven Years War with its high prices.

Francklin seems to have carefully looked into existing®conditions,
to see how they might be made to inure to the benefit of Nova Scotia,
for the improvement of whose waste lands he was very anxious to
secure agricultural laborers of the right stamp. Brought somehow into

(31)
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close association with the Duke of Rutland and invited to pay him a
visit at his country-seat, he was both surprised and pleased to find
his Grace by no means indisposed to listen to a suggestion of the
reduction of his tenantry by emigration to Nova Scotia. Francklin
pressed the matter. An Englishman himself, he naturally enough
thought that so far as nationality was concerned, no men more suited
to his purpose than Englishmen could be found. The general scheme
and even its details were carefully thought out. There was to be
nothing of the nature of an eviction. Those only were to join in the
movement who wated to do so, and who gave reasonable promise of
achieving success in such a venture. There was neither compulsion nor
undue solicitation. The usual promises of free passages, free grants,
and special governmental aid in emergencies, were carefully withheld;
indeed they were neither asked for nor expected. A more independent,
self-reliant body of immigrants never landed on our shores than these
same Yorkshiremen whom Francklin's representations—amply realised
in fact—induced to try the Nova Scotia experiment.

A prominent feature of Francklin's plan was that the place of
settlement of the Yorkshire colonists should be the Isthmus of Chig-
necto and the closely adjacent territory. With that whole range of
country he was very familiar. In the way of official duty, and other-
wise, he had frequently visited Fort Cumberland, the seat of govern-
ment for the entire region. More than that, he himeslf was an
extensive land owner in the neighborhood. While his summers were
generally spent on his beautiful demesne at Windsor, Francklin Manor
(now Barronsfield) his fine estate on the very edge of the isthmus,
received at least an annual visit. For reasons not difficult to fix upon,
even the central portion of the magnificent stretch of country between
the Cobequid Hills and the Petitcodiac River had been very tardily
developed under English rule. In the townships embraced in the isth-
mus proper an enormous number of grantees had failed to validate and
perfect their allotments. Some did not appear on the scene at all;
others came, and, after a longer or shorter struggle, returned to New
England. Of the Ulster families who laid the original foundations of
Amherst, most withdrew at an early date to Cobequid and Cornwallis.
Only an infinitesimal part of the vast marsh district had been reclaimed.
Considerable portions even of the original upland clearings of the
Acadians had relapsed into wilderness.
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This was the country, or rather the conditions of the country, to
which Francklin, before leaving England—his return to Nova Scotia
almost exactly synchronised with the arrival of the Duke of York at
Halifax—had arranged to send his Yorkshire colonists. He did not
leave the enterprise to the contingencies and so common in the history
of colonial undertakings. Everthing was carefully prearranged. The
settlers, as they arrived at Halifax, were to proceed without delay to
Fort Cumberland, where receiving temporary hospitalities they would
find instructed guides to point out the steps by which new homes were
to be secured.

5 OTHER SETTLERS FIND HOMES.

The Duke of York reached Halifax on May 2, 1772. Charles
Dixon, the principal passenger on board, and as long as he lived, the
patriarch of the Yorkshire colony, thus wrote home concerning the
voyage and his reception at Halifax, with resultant impressions: “We
had a rough passage. None of us having been to sea before, much
sea-sickness prevailed. At Halifax we were received with much joy by
the gentlemen in general, but were much discouraged by others, and
the account given us of Cumberland was enough to make the stoutest
heart give way.”?

Mr. Dixon’s own heart, however, did not “give way.” He retained
faith in Francklin’s assurances as to the potentialities of Chignecto,
and followed his instructions to the letter. Leaving the Duke of York
at her wharf, he and his party—his own family consisting of his wife
and four children—seized the first opportunity to sail for Fort Cum-
berland in a coasting schooner. In a few days they were at their
destination. On the 8th of June less than three weeks after his landing
at Halifax, he had bought and paid for 2,500 acres of land in Sack-
ville. Other members of his company got settled with almost equal
expedition. Nor was it much otherwise with the groups which came

Mr. Dixon died in 1817. Almost the last entry in his diary—men had time to
Write diaries in those days—is an expression of thanksgiving to Providence for direct-
ing his steps to the new world. Mr. Murdock’s obituary notice partially tells the
Story of his honored and useful life: “Died at Sackville, N. B., 21st August, 1817.
Charles Dixon, esquire, in the 79th year of his age. He came there from England
in 1772—was representative for Sackville in the Assembly of Nova Scotia, and after
the separation of New Brunswick, was county member for Westmorland in the (first)
Assembly of the latte Province. He left (1817) 125 descendants in the SCounties of
Cumberlana and Westmoreland.” The compiler of this history can recall one of the
Sons who accompanied Mr. Dixon to Nova Scotia in 1772.
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the two following years. It is said—perhaps without absolute warrant
—that not a family of the three bands of immigrants was without a
home of its own for more than a year after its arrival at Fort Cumber-
land.

The territory within which these Yorkshire settlers thus found
homes may be described roughly in terms of modern geography as
extending from Maccan, Nova Scotia, to Dorchester, New Brunswick,
in one direction, and from Cumberland Basin to the Straits of North-
umberland in another. The separation of New Brunswick from the
Nova Scotian peninsula in 1784, had the effect of dividing them into

two, not very unequal groups, according to location, north or south of.

the Missiquash River, the northern or New Brunswick group being
somewhat the larger. This history will tell how loyally and how in-
fluentially they supported the mother country in the approaching
struggle with the revolting colonies.

There remains now to bring the parliamentary history of the
Province up to date. The fourth General Assembly, elected in 1765,
continued in existence until April, 1770. Poor Assembly! As far
as it was concerned the issues of life and death” were entirely with

the Council. “In Council, 2nd April. On taking into consideration the

time of the continuance of the present General Assembly, which was
begun in May 1765, and that the disposition of the majority of the
members was much averse to any expedient measures for supplying the
deficiencies of the provincial funds and the necessary support of gov-
ernment, it was resolved that the General Assembly be dissolved.”
Writs were ordered to issue for a new House, but no writ to “issue to
the County of Breton, for want of freeholders.”

The House elected under this order of Council met on the sixth
of June (1770) but as the journals for that year are missing we have
but little knowledge of the business which it transacted. We learn
however, that one of the seventeen Acts which it passed proposed to
raise one thousand pounds for roads and bridges by means of a lot-
tery. The loss of the journals prevents us from recording a com-
plete list of the members. This Assembly, which was not dissolved
until 1784, and held seventeen sessions—though it did not meet
in 1774—is known as the “Long Parliament” of Nova Scotia. Though
Jonathan Eddy, the coming “rebel,” was elected member for the town-
ship of Cumberland, Governor Campbell writes Lord Hillshorough, the
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Secretary of State that he does “not discover in them (the members
of the new House) any of that licentious principle with which the
neighboring colonies are so highly infected.” Whether the Council
was as well satisfied with the spirit of the new Assembly, as was the
Governor himself, is open to doubt. Evidently the result of the elec-
tion ordered, had been looked forward to with considerable misgiving,
for in at least some of the townships signs had appeared which to the
Council, foreboded danger and trouble. Town meetings (the Town
Meeting was a New England Institution transplanted without legal
warrant to Nova Scotia) had ventured “to debate and resolve on
several questions relating to the laws and government of the Province.”
This, of course, was very alarming, and the practice could not be
allowed to go on, even though its suppression bore some likeness to an
abridgement of the right of free speech. “The Governor and Council
ordered the Attorney-General to notify all persons concerned that such
meetings were contrary to law, and if persisted in, that he should
prosecute them.” Though the language in which the obnoxious “town
meeting”’ proceedings are referred to is guarded, the reference undoub-
tedly is to undue expressions of sympathy with movements in progress
in the older colonies. The prohibition applied not merely to meetings
called for special purposes, but to the annual town meeting, a time-
honored assembly at which town officials were chosen, the ordinary
communal busines transacted, and as occasion required, questions
of public interest ventilated and discussed. It is doubtful if the poli-
cies thus adopted by the Council, was really promotive of the interests
sought to be protected. Nothing is more unwise than at critical
moments to supply agitators with grievances. With not more than
three exceptions at the most, the townships, or “towns” of Nova Scotia,
at that time entitled to send members to the Assembly, were simply
New England communities planted in Nova Scotia. With them came,
or was supposed to have come, the right of the freeholders to manage
their local affairs, and in the interest of such management to convene,
at regular times, or specially, as their own judgment dictated or the
town’s interests required. Beyond this, the town was to a New Eng-
lander, not merely the local unit of the political system of a province,
it was the foundation stone on which the whole structure rested. It
was folly to expect a people at once to disposses themselves of so
thoroughly ingrained an idea. Stripped of the power of local action,
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the Nova Scotian townships—save so far as some of them had the
right of representation in the Assembly—shrank into, and have ever
since remained, mere shadows. Meanwhile the inhibition put on
“Town Meetings” just suited the purposes of Jonathan Eddy of Cum-
berland and Samuel Rogers of Sackville.

MAJOR LEGGE AS GOVERNOR.

In June 1773 Lord William Campbell was appointed to the gover-
norship of South Carolina and was succeeded in that of Nova Scotia
by Major Francis Legge, a relative—probably a cousin of Lord Dart-
mouth, the Secretary of State. Legge’s nominal term of office extended
to 1781 but the Ministry was compelled to retire him in 1776, owing
to his incompetence and unfairness as a civil administrator. During
the five or six years following his retirement from active service he
retained the title and the larger part of the emoluments of the office.
One-fifth of the salary of one thousand pounds was paid to the Lieu-
tenant-Governor who performed the duties.

A session of the Assembly was held not long after Legge’s inaugu-

ration. After it was over the Governor communicated to his noble

relative, the Secretary of State, the following rather singular impres-
sion: “From the best information I have the progress of this Province
is much retarded by want of industry among the people who came
into the back parts of it from New England.”

The somewhat heavy debt resting on the Province alarmed Legge.
It suggested to him too, dishonesty on the part of the officials who
had had the handling of the public money. The idea so fastened
itself upon his mind that it became impossible to dislodge it. To
Mr. Pownal, secretary of the Board of Trade, he presents two rather
unpleasant cases. Mr. Nesbitt, the speaker and attorney-general as
well as surrogate, judge of probate, was keeping back money which
had come into his hands as administrator of an estate. The late Mr.
Hinshelwood was registrar of the same Court of Probate and the
Honourable A. Gould (member of the Governor’s own council) his
executor refused to pay the money over as ordered by the Governor
in his capacity as councillor.

Legge made it the one great aim of his civil administration that the
huge provincial debt of twenty thousand pounds was due to thievery on

T e




HISTORY OF NOVA SCOTIA. 475

the part of public servants. He appointed numberless commissioners
of inquiry with large staffs of clerks and auditors. When any appear-
ance of irregularity was revealed suits were promptly instituted in the
courts. Two of the oldest and most honored members of his own
Council, Jonathan Binney and Henry Newton, were cast in heavy
damages in suits thus brought. Legge in a letter to Lord Dartmouth
enables us to at least conjecture how the verdicts were obtained.
“Tt was supposed that through their influence among the common peo-
ple no just verdict could be obtained but a special jury was summoned,
and after very long trials a verdict for the Crown was found by them.”
Lieutenant-Governor, Michael Francklin, assured the Secretary of
State that the accounts of Binney and Newton were perfectly regular
and complete in every respect. After Legge’s retirement from office
the Assembly to which body the councillors appealed for redress, reim-
bursed them the full amount which Legge's insane rapacity had
extracted from them. Finally the notion seized the Governor that his
entire Council was confederated to defraud the Province. He urged
the dismissal of at least five of the principal members, including not
only Binney and Newton but Richard Bulkley, the most universally
trusted man in the Province, and who had filled the post of Provin-
cial Secretary since the inauguration of Cornwallis’s government.

The quarrel between Legge.and his Council, or it might almost be
said between Legge and every respectable man in Halifax, came to a
head in 1776. At a meeting of the Council held on 22nd April, Legge
himself being present and four of the councillors whom he had tried
to have dismissed (Mr. Binney was in England) a letter from the
Lords of Trade was read, informing the Council that two petitions
to the King had been referred to them—one signed by five members
of the Council, the other by several of the principal gentlemen and
inhabitants—containing charges against Governor Legge and a paper
presented them by Mr. Binney, containing particulars of these com-
plaints. They sent Mr. Legge copies, and stated that the petitioners
will be confined to these charges. He is advised to collect proofs and
depositions (for his defence) and to report in England without loss
of time.” On the 12th of May, Governor Legge sailed for England.
He is no more heard of except as nominally Governor of Nova Scotia:
for the five years to follow. Out of consideration for his relative, the
Secretary of State, he was let off very easily. The following letter
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written just as Legge was sailing for England tends to raise Michael
Francklin still higher in our esteem. It was addressed to the secretary
of the Board of Trade. “As I look upon Mr. Legge’s situation as a
very unhappy one, I shall only say that it is to be hoped, for the
interest of the Crown, and for the credit of his noble relative, that he
may not be permitted to preside over this colony, for his capacity,
temper, and disposition render him unfit for a Governor and as I wish
at all times to avoid placing an additional weight on any gentleman
already greatly loaded, it was with a very great reluctance, and in
obedience only to the Lords of Trade’s commands that I complied
yesterday with the summons of the complainants against Governor
Legeg, to answer on oath, nine interrogatories, which I did as tender
as I could do consistent with the truth.” During the years of Legge’s
actual governorship, 1773-6, Francklin retained the position of Lieu-
tenant-Governor, but was seldom, or never, called on to administer the
government.

The Assembly journal for the years 1770-1775 being missing, the
parliamentary history of the Legge period 1773-76 cannot be given in
any detail. We have noticed that Lord William Campbell’s impression
of the “Long Parliament” at its first session was most favorable. He
did “not discover in them any of that licentious principle with which
the neighboring colonies are so highly infected.” Lord William, how-
ever may not have been the keenest of observers.

When Legge took charge of affairs, he seldom opened or closed
a session without reference to the provincial debt. “How so infant a
colony could incur so great a debt, and what advantages were sup-
posed would be the effect of it, I am not at present informed, though
I shall endeavor to search out.” At one session, the question of
taxation was discussed, and a land tax bill passed by the Assembly—
with acreage rather than value as the basic principle. The measure
was very unfair to the owner of unimproved and wilderness land
and altogether to the advantage of the freeholders in the older town-
ships, who had got vacated French lands for nothing. At another ses-
sion the circuits of the Supreme Court were first established. The
Act provided that courts were to be held at Horton, Annapolis and
Cumberland, two judges being necessarily present. '

In 1775, when, in the older colonies the long smouldering discon-
- tent had burst into flame of open war, Legge was pleased to congratu-
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late the members on their uniform good behavior, duty and allegiance
to the King, while the Assembly in reply assured the Governor that
“the inhabitants of the colony as well as from the most sacred sense
of gratitude and affectionate obedience to our benign Sovereign will
ever be induced to a strict allegiance to His Majesty and a due observ-
ance of those laws.” As a specimen of wordy loyalty this last cannot
well be outdone.

It is somewhat disappointing to find that the stratum of mutual
esteem and confidence underlying these exuberant effusions was after
all extremely thin. Shortly after the House met, Legge writes to the
Earl of Dartmouth—that he had laid the audited accounts before the
House, “but as the persons who form that Assembly are for the
greater part public debtors, I imagine it will produce an exculpation of
each other, and the public debt will remain nearly as it is, being now
at the amount of more than twenty-six thousand pounds.” “I cannot
omit mentioning to your lordships the continual and repeated efforts
of a turbulant party," whom I mentioned in my former letters to in-
terrupt that harmony which has subsisted between me and the general
assembly, whereby the public business is greatly delayed and inter-
rupted.”

MURDOCK AS A HISTORIAN.

As a documentary historian, Beamish Murdock has had few supe-
riors. To let the past tell its own story to the greatest extent possible
was the aim that guided his labors. He felt the loss of the Assembly
journals for the critical years 1770-1775 to be a serious one, and so
was led to make careful search in all possible quarters for information
bearing on the parliamentary proceedings of that eventful period. He
found in a letter from Governor Legge to the Earl of Dartmouth,
under date of June 27, 1775, an allusion to a document which might
be expected to disclose the mind and temper of the Assembly at a
time which might be defined as “the turning of the ways.” “I am
informed,” the Governor writes to the Earl of Dartmouth, “members
of the House of Assembly have secretly prepared an address to His
Majesty, the contents of which has not been laid before me. On the
best information it sets forth some projection for the alteration of
government upon the American system of popularity, which, if

1Franklin?
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attended to, may produce the same convulsions in this as in the
other Provinces. I should otherwise wish they would not have con-
cealed it from me.” The address referred to by Legge was found
in the 18th volume of the “Parliamentary History of England.” It
is an elaborate presentation to the King and both houses of Parlia-
ment of the view taken by the Assembly of existing complications and
strikingly illustrates how cross-currents of both opinion and feeling
were at that time sweeping over Nova Scotia. Bunker Hill was fought
just ten days before the address passed the House. Murdock does not
publish it in extenso, but gives a summary of its contents which will
be found in the Appendix.

The following are his judicious reflections thereon:

“Some of the views expressed in this singular document appear
very extraordinary now. Triennial Parliaments and vote by ballot
read strangely among the professions of dependence on the British
Parliament as then constituted. The hostility of lawyers and custom
house officers, and to courts of vice-admiralty, has been found from
time to time prevalent with some of our people. The wish to prevent
natives of the Province from filling the chair of government, or sitting
on the bench of the Supreme Court, indicates a very different feeling
from that now entertained. It is true, however, that in New York,
Massachusetts, and other provinces, the desire to obtain the offices
of Governor, Chief Justice, etc., had long caused divisions and parties
among the principal families. In viewing this document in our happy
and tranquil condition, allowance must be made for the unhappy state
of things just then subsisting on the continent. Discontent had
changed into disaffection. Disaffection had culminated into open
rebellion. Brethren had begun an internecine strife, and their blood
was saturating the soil of New England. It is, therefore, not to be
wondered at if we find the representatives of Nova Scotia filled with
dismay and distress, and their views confused and darkened in the
storm of a civil war so close to them. Aiming to reconcile loyalty and
obedience with freedom and ‘the just rights of mankind in civil so-
ciety'—venerating the Crown and the imperial authority, and yet
feeling for ‘the British American race’—dreading the loss of union
with Great Britain, and anxious for her favor and protection, they yet
evidently hope some course of reconciliation may be adopted to stay
the destroying angel, and harmonise the members of the one great
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British family. Their expressions on this subject are truly noble and
humane, and enable us to feel pride in our forefathers. If they could
have seen in a vision the mode in which all the higher offices of our
country are now filled, they would have entertained no apprehension
unfavorable to the legitimate ambition of the natives of that land in
which they were settlers and founders of communities.”

PERSONEL OF THE LONG PARLIAMENT.

Though the House of Assembly elected in 1770 was not dissolved
until 1785 without meeting at all in 1774, it had held seventeen ses-
sions, changes in the personel of its membership were constantly n
progress. Bye-elections kept the provost marshal busy. But few of
the members who heard the Governor’s speech in 1770 sat until the
dissolution of 1785. With the list of the members in 1774, as published
below, there may be compared one of two years later date, showing
how the House was constituted in 1776. The latter shows two vacan-
cies as having occurred in the county representation during the interim,
and one seat filled, which was reported vacant in 1774. In the town-
ship representation four vacancies had occurred. In four other con-
stituencies there had been changes in the membership.

In respect to nationality, it is interesting and in view of questions
to arise in the future not unimportant, to notice the continued predomi-
nance of the New England element both in the Council and Assembly
and in the official staff of the province. This was natural in the case
of the Assembly, the New England townships and the counties into
which they were grouped, constituting so large a part of the con-
stituencies. It may be said, however, that these townships and coun-
ties did not make New England origin an absolute sine qua non.
Winckworth Tonge, a British officer of Irish birth, represented Kings
County; Isaac Deschamps, a multi-pluralist of Swiss extraction, sat
for many years as member for Newport. Such allowances being
duly made it still remains that through the “Long Parliament” period,
the Assembly was overwhelmingly comprised of men who were native-
born New Englanders. It is sometimes represented that the early
history of Nova Scotia after the founding of Halifax largely resolves
itself into a struggle between an Assembly mainly composed of men
of New England birth and thoroughly imbued with New England
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sentiment, and a Council of Englishmen firmly attached to old-world
ideas and traditions. The facts of the case at no time sustained this
view. In 1774 six, and probably seven, of the nine councillors were
natives of New England. So of the ten reported in 1776, perhaps
seven, were of the same origin. Throughout the period of the Long
Parliament (1770-1785) the two stocks were not very unequally repre-
sented in the Council. So much for the Assembly and Council. While
the provincial secretary and attorney-general were Englishmen, the
treasurer and chief surveyor of public lands hailed from Boston.
Jonathan Sewall, judge of the Court of Admiralty for Appeals, divided
honors with Richard Bulkeley, judge of the Provincial Court of Vice-
Admiralty. In His Majesty’s Supreme Court Deschamps, second as-
sistant judge, was an Englishman but from New England.

England carries off the honors, with the Chief Justice and first
assistant judge. Having the list of the provincial officiary before us,
we cannot fail to notice the extent to which the principle of plurality
of office was carried in those days. Belcher was member of the Council
and Chief Justice. Bulkeley was member of the Council and judge
of the Provincial Court of Vice-Admiralty. Nesbit was Attorney
General and speaker of the House of Assembly Charles Morris, Sr.
was chief surveyor of lands, and first assistant judge of His Majesty’s
Supreme Court for the Province. Charles Morris, Jr., was member
for the County of Sunbury and registrar of the Provincial Court of
Vice-Admirality, and afterwards though not a lawyer by profession,
succeeded his father as first assistant on the Supreme Bench. Isaac
Deschamps, who lived at Windsor, was M. P. P. for Newport, clerk
of the Assembly, and naval officer for the County of Kings. Col.
Winckworth Tonge represented Kings County in the Assembly, and
was chief naval officer of the Province. :

It may be noted that the name of Jonathan Eddy which appears
in the list of 1774 in connection with the representation of the town
of Cumberland is replaced in the 1776 list by that of John Allen.
Eddy as is well known gave his name to an outbreak or “rebellion” in
1776. In 1775 he withdrew to New England to make preparations for
the attack on Fort Cumberland which constituted the central feature
of his rebellion. Probably on his withdrawal, the seat was declared
vacant. John Allen, his successor was, as will be seen, a bird of his
own feather. So was Samuel Rogers of Sackville, who between 1774
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and 1776, somehow was elected to the seat assigned in the list of 1774
to A. Foster.
Province of Nova Scotia :

Governor—His Excellency Francis Legge.
. Lieutenant-Governor—The Hon. Michael Francklin.

His Majesty’s Council:

Hon. Jonathan Belcher Henry Newton Jonathan Binney
Charles Morris : Joseph Gorham

Richard Bulkley Arthur Goold, and

Joseph Gerrish John Butler, Esquires.

Members of the House of Assembly:

County of Halifax—William Nesbitt and William Howard South,
Robert Campbell and John Phillips, Esquires.

County of Annapolis—Phineas Lovett and Joseph Patten,
Esquires. '

County of Lunenburg—]J. Creighton and Otho Wm. Schwartz,
Esquires.
~ King’s County—H. D. Denson and Winck Tonge, Esquires.

County of Cumberland—John Huston and Jotham Gay, Esquires.

Queen’s County—William Smith and Simon Perkins, Esquires.

County of Sunbury—Charles Morris, Jr., Esquire.

Town of Halifax—Charles Proctor and Thomas Bridge, Esquires.

Town of Onslow—Joshua Lamb, Esquire.

Town of Truro—William Fisher, Esquire.

Town of Londonderry—]. Morrison, Esquire.

Town of Annapolis—O. Wheelock, Esquire.

Town of Grenville—C. Prince, Esquire.

Town of Lunenburg—Philip Knaut, Esquire.

Town of Horton—Charles Dickson, Esquire. :

Town of Cornwallis—Samuel Willoughby, Esquire.

Town of Falmouth—Edward York, Esquire.

Town of Newport—Isaac Deschamps, Esquire.

Town of Cumberland—Jonathan Eddy, Esquire.

Town of Sackville—A. Foster, Esquire.

Town of Liverpool—Seth Harding, Esquire.
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Town of Yarmouth—

Town of Barrington—]John Fillis, Esquire.

Secretary of Province—Hon. Richard Bulkeley, Esquire.

Attorney General—William Nesbitt, Esquire.

Treasurer—Benjamin Green, Esquire. ;

Register—Arthur Goold, Esquire.

Chief Surveyor of Lands—Charles Morris, Esquire.

Provost Marshal—John Fenton, Esquire.

Chief Receiver of His Majesty’s Quit Rent—Joseph Woodmass,
Esquire.

Deputy Auditor—John Breynron, Esquire.

NAVAL OFFICERS.

Halifax—Winckworth Tonge, Esquire.

Kings County—Isaac Deschamps, Esquire.

County of Cumberland—Joshua Winslow, Esquire.

Annapolis—Thomas Walker, Esquire.

Queen’s County—

Lunenburg—D. C. Jessem, Esquire.

Louisburg—George Cottnam, Esquire.

Judge of the Court of the Admiralty for Appeals—Jonathan
Sewall, Esquire.

PROVINCIAL COURT OF VICE ADMIRALTY.,

Hon Richard Bulkeley, Esquire, Judge.
Charles Morris, Jr., Esquire, Register,
William Smith, Esquire, Marshal.

HIS MAJESTY,S SUPREME COURT FOR THE PROVINCE.

Hon. Jonathan Belcher, Esquire, Chief Justice.
Hon. Charles Morris, Esquire, 1st assistant judge.
Hon. Isaac Deschamps, 2nd assistant judge.
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NOVA SCOTIA AND THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION—ATTITUDE OF THE
TOWNSHIPS—NOVA SCOTIA AND THE WAR—GEORGE WASHING-
TON’S LETTER—-RAIDS FROM MACHIAS—PREPARATIONS FOR
DEFENSE—PROSPECTS SOMEWHAT GLOOMY-—GOVERNOR
LEGGE'S = COUNCIL OF WAR—LIEUTENANT-GOV-

ERNOR ARBUTHNOT SUCCEEDED BY SIR
RICHARD HUGHES—CAPTURE OF MAJIBIG-
WADUCE—NOVA SCOTIA’S NAVY AND
THE SURRENDER OF CORNWALLIS
AT YORKTOWN.

There is no reason why a history of Nova Scotia should include
an elaborate restatement and discussion of the grounds on which the
great majority of the British American colonies justified their tak-

ing up arms against the mother country. Still more foreign to the
design of such a work would be an attempt to describe the general
operations of the so-called War of Independence.

As Nova Scotia came within the scope of the same commercial
and colonial policy as the other colonies, it is worth noting that it
was this policy, and not any acts of administrative injustice and
cruelty that excited friction and ultimately led to war. Samuel
Adams and the tea-tax were simply John Hampden and the ship-
money over again. While every intelligent American laughs at not
a few of the “grievances’” recited in the Declaration of Independence
and charged against “the King of Great Britain,” no candid Eng-
lishman will deny, that by both impositions and restrictions, the col-
onies were subjected to much harsh treatment; much less contend
absolutely that “taxation (without representation) is no tyranny
Wwhatever may have been written in support of the dictum by Samuel
Johnson and John Wesley. Just when, however, the abuse of
authority in the regulation of trade or the imposition of financial
burdens, is a sufficient warrant for armed revolt, is, if not an academic
in(lUil‘y, at least a question which cannot in the abstract be
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reasoned out to a positive conclusion. The almost interminable dis-
putes over “legal rights” show that that was a point which the con-
tinental Congress itself was unable to settle. As a matter of his-
tory, neither Nova Scotia as a whole, nor any significant part of it,
was drawn into active co-operation with the revolutionists in the
southern colonies, though it cannot be denied that the revolting
movement was viewed, especially in its earlier stages, with some de-
gree of sympathy in certain of the townships, and to a very slight
extent, in Halifax itself. The traditional view that our Province
passed through the ordeal of a great revolution, which, though not
entering her own borders, touched her closely and powerfully affected
her interests, with her loyalty absolutely unscathed, has been replaced
by another equally unhistorical—that an almost universal spirit of
sedition and revolt was held in check by the restraints of force. Of
these misrepresentations, the latter is the less justified by the facts
of history. It would have been strange, indeed—in fact, anomalous,
if out of regard for their kinsman left behind in the older colonies,
the settlers of Nova Scotia had with practically unanimity espoused
one side of a cause on which those kinsmen were themselves divided.
That such a division existed, and was so far as the educated classes
were concerned even in such a stronghold of anti-British sentiment
as Massachusetts, a not very unequal one is now admitted in standard
American histories. At the date of the first Continental Congress
(1774), more than one respectable writer is in doubt whether those
working for the separation from England constituted an actual
majority even in the colonies taking the most active part in the move-
ment. New York had contributed few, if any, settlers to Nova
Scotia, but it is worth observing that the Assembly of that important
Province had refused to be bound by the action of the first Con-
tinental Congress and had declined to elect delegates to the next one,
while the time had but recently passed when Benjamin Franklin had
pronouncd the project of separation a “visionary dream.”

No visionary dream, however, it turned out to be, but a stupend-
ous reality. When the movement passed into a threatening stage,
Nova Scotia as affected by it was found laboring under two serious
disadvantages. The first already hinted at in advance, was the pres-
ence in the Province of an element of population of uncertain pro-
portions, in sympathy with the “Rebel” or “Patriot” cause in the
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older colonies. The other was the sad confusion into which the
provincial affairs had been thrown by the disintegrating and utterly
fatuous civil policy of Governor Legge. Happily neither handicap
proved fatal. The great body of the people remained true to their
allegiance to the British Crown. George Washington frowned on
all attempts to seduce them from it. Legge played the part of a
fool in administering civil affairs and got himself cashiered for his
folly, but surpassed all expectations in meeting the emergencies of
war. He was bold, resolute, and by no means lacking in judgment.
Historians generally endorse Murdock’s characterization: “What-
ever errors Mr. Legge may have committed from prejudice or passion
or from an inordinate love of ruling and dictating we cannot deny
his earnestness, sincerity and activity on the preservation and defense
of the British authority in this Province. On the contrary, he de-
serves the praise of being indefatigable in carrying out the principles
and wishes of the imperial government in an open and manly way.”
This estimate can be accepted, it should be borne in mind, only
when its terms are limited in their application to Legge’s conduct
as a military commander. In his management of general affairs,
the “open and manly way” of doing things was not much in evidence.

ATTITUDE OF NOVA SCOTIA.

On the outbreak of hostilities between Great Britain and her
American colonies, the large part of the population of Nova Scotia
which was of New England birth and origin was placed in a con-
fessedly delicate position. From their upbringing in Massachusetts
or Connecticut towns, the New Englanders in Nova Scotia would
naturally incline to favor the freer forms of government for which
they understood that their kinspeople across the line were contending,
even though they themselves did not specially feel the pressure of the
grievances of which their relatives complained.

When the revolt had developed from its incipient stages into a
fully formed system of democratic government———royal governors
and royal writs becoming things of the past—it was not unnatural
that at least some of them should wish to see their new Province align
itself in harmony with their native one. “Blood is thicker than water.”

On the other hand, Nova Scotia, their home and jural domicil,

(32)
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was an attachment of the Crown of Britain. The New England people
who came to settle within her borders had on the easiest terms ac-
quired proprietorship of her most valuable lands and of some of the
best sites along her shores for the prosecution of the fisheries, of
ship building, and of maritime trade generally. They contributed to
the Assembly the bulk of its membership, at least a moiety to that
of the Governor’s Council, and still larger proportion to the judica-
ture of the Province. The trade of Halifax was largely in their hands.
Under such conditions to think of turning rebels would savor of
ingratitude as well as disloyalty.

There were thus quite naturally opposing considerations making
their appeal to the minds and hearts of the New England settlers in
Nova Scotia during this time of stress. We can only interpret inner
sympathies by outward signs. A full and accurate record is necessary
to assure us of the value of the signs themselves.

There are undoubtedly to be found on the pages of fairly authentic
history, indications of considerable sympathy with the cause of the
American Revolution on the part of New England residents, in
Nova Scotia. Opinions as to the depth and extent of the sympathy,
and as to the likelihood of its having expressed itself more fully in
concrete act had circumstances been more favorable, widely differ.
As will be seen, there was a direct conflict on these points between
Governor Legge and Lieutenant-Governor Francklin although their
view do not cover the whole extent of the war. ILegge was pro-
foundly suspicious of New England loyalty from first to last, and
adhered to his distrust, even when reporting circumstances naturally
calculated to reduce or remove it, Thus he writes to the Earl of
Dartmouth :

“Our inhabitants of Passamaquoddy and Saint John's River are
wholly from New England, as are the greatest part of the inhabitants
of Annapolis, Horton, Falmouth and Newport, some of which are not
forty miles from this town; that by reason of their connection with
the will of the people of New England, little or no dependence can
be placed on the militia there, to make any resistance against them;
that many in this town are disaffected on whom likewise I can have
no great dependency.” At another time he writes that “the same
spirit (of resistance to his ‘Militia Law’) subsists in all the out
settlements and it will require the most diligent attention to prevail
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upon them, and prevent their joining with the enemy, in case of
invasion.” At the first of the letters from which the above extracts
are taken, but before the second, was written, Lieutenant-Governor
Francklin wrote as follows to Lord Dartmouth: “It is with the
utmost reluctance I am now obliged to inform your lordship that
there is great reason to believe, and it is confidently asserted, the
Governor has made representations to the officers of government, and
that few or none of the inhabitants of this Province in general but
what are disaffected, and are inclinable to give countenance and assist-
ance to the rebels now in arms against the Crown. If it be true that
Governor Legge has made such representations, I do avow and
assert that such representations are totally untrue, and without foun-
dation which can be made appear in a thousand instances.” Here is
something like a flat contradiction. '

Murdock surveys the general situation thus, though it must be
admitted that his view was taken before the outbreak in Cumberland
(“Eddy Rebellion”). “Thus’—rumors of an invasion were rife—
“the disaffected of whom we cannot conceal that there were some,
became disposed to abandon their passive discontent, and in the first
favorable moment to assume active enmity to the government. The
number, however, were not very great and they were chiefly confined
to one or two localities. In Halifax, the exceptions being very few,
and from those, it is believed, went no further than to desire that
the old colonies should be successful in defending the privileges of
self-government, the denial of which had given rise to the insurrection,
without aiming to extend the area of the conflict to this Province, or
disturbing its existing connection with England. That such senti-
ments were to be found in some of the men in this colony, who were
born and reared in New England, is not to be wondered at; but it
may be safely averred that not one of the Council or of the chief
public officers partook of even this modified disaffection or gave the
slightest ground of a just suspicion of disloyalty, but has, on all occa-
sions, acted up to the loyalty and obedience they openly professed.
In the western counties, the families from New England who had
settled on the vacated French lands, were attached to the Crown and
free from the spirit of innovation.” :

Compare with this description of New England settlement in Nova
Scotia, the following extract from Poole’s Annals of Yarmouth and
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Barrington. “No student of the history of Nova Scotia at this time
can carefully and without prejudice examine the records relating to
the subject and fail to arrive at the conclusion that the fate of the
whole Province hung upon a very slender thread and that its future
was decidedly quite as much by chance as by anything else. It is very
evident that a large portion of the inhabitants were greatly disaffected
and were in strong sympathy with the revolted colonies, whence a
greater part of them had but a few years previously removed.” The
opinions expressed in this extract, though apparently general in their
application, are based on documents having reference to condition in
the southwestern townships of Yarmouth and Barrington alone. A
further expression of opinion by Poole in the course of the work very
much modifies the impression which the passage quoted is calculated
to produce:

“With the commencement of hostilities the people of Yarmouth and
Barrington were placed in an extremely delicate position. There is
no evidence that the government at Halifax took any measures to
effectually protect them from the ravages of the almost piratical
American privateers, some of whom made little distinction between
friends and foes. In their exposed and defenceless position, any show
of hostility to the American cause, would have brought down on their
heads the most direful consequences. While there can be no ques-
tion but that a large portion of our people (Mr. Poole was a native
of Yarmouth) were moved by feelings of sympathy and good will
towards their American kinsmen, it cannot be claimed that they were
openly disloyal or disaffected with the Crown. They wished to be let
alone, and it is not difficult to understand the motives which prompted
the inhabitants of Yarmouth to petition the Governor and Council for
liberty either to return with their families to New England, to remove
them to Halifax for protection (from New England privateers) or
to be permitted to remain neutral (as were the inhabitants of the
Bermudas, Bahamas, and New Providence, although subject to Great
Britain). - The refusal of the Governor and Council to entertain any
of these propositions must have caused great disappointment.”

It may be explained that the extracts from the Massachusetts
Archives, and published in the form of “Annals,” refer chiefly, to
attempts on the part of fishermen and others to trade clandestinely
with Boston, with which place open commercial intercourse was of
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course banned by both governments. The passes obtained from Bos-
ton were afterwards used not to open a way to that city, but “as a
means of protection against American privateers while engaged in
fishing or coasting in their own small shallops or schooners, In a
great many instances our fishermen were able to save their vessels
from capture and confiscation by this shrewd Yankee ( ?) trick, though
it did not always succeed.” Such Nova Scotia vessels as did actually
go to Boston often gave American prisoners escaped from Halifax an
opportunity to make their way home, but often these rascals finding
in Boston privateers short of crews, would ship without delay to
prey on the business of those who had befriended them.

GOVERNOR LEGGE'S MILITIA LAW.

The “Militia Law” of Governor Legge was not a fair test of loyal
feeling in the townships. As proclaimed this required every able-
bodied inhabitant to report not only for home duty, but also foreign
service in the field. How was it received? Nowhere with enthusi-
asm, generally with cold indifference, in some places with loud remon-
strance. Legge’s intense unpopularity had penetrated to the remotest
townships, and nothing bearing the stamp of his name was likely
to prove acceptable. Cumberland protested most energetically. “Those
of us who belong to New England being invited into this Province by
Governor Lawrence’s proclamation, it must be the greatest piece of
cruelty and imposition for them to be subjected to march into different
parts, in arms and against their friends and relatives. The Acadians
among us being also under the same situation, most, if not all, having
friends distributed in different parts of America, and that done by
order of His Majesty.” Besides, if embodied, who would support their
families? Signed in Cumberland by 64 persons, Amherst 58, Acadians
51, Sackville 73. The people of Onslow, emphasized the hardship of
the law, and foresaw “ruin to their families.” The Onslow memorial
was signed by Joshua Lamb, and fifty-five other inhabitants. His
connection with this memorial cost Mr. Lamb his seat in the Assembly.
Truro called attention to yet another ground of objection, “the dangers
of drawing of men from their settlements, which are exposed to
_attack.” The petition was signed by Samuel Archibald and 63 others.
The proposal to arm the militia met with universal disfavor. Legge
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writes to the Earl of Dartmouth that a “law was passed to arm one-
fifth of the militia and that he had endeavored to arm them, but had
just been informed from Annapolis and Kings Counties that the people
in general refuse to be embodies.” Michael Francklin, who entirely
disapproved of the militia act as inopportune, unfair, and provoca-
tive, came to the rescue. Hearing from the commander at Hali-

fax, General Massey, that additional forces were needed, he proposed .

to Legge “to enroll a battalion of volunteer militia, to be ready to
act under my command, separate or on conjunction with H. M.
troops, in case of need. The Governor approved, and sent me a com-
mission, and between the 21st and 3oth of March 384 able-bodied
men were actually enrolled in the townships of Windsor, Falmouth,
Horton, Cornwallis and Newport.” He believes that they now amount
to 550, being more than g9-10 of all the able-bodied men in those
townships. He anticipates similar success in Cobequid and Cumber-
land, “although some few people in the latter have exhibited disaffec-
tion.” Legge had now taken farewell of Nova Scotia, and Commo-
dore Mariot Arbuthnot, who shortly before superseded Francklin as
Lieutenant-Governor, was administering the government. Francklin
pledged his hearty support to Arbuthnot and with the title of colonel,
undertook the duty of organizing the militia on the basis of voluntary
enlistment. 'He asked as a special favor that he should be permitted
to reside in the County (not township) of Cumberland: “My influ-
ence in the County of Cumberland is very considerable, from the
number of my own tenants, and a still greater number of inhabitants
from the North of England, who were introduced into the colony
through my means, and a great part of the other settlers are under
obligations to me for the very lands they occupy, and my having been
a prisoner in the hands of the Indians, in my youth and speaking
French, have always given me a very considerable influence among
the savages, and it is to be lamented that they have been too much
neglected, even since Mr. Legge’s administration (began) to the great
concern of the King’s servants here, and the frequent uneasiness of
the people.”

Lieutenant-Governor Arbuthnot, who was commissioner of the
dockyard, as well as Governor—Legge drew the full Governor’s sal-
ary till retired in 1781—inherited his predecessor’s impressions as to
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the disloyalty of the New England and Ulster township. These impres-
sions weakened considerably as he made official tours through the .
Province.

VOLUNTEER MILITIA.

The new Governor embraced an early opportunity to visit some of
the townships. He writes to Lord George Germaine on August I5,
1716. “I have taken an opportunity to visit the greatest part of the
townships of this Province, viz. Windsor, Horton, Cornwallis, and
reviewed the volunteer militia in each, under the command of Colonel
Francklin. They have bound themselves by oath to defend the
Province against all invaders, to the amount of 450 men in the whole.
Your lordship will conclude I embrace these opportunities of being
acquainted with the magistrate and better most people by dining
together. When I asked the officers it seemed to have a good effect,
and they unanimously expressed much loyalty, zeal and satisfaction.
After which I proceeded up Cobequid Bay, and landed at London-
derry, Onslow! and Truro, three townships inhabited by the off-
spring of those Irish immigrants who first settled Londonderry in
Massachusetts (New Hampshire), Scotchmen and Irish people, who
have been brought hither soon after the place began to be settled, a
strong, robust, industrious people—bigoted dissenters, and of course
great levellers. But my lord, how can it be otherwise, for to my
astonishment, no Governor had ever visited these poor people or sent
any person among them, so as to form a judgment of the necessary
steps to make those men useful subjects but on the contrary, they have
been left to be the parent of their own works. T found fully 500 men
capable of bearing arms, the finest men in the Province, settled on the
best land, and the most flourishing, because they are the most indus-
trious.”

Though somewhat out of chronological order it may be mentioned
that these fine people were quite content to be “the parent of their own
works,” were somewhat obstinate, and particularly objected to dicta-
tion even from the Governor and Council. In the spring following
Governor Arbuthnot’s visit, in view of the rebellion at Fort Cumber-
land about to be referred to, it was decided to administer the oath

10nslow was settled by New Englanders but even at that early date, an Ulster
element from Londonerry and Truro had begun to creep in.
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of allegiance generally through the townships. The Governor was not
a little surprised to learn that there were only five persons in the
three Cobequid townships who consented to be sworn. Somewhat
puzzled as to the class of offenders in which these Cobequid nonjurors
should be placed for prosecution, the Attorney-General decided to
treat them as “Popish recusants.” The original settlers of Truro,
some of whom were living had laid it as a positive injunction on
Alexander McNutt that he should “send them a minister from the
presbytery of Limavady.” The trial never came off. Somebody saw
the humor of the situation. The sitting member for Truro, however,
was deprived of his seat because he represented a self-disfranchised
community. This was in 1777.

THE EDDY REBELLION.

. In 1776 occurred the so-called “Eddy Rebellion” in Cumberland.
In the Appendix will be found an excellent account of the affair,
which deserves notice as the only case in which the spirit of disaffection
led to the actual taking up of arms and the shedding of blood.
As pointed out in the article published, the chief actors—three in
number—neither then were, or recently had been, members of the
Nova Scotia Assembly. In 1776—the year of the so-called Rebellion
—John Allen was member for the very township where the encounter
took place, and Samuel Rogers for the adjacent township of Sack-
ville. Jonathan Eddy was Allen’s immediate predecessor in the
representation of Cumberland. With a fourth associate—probably
the Continental Congress at Maugerville to urge an attack on Nova
Scotia. It is remarkable, but nevertheless a fact, that Samuel Rogers’
successor in the seat for Sackville, Robert Foster, was also a traitor.
We find him in 1777 memorialising the Board of War ‘“to consider
the case of Cumberland and Sunbury Counties in Nova Scotia,”” and
receiving in reply the following address to the Council of Massachusetts
Bay: “Resolved, That the Council of Massachusetts Bay be requested
to consider the case of the inhabitants of Cumberland and Sunbury
Counties in Nova Scotia, who are sufferers by their attachment to
the American cause; and to devise and put in execution at continental
expense, such measures as the said Council shall think practicable and
prudent, for the relief of the said sufferers; and to enable such of
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them as may be desirous of removing to a place of greater safety, to
bring off their families and effects. And the said Council is hereby
authorized to raise a number of men if necessary, for that service, not
exceeding five hundred, in such places as will least interfere with
the raising their quota of troops for the Continental Army.”
As one of the indirect results of the outbreak in Cumberland there
may be mentioned, in addition to the direct details given elsewhere,
the connection of Richard John Uniacke with the public life of Nova
Scotia. Moses Deslesderniers was a trader and extensive land owner
‘in Sackville. Uniacke, a well educated young Irishman of twenty-
one whom he had accidentally picked up in Philadelphia, was living in
his family as son-in-law, and employed in his store as clerk. Both
were suspected—probably without much grounds—of “disaffection.”
With three other “traitors” the young Irishman was arrested and sent
to Halifax for trial. Two of his fellow prisoners were tried, con-
 victed, and pardoned. One escaped from jail; nothing particular
seems to have happened to Uniacke. His movements while in Hali-
fax are shrouded in mystery. All that is known is that no formal
legal proceedings were taken against him, and that within a few
months he sailed for Ireland. At home, he completed the course of
legal study which he had begun learning in his American tour of
adventure. In April, 1781, he was back in Nova Scotia again, and
was at once admitted to the bar of the Province as barrister and
attorney. In December of the same year he was appointed Solicitor-
General, and so, either as Solicitor-General or Attorney-General, he
was a legal adviser of the Crown from December 3, 1781, to the day
of his death, October 11, 1830. Two years later (1783) he was
elected to the House of Assembly as member for the township of
Sackville. This seat he occupied for but two sessions, the last two
of the “Long Parliament,” with the dissolution of which Sackville
ceased to be a part of Nova Scotia. ‘

The writer! of one of the best biographical sketches to be found
in the Collections of the Nova Scotia Historical Society, referring to
this earlier part of Uniacke’s parliamentary career, says “that he was

~ apparently the leading man in the House, and an ardent supporter of
its constitutional rights.” Though his name will frequently recur in
this narrative, the relative frequency of its mention will be no measure

1 Senator L. G. Power.
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of the extent and continuity of his influence in public affairs, as the
secret council, rather than the popular assembly, was the centre from
which his long unchallenged dominancy was extended.

NOVA SCOTIA DURING THE REVOLUTIONARY WAR.

From a purely military point of view the history of Nova Scotia
during the period of the Revolutionary War is not particularly spirit-
stirring. - For the most part, there were “rumors of war” rather than
actual war, and when there was war, it was war on the smallest scale
and of a provokingly uninteresting type. If the voice of the great
and good George Washington had been listened to there might have
‘been, so far as Nova Scotia was concerned, no war at all.

Almost coeval with the breaking out of the war, the port of
Machias in Maine began to establish a reputation for itself as the
rendezvous of all sorts of adventurers, naval, military, and non-
descript, burning of course with patriotic ardor to serve their country,
but more anxious still to line their own pockets with spoils of the
enemy, especially of helpless ones like Nova Scotia. One of these
worthies, a Colonel Thompson, conceived a scheme that seemed likely
to accomplish both purposes, and that on a scale quite above the ordi-
nary, one worthy indeed to receive, if not to require, the sanction of
the commander-in-chief, who was at Cambridge seeing to it that the
beleagured British forces did not get out of Boston by land. The
Colonel’s “Proposal for destroying Nova Scotia” was thus outlined :
“For the expedition proposed, one thousand men, including officers,
four armed vessels and eight transports; the men to be raised at the
eastward. The fleet to be made up at Machias, and then to proceed to
Windsor to captivate the Tories, make all the proselytes we can; and
then proceed to Halifax. If possible destroy the King’s dockyard and
town, if thought proper.

“It may be undertaken for five thousand pounds, lawful money and
all that can be procured from the Tories, or ten thousand and one-
half of what is taken from them at Windsor. We understand there
is abundance of goods, which is the next capital town to Halifax. We
are lately informed there is not to exceed two hundred British troops

in-Halifax,”
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General Washington’s reply to this “Proposed Invasion of Nova

- Scotia” is as follows:

“Camp at Cambridge,
“Aug, 1ith. 1775

“Gentlemen :

“T have considered the papers you left with me yesterday. As to
the expedition proposed against Nova Scotia by the inhabitants of
Machias, I cannot but applaud their spirit and zeal, but after consid-
ering the reason offered for it, several objections occur which seem to
me unanswerable. 1 apprehend such an enterprise to be inconsistent
with the general principle upon which the colonies have proceeded.
That Province has not acceded, it is true, to the measure of Con-
gress, but it has not commenced hostilities against them, nor are
any to be apprehended. To attack it, therefore, is a measure of con-
quest rather than of defense, and may be accompanied with very
dangerous consequences. It might perhaps be easy, with the force
proposed to make an invasion into the Province, and overawe those
of the inhabitants who are inimical to our cause and for a short time
prevent them from supplying the enemy with provisions; but to pro-
duce any lasting effects the same force must continue.

“As to the furnishing vessels of force, you, gentlemen will antici-
pate me in pointing out our weakness and the enemy’s strength at sea.
There would be great danger that with the best preparation we could
make, they would fall an easy prey, either to the men of war on that
station or to some which would be detached from Boston. I have been
thus particular to satisfy any gentleman of the Court who should
incline to aZopt the measure. I could offer many other suggestions
against it, Somy of which I doubt not, all suggest themselves to the
honorable Pw/.rd, but is it necessary to enumerate them, when our situ-
ation, as to ammunition, absolutely forbids us sending a single ounce
of it out of the camp at present?

“I am, gentlemen, &c.,
“GEORGE WASHINGTON.”

This is an eminently sensible letter, General Washington had in
view a regularly organized expedition, which it was out of the power
of the Continental forces to supply. Moreover he doubts the expe-
diency, and indeed, the justice, of attacking a Province occupying the
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situation which Nova Scotia did. We hear no more of this particular
scheme of Colonel Thompson.

The “Provincial Congress of Massachusetts” now stepped in and
gave to the miscellaneous crowd rendesvoused at Machias what
amounted to a general letter of marque to prey on the shores and
waters of Nova Scotia. Most vexatious and destructive consequences
followed. That under very trying circumstances the Nova Scotia
authorities put forth earnest and unremitting, and in a large sense
successful efforts, to provide for the defence of the Province, can be
fairly claimed. No expedition that gave the slightest prospect of
acquiring possessory rights ever sailed into our harbor or landed on
our shores. On the one or two occasions in which really formidable
preparations for invading Nova Scotia caused alarm, the timely inter-
position of a British fleet averted the threatening danger. Halifax
soon became immune, and with Halifax secure, raids on the outlying
districts however annoying, were ineffective on the general issue.

No really effective defence, however, was possible against the
style of attack carried on by the men who rendevoused at Machias and
who had received their somewhat questionable credentials from the
Provincial Congress of Massachusetts.” This was war of the meanest
and most despicable type, and in fact bore scarcely a feature of legiti-
mate warfare. Privateering at its best, carried with it a train of
admitted evils, the impossibility of eradicating it which has caused it
to disappear from the belligerent code of all civilized nations. But
the privateering of the Machias marauders was simply a veiled
form of piracy in too many instances. Its connection with the general
war which the colonies were waging in order to effect their separation
from the British Crown was “exceedingly slight and tenuous. It
cannot be said that in the whole series of raids on the isolated hamlets
of Nova Scotia, carried on without much interruption during the
spring, summer and autumn months of five or six successive years, a
single instance can be named, which contributed in ever so slight a
degree to the eventual triumph of the American cause, while, on the
other hand the cruel and causeless depredations alienated in Nova
Scotia much of the sympathy originally felt for that cause by a
certain part of the population.?

!The son of a gentleman who during this period resided in Kings County 1s the
writer’s authority fo the statement that the raids of Machais whale-boat captains in
Cornwallis and Horton left the revolutionary cause without a sympathiser in Kings
County.
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The chief aim, or at any rate the chief result, of the operations
of the Machias privateers who ravaged the coasts of Nova Scotia,
was the seizure, and when appropriation was difficult or impossible, the
wanton destruction, of private property. The story need not be recited
in detail. ;

Nova Scotia commerce was swept from the seas. The ports—and
in those days travel and commercial intercourse were almost wholly

' by water—were cut off from the capital, and from one another, pro-
ducing not only inconvenience, but the severest hardships and priva-
tions. The semi-pirates by no means confined themselves to opera-
tions on sea. Scarcely a score of consecutive miles on the extended
coast-line of the greater Nova Scotia from the St. John to the Mira-
michi, were left without the honor of a “visit.” These visits took an
almost invariable form, seizure, confiscation and conflagration. The
series may be said to have begun at St. John in 1775 and to have ended
at Lunenburg in 1782. The affair at Lunenburg—the last of a number
at the same place—was a peculiarly offensive one. Indeed as
time wore on, the rapacity and cruelty of these freebooters grew with
the meat they fed on. No isolated hamlet that could be got at was
spared. Not much amelioration of treatment could be noticed even
in cases where the people of the settlement were supposed to be in
more or less sympathy with the raider’s own cause. So reckless and
highhanded did these proceedings become that even Col. John Allen,
of Eddy Rebellion fame, and who after as well as before, the Cum-
berland affair, had been in close touch with the Massachusetts authori-
ties, felt himself compelled to notify the latter that “such proceedings
(as those at Lunenburg, Annapolis, and Canso) will occasion more
Torys than 100 such expeditions will make good.” Colonel Allen
judged correctly. So had George Washington.

THE PROVINCE SUFFERED LITTLE.

Apart from buccaneering raids on hamlets and fishing stations and
the affair at Fort Cumberland, Nova Scotia cannot be said to have
felt the direct impact of the war between the older colonies and the
mother country. No weapon formed against Halifax, the vital centre
of the Provincial organism, seemed to prosper. "When the struggle
began, the little capital was in a most defenceless condition. A slight
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blow well directed would have sent it reeling to ruin. So culpable
had been the neglect that there was nothing, in the shape of either
fort or garrison, to withstand assault. Fortunately it was in the power

of the authorities to fix up the dismantled fortifications and provide °

troops for their defence, whereas, on the other hand schemes for “the
destruction of Nova Scotia,” like that of Colonel Thompson of
Machias were pretty sure to miscarry for the reason given by General
Washington—“The enemy’s strength is at sea.” Thus it happened
that from the beginning to the end of the long-drawn-out conflict,
Halifax was never in serious danger of capture, and that not because
she was intrinsically strong, but because her enemy was fatally weak
in ships. Murdock’s statement that “a reign of terror” prevailed
throughout the Province during the whole revolution period is strik-
ingly inapplicable to conditions at Halifax, though it may be accepted
as indicating the general sense of uneasy apprehension produced in
the out settlements by the incursions engineered from Machias and
Lubek.

For the first year or two, before the essential features of the
situation had been fully disclosed, there were, it is true, occasional
spasms of alarm, if not of panic, but long before the war came to a
close, these had been replaced by a general sense of security and con-
fidence.

Poole in his Annals conveys a decidedly erroneous impression by
representing the fate of Nova Scotia as hanging on a thread during
the entire war period. The fate of Nova Scotia depended on the fate
of Halifax, and as time passed on, the influential classes at the capital
increased in loyal attachment to the Crown, and the city in its capacity
ta resist attack. Notwithstanding Poole’s strong metaphor, it is doubt-
ful if, within the terminal limits of the war, a time can be named when
Halifax was in, not to say imminent, but even the remotest, danger
of passing out of the possession of Great Britain.

Credit has already been given to Governor Legge for the prompti-
tude and energy with which he faced the situation created by the revo-
lutionary outbreak in the summer of 1775. He found little material at
hand with which to carry on war either offensive or defensive. The
people of Machias having obtained authority from the Provincial Con-
gress “to adopt any warlike measures they thought fit against the
King’s troops and government” got to work at once. Lieutenant-
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Governor Francklin, learning that “depredations might be made in
the basin in Minas, by pirates from Machias,” wrote from Windsor
for an escort of troops. Francklin was informed that the militia must
be depended on for the defence of the country, as there were only
thirty-six effective men in the garrison at Halifax.

Then came proclamation after proclamation, winding up with
one putting the whole Province under martial law. It is not neces-
sary to go into the details of Legge’s mainly abortive schemes of rais-
ing troops. “One regiment of one thousand men to be composed of
Germans, neutrals and Irish (without regard to their religion) might
partly be raised in the Province and partly in Newfoundland.” It
will be noticed how carefully the Governor excludes the New England-
ers from the list of nationalities from which the regiment was to be
drawn. Later in the year he proposed to raise another regiment of
equal proportions for the defence of Halifax, but succeeded in securing
the enlistment of but one-tenth of the required number. Still later
(November 27, 1775,) he has encouraging news to communicate to the
Secretary of State. “Upwards of seven hundred of the principal
inhabitants of the County of Halifax, Kings County and Annapolis,
have not only taken the oath, but entered into an association, acknowl-
edging their duty and fidelity to his Majesty, the supremacy of Parlia-
ment, etc., etc.” This was encouraging. Somewhat out of chronologi-
cal order it may be mentioned that the Governor obtained from Gen-
eral Gage in Boston “ten companies of the 14th and about 70 men of
the “Royal Fencible Americans.” Colonel Gorham was now able to
report three hundred and ninety men in the garrison of Halifax, but
of these, unfortunately, only one hundred and twenty-six were
returned as fit for duty. The latter facts suggests that General Gates
had taken advantage of Tegge's application to get rid of some of his
invalided men. On the whole the general tone of Legge’'s communica-
tion to the home authorities is grumbling and despondent, small as
was the number of troops, they are “disobedient” as well as “insignifi-
cant,” a fact which the Governor had duly made General Gates aware
of. The Ministry is informed that “there is not the least kind of
defence about the town,” and that “we lay open to the country on
every side—the batteries are dismantled—16 carriages of guns are all
decayed and they are lying on the ground. For the present all that
could be done was to fortify the navy yard with temporary block-
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houses and palisades. It was thought too late in the season to
fortify Citadel Hill.”

Though H. M. S. Tarter, H. M. 5, Senegal, and an armed
schooner had been ordered to proceed to Machias “to destroy the
enemy’s preparations,” it proved to be a case of locking the door after
the horse was stolen. The order was given on the 16th of August. A
few days before the band of marauders whose aims the Tartar and
Senegal were sent to frustrate had sailed into St. John's harbor, took
possession of a brig, laden with oxen, sheep and swine, intended for
the royal troops in Boston, and after capturing Fort Frederick and
making prisoners of its former occupants, had burned it to the ground.
It was supposed that they had made off to Annapolis, so Captain
Le Cras of the Tartar was instructed to cross the bay and keep a

~ sharp look out for the marauders. The bird had flown to places

unknown or inaccessible to Captain Le Cras. It would have been folly
to seek a second cargo before disposing of the first.

The opening year of the war closed none too encouragingly. The
report that the Congress of Massachusetts had embodied a large expe-
dition (13,000 men) to besiege Halifax and had been hindered in the
attempt, simply by rumors of smallpox in the place to be attacked, is
probably pure fiction. But bad news that could be relied on came from
outside points. Montreal had fallen to American invaders. Governor
Calbeck of the Island of St. John had been seized and imprisoned by
the crews of two privateeers from Marblehead. Legge kept assuring
the Ministry that both the Assembly and his Council were honey-
combed with treason. One thing, however, he felt bound to say on
behalf of Nova Scotia: “It is the only settled Province on the sea
coast which has preserved itself from the madness and contagion
which have overspread all the other of His Majesty’s colonies.”

OUTLOOK IS DISCOURAGING.

Gloomy enough was the outlook for Nova Scotia, notwithstanding
her happy preservation from “madness and contagion.” At the open-
ing of 1776 Quebec was the only part of Canada which Montgomery
and his Provincials did not hold. The British troops were still shut
up in Boston. The rumors of that big expedition which was to lay
Halifax low, had not completely died out. Legge resolved on some-
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thing drastically severe. Martial law was declared. He could not
trust his Council any longer. The military defence of the colony could
not tolerate men who revealed the secrets of government to the rebel
foe. So the Governor nominated an inner Council—a Council of
war, to consist of the commanding officer of the troops, the commander
of the navy, Morris, the surveyor-general of the Province, Creighton
of Lunenburg, and Lieutenant-Colonel Denson of his own regiment.
It is again noticeable how severely he cuts Jonathan Binney and Henry
Newton, members of the regular Council for many years, and each
of whom continued to sit as councillor until his death. Their exclusion
from this special Council of War did not affect their right to sit at the
regular board. The former had perhaps advisory power, but no legal
nor constitutional status, The Commander-in-Chief at this particular
time was General Massey. The commodore of the navy was Marriott
Arbuthnot, shortly to be appointed Lieutenant-Governor.

(1) John Creighton was an English officer, who was discharged
on half pay at the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle, Coming to Halifax in
1749 he accompanied the German settlers a few years later to Lunen-
burg, where he resided until his death in 1897. Soon after his desig-
nation to this military board, he received an appointment to the regular
Provincial Council.

(2) Henry Denny Denson—Presumably of Rhode Island birth,
was one of the original grantees of Falmouth, in which township he
became a large landed proprietor. - His influence, which he invariably

‘exerted in support of the established order of things, was very great

among the New England settlers of Falmouth and Newport. He was
for many years a representative of Kings County in the Assembly.

(3) Of General Massey’s career in the army the histories give us
scant information. His previous sphere of duty seems to have lain
largely in the West Indies. On examination of the brief records we
have of his term of service in Halifax gives a favorable impression
of his character and abilities. Fort Massey perpetuates his name.
First extended to an adjacent military cemetary, then to the surround-
ing residential area, its use is now chiefly to designate a church which
is one of the ecclesastical ornaments of Halifax.

Three Lijeutenant-Governors in succession held office during the
period intervening between the retirement of Legge in 1776 and the

(33)
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appointment of John Parr a Governor-in-Chief in 1782. These were
Commodore Marriott Arbuthnot, already named (1776-1778). Sir
Richard Hughes (1778-81) and Sir Andrew Snape Hammond (1781-
82). Each of these gentlemen was a naval officer, and of the two
latter, each filled during the term of his Lieutenant-Governorship the
post of “Commissioner of His Majesty’s Navy Yard.” An economical
consideration dictated this rather peculiar amalgamation of official
duty. Legge had been shelved with the retention of the title and
emoluments of the governorship. This arrangement plainly involved
the necessity of a distinct military staff. General Massey, the newly

- appointed Commander-in-Chief worked in harmony with the Gov-
ernors, and made the most of the few troops at his disposal to defend
Nova Scotia against her enemies. It was indeed the day of smail
things. Thirty men were sent to Lunenburg, fifty to Yarmouth. two
companies of Marines, under Majot Batt, were all that could he
spared for Fort Cumberland when danger threatened in that quarter.
The reinforeements happily proved ample.

Gradually however, General Massey found the number at his
disposal sensibly augmented. The arrival of “Major Small, 2nd Bat-
talion Highlanders sent here by General Howe (from New York)
was very opportune, for just at that time a whole fleet of Machias
whale-boats had entered the St. John.- This was interpreted as a
prelude to a general attack on Nova Scotia, so it was determined to
nip the evil in the bud. This was effected by a joint force of regulars
and militia from Halifax and Windsor, under Brigade Major Stud-
holme, of the Royal Fencibles and Colonel Francklin.,” In October,
1777, there were in the Province thirteen hundred men “fit to do
duty”. Five companies of marines (about six hundred men) Lieu-
tenant Gorhan's Corps, one hundred and seventy men; Major Small’s
Highland Emigrants, not four hundred, part at Fort Cumberland and
part at Windsor; Legge’s Corps, twenty -on board of a sloop and
forty digging coal, at Spanish River (Sydney).

This number was splendidly swollen the ensuing spring. A bri-
gade of troops arrived from the Clyde, consisting of the 7oth Tyrone’s,
—72nd, the Hamilton’s, under Colonel Francis McLean,—74th,
Campbell’s Regiment of Highlanders, with these were Major Small’s
Battalion of Highlanders, Major Santer’s Battalion of Marines and
Gorham’s and Legge’s Corps, making a total of five thousand troops.
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Francklin commanded the “Indian Allies,” Winckworth Tonge the
militia. A year or two before Francklin had received the imperial
appointment of Indian Commissioner. Murdock is our authority for
stating that Colonel Tonge enjoyed the especial confidence of General
Wolfe. General Massey had distinguished himself at Carthagena,
Niagara, Martinco and Havana. General McLean had earned an
honorable name as Commander-in-Chief of the Portugese army.
With such officers and five thousand men available for the protection
of the Province, it is not strange that a sweet sense of security took
possession of the public mind.

GOVERNOR HUGHES.

Lieutenant-Governor Arbuthnot received notice of his being made
a Rear-Admiral, and at once returned to England to take possession
of his flag ship. Navy Yard Commissioner, Sir Richard Hughes was
sworn in as his successor on August 17, 1778. One of Arbuthnot’s
last official acts was to request funds for the employment of a priest
to act as missionary to the Indians. Fifty pounds were voted and one
hundred pounds were promised as a salary. This was probably due
to the suggestion of the Indian Commissioner Michael Francklin,
whose conciliatory policy was as effective with the Indians as it has
been with the Acadians. Shorty after Francklin negotiated a treaty
of amity with a common congress of Micmacs and Malicites at St.
John. The peace, however, cost in presents for the Indian diplomats
no less than four hundred and thirty-seven pounds, two shillings and
nine pence. In addition there was an outlay of forty pounds for Mr.
Francklin’s table “whilst he remained among them”. These expenses
were ordered to be paid, and a claim made on the Secretary of State
to reinburse the Province. The Rev. Mr. Bennett, “itinerant mission-
ary,” put in a claim for expenses incurred in conciliating the same, or
other, red men in 1776 or 1777. This claim was passed on with a
recommendation to the Lords of Trade. Regarding the treaty referred
to is the following reference in Lieutenant-Governor Hughes's letter
to the Secretary of State of the 12th October 1778:

“T cannot speak too highly of the talents, zeal and diligence of
the Hon. Mr. Francklin, our superintendent for Indian affairs, to
whose discreet conduct and steady perseverance, assisted by Major
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Studholm and M. Bourg, the priest, we owe the success of this treaty.”
Hughes adds that the “Indian Chiefs returned into the hands of our
superintendent the presents which they had received fmm the rebel
General Washington.”

Though his name has passed into complete oblivion, no Governor
of Nova Scotia has ever discerned more clearly the condition, or
interpreted more correctly the needs of the Province commiited to
his care than did Commissioner Hughes. In his eyes England had
committed an unpardonable crime in allowing picaroons from Mach-
ias to destroy fisheries at Canso, worth at least fifty thousand pounds
a year. For years, whenever the fleet had happened to be away, rebel
cruisers had stationed themselves, some towards Margaret’s Bay, some
towards Jeddore, to pounce on coasting vessels and merchant ships
making for Halifax harbour. And if such things can happen almost
in site of Citadel Hill, what wonder that the remoter coasts have been
so terribly ravaged and Nova Scotia shipping swept from the seas?
The advice of Governor Hughes was to fight fire with fire. For
larger operations the war ships of the fleet can well be depended on.
The crafts which are doing all this incalculable damage hug the shore,
steal in to the smallest harbours and hide themselves in the fog. The
‘only salvation consists in putting out smaller cruisers that can go
where they go and sailed by captains and manned by men who are up
to all their tricks. Hughes successfully urged reciprocity in the priva-
teering business. Halifax and Liverpool competed both as to which
should be first, and which should do the most to meet the Governor’s
wishes. Then a miniature provincial navy made its appearance in
our coastal waters, and did good service. The Governor made a vig-
orous appeal to the Ministry to subsidise the Loyal Nova Scotian, the
first of these home-made war craft. The appeal seems to have been
unsuccessful. The result cannot be attributed to any want of elabora-
ration on the part of the Governor in presenting the claims of the
Loyal Nova Scotian. A single sentence of his letter contains no less
than one hundred and ten words. The Provincial Assembly came to
the rescue with a vote of two hundred pounds, which, however, would
not go very far as the monthly expense of the cruiser for wages and
provisions amounted to one hundred and twenty-five pounds. This
was followed shortly after by a resolution to devote no less a sum
than five thousand pounds to the construction of a fleet after the model
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of the Loyal Nova Scotian. The Province soon had afloat a domestic
navy, some four ships in all, of an average tonnage of fifty or sixty
tons. The advantage would have been greater had the policy been
adopted earlier.

The fires of privateering once kindled, blazed forth fiercely, and
contributed during the remaining months of the war its conspicuous
feature so far as Nova Scotia was concerned.

MAJIBIGWADUCE.

During the French rule in Acadia there were few better known
seaports than Pentagoet, in these days Anglice Penobscot. It recalls
the names of Claude la Tour, who originally etablished a fort there,
of Charnisay and of Grandfontaine, who after the Treaty of Breda,
made it the capital of Acadia. Since the beginning of the eighteenth
century it has been known as Castine, a name derived from that of
the Indianised French Baron, who made the district around his hunt-
ing ground. It occurred to the military authority at Halifax that
the place, then bearing the singular name Majibigwaduce, still pos-
sessed considerable strategetic importance. An expedition under
General McLean was therfore fitted out at Halifax for the purpose
of seizing and fortifying it. The movement bade fair to be successful.
McLean landed his force at Majibigwaduce without opposition and at
once proceeded to erect proper fortifications. Before much progress
had been made in that direction a strong armament from Portland
completely invested him, the squadron having brought, it is supposed,
not less than ten thousand men. In this emergency a relief force,
made as strong as circumstances allowed, started from Halifax, but
before progressing far was driven back by a gale.

Meanwhile, Sir Percy Collier at New York, having learned of the
tight box in which McLean was encased, started without delay to
raise the siege. The American commander had fixed on the 14th of
August as the day on which the half-finished fort was to be assaulted.
Collier with six or seven stout men-of-war put in an appearance just in
time to break up the plan. Accounts vary as to the fate of the invest-
ing force. Murdock’s statement that Collier destroyed the entire fleet
of thirty-seven vessels of war and transports is too strong. The siege
however was raised. Several, perhaps many, of the American vessels
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sailed up the river, and were set fire to by their crews before decamp-
ing to the woods. Majibigwaduce was held firmly by the British to
the end of the war.

General McLean returned to Halifax, leaving Majibigwaduce in
charge of Colonel Campbell. He busied himself with strengthening
the fortifications of Halifax, though his important capture on the
Penobscot had much lessened the danger to which the capital had been
exposed. “The Governor and Council resolved that one-sixth of the
militia of the townships of Lunenburg, Windsor, Falmouth, Newport,
Horton, Cornwallis, Cumberland, Trﬁr‘o, Onslow and Londonderry
should be employed for three weeks on the works at Halifax, which
they computed would furnish two hundred workmen for that time.”
General McLean did not live long to continue his meritorious activi-
ties. He died in 1781.

CLOSING EVENTS OF THE WAR.

The closing year or two of the long-drawn-out war brought with
them no particular signs of danger to Nova Scotia. The establish-
ment of Majibigwaduce indicated the wisdom of the McLean expedi-
tion. By an arrangement between the belligerents for a regular cartel
exchange of prisoners, Halifax was relieved of a most troublesome
and expensive burden, seeing that for years in succession the number
of colonial prisoners to be provided for had ranged from five to
eight hundred men. In privateering exploits and in the battles of the
cruisers, Halifax well maintained her credit for nautical skill and for
the courage that does not shrink from fighting against odds. Passing
by for want of space the more important of the ventures and encounters
which made up the maritime history of the closing epoch of the war
as it affected Nova Scotia, we quote from Murdock an account of an
incident not generally noticed: “On the 21st of May (1781) about
thirty rebels, in a shallop mounting one carriage gun and six swivels,
with two armed whale-boats, came up the Bay of Fundy, and took
a schooner belonging to Captain Sheffield, laden with goods for the
river St. John, and carried her down the bay, and was pursued by
Captain Bishop and Captain Crane in a small schooner with thirty-
five men, which, after an engagement of twenty-five minutes, the
rebels took and made prisoners; upon which Lieutenant Belcher of
the Volunteer Militia of Cornwallis, with twenty-eight volunteers
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embarked on board of an armed sloop at that place, and proceeded
down the bay after the rebels; when they came up with it, and retook
Captain Sheffield’s vessel, after killing one rebel. The rebels took to
their whale-boat and ran ashore at Cape Split, where Lieutenant
Belcher! could not follow them for want of boats. After which he
gave chase to the vessels taken from Captain Bishop, upon which
Captain Bishop discovered the vessel coming after them, rose upon
the rebels and retook the vessel, the sloop, with the prizes and made
the rebels prisoners, returned to Cornwallis, the 1st inst. and on Sun-
day, the prisoners arrived here and were put in confinement. The ex-
penses incurred in hiring the armed sloop, pay of the militiamen,* etc.,
and bringing the prisoners from Horton to Cornwallis, came to one
hundred and seventy-five pounds, fourteen shillings and four pence.”

However things might be going in Nova Scotia the end of the
great struggle was near at hand. The French alliance which for a
time seemed to contribute nothing to the colonial cause at last bore
fruit. Tt was at a very dark moment when a considerable number of
the Washington troops were in semi-mutiny and the congressional ex-
chequer was empty that the French fleet by threatening New York,
indirectly effected a fatal division of the army of Cornwallis. It ob-
tained also a full control of Chesapeake Bay and enabled Washington
and Lafayette to effect a junction, and with their united forces to
closely invest Cornwallis at Yorktown. The British fleet, with rein-
forcements sent by Clinton from New York, arrived five days too late
to save the day. On October 19, 1781, Cornwallis surrendered his
land forces to Washington, his ships to Lafayette.

The unique character of the circumstances, accompanying, and
contributing to the wind up of the struggle has never been more truly
- and more strikingly set forth than by Archdeacon Raymond, who
says s

“The final outcome of the revolution was that all the colonies that
had heen settled by the English were lost, while those they had wrested
from France were preserved to the Crown. This was certainly a
singular thing. Another curious circumstance was that France should
have heen largely instrumental in enabling the colonies, which had

The Belcher family in Cornwallis was not, so far as is known, even remotely
Connected with that of Chief Justice Belcher of Halifax. It is no longer found there,
but Belcher street perpetuates the family name.

*It may be noted that all the men mentioned in connection with this gallant
€Xploit belonged to New England families and are still represented in Kings County.
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so greatly injured her in the past, to achieve their independence, and
on the other hand Canada proved loyal to England.”

CIVIL HISTORY DURING WAR PERIOD.

Murdock deplores that during the war period there were so few
civil events of importance for the historian to take note of. Governor
succeeded Governor. The “Long Parliament” held its annual sessions.
Prominent officials passed away. Chief Justice Belcher died in 1780
and was succeeded by Mr. Bryan Finucane. Some important acts
were passed. The office of Provost Marshal, the name given to the
officer who had control of elections throughout the Province, was
abolished. Sheriffs were appointed for the respective counties, and
in order to secure royal sanction of the Act abolishing the Provost-
Marshalship, Mr. Fenton, the retired official, was voted a pension of
one hundred pounds for life. (Atlantic Provinces of Canada, Vol. 1,
Dii40:)

A motion was made by Mr. Shaw of Annapolis that “the House do
take into consideration the establishing a public school in such part
of the Province as shall be thought proper.” This motion led to the
appointment of a committee to report a plan for such a school, which
committee recommended a grant of fifteen hundred pounds, “to defray
the expense of erecting a proper and convenient building in the town
of Halifax,” said sum to be raised in the manner as shall be directed
by the General Assembly.

In 1781, Sir Richard Hughes—knighthood and naval promotion
came together—was appointed ‘“Rear-Admiral of the Blue.” He was
succeeded in both the Lieutenant-Governorship and the Commissioner-
ship of the Navy Yard by Sir Andrew Snape Hammond. Mr. Shaw
of Annapolis was ordered to prepare a bill “to repeal certain clauses in
the laws of this Province which affect persons professing the Catholic
religion.” Windsor, Falmouth and Newport “with the lands con-
tiguous thereto” were detached from the County of Kings, and made
a separate county, to be called for reasons unknown, the County of
Hants. It was alleged that Horton, the county town of Kings, was
inconveniently situated. The region (part of Halifax County)
hitherto called Cobiquid, was henceforth to be known as Colchester,

:
i
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and the district was extended so as to include Tatamagouche. Under
the act for establishing a public school at Halifax, managers and
directors were appointed, the majority of whom, Jonathan Binney
and Henry Newton among the number, were members of His
Majesty’s Council. A lottery, more or less successful, was resorted to
for raising the fifteen hundred pounds appropriated by the Assembly
for a building.




CHAPTER VIII.

CLOSE OF THE WAR—UNITED STATES AN INDEPENDENT NATION—GOV-
ERNOR PARR—DEATH OF MICHAEL FRANCKLIN—LAST SESSION
OF THE LONG PARLIAMENT—NOVA SCOTIA DIVIDED—
IMMIGRATION OF LOYALISTS—SIXTH GENERAL ASSEM-
BLY—NEW BRUNSWICK—CAPE BRETON.

The preliminary articles between Great Britain and the United
States of America were signed at Paris by the commissioners of the
respective nations on November 30, 1782. During the few months
preceding this important event, occurrences worthy of note had taken
place in connection with the public service of Nova Scotia. On the
19th of October, John Parr, Esq., had been proclaimed according to
the stereotyped phrase “Captain General and Governor-in-Chief of
H. M. Province of Nova Scotia” and duly commissioned Vice-Admiral
of the same. Sir Andrew Snape Hammond was continued in office
as Lieutenant-Governor, but having expected promotion to the Gov-
ernorship respectfully resigned the subordinate position. In his letter
to the Earl of Shelburne, tendering his resignation he thus gives voice

to his disappointment: . “I accepted of that appointment, my lotd,,

on the strongest assurances of succeeding to the Governorship, and I
am free to own to your lordship my regret at being thus so suddenly
and unexpectedly removed, as it carries with it an appearance of being
the consequence of His Majesty's disapprobation of my conduct, and
a consideration, which indeed, greatly lessens the satisfaction I should
otherwise have felt from the public testimonies I have received of the
approbation of the inhabitants of this Province with the measure of my
administrations.” Sir Andrew Snape as a token of appreciation had
voted him by Council 10,000 acres of land on the River St. John.
Hammond River, a fine tributary of the St. John perpetuates his name.

On the 8th of November, Michael Francklin’s honorable career
came to a close. He was for ten years in succession Lieutenant-Goy-
ernor, and, especially while Lord William Campbell nominally, filled
the Governorship-in-Chief, was for extended periods actual adminis-
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trator, yet he was never raised to the highest position. Such elevation
would have added nothing to his well deserved fame. He was content
to serve his country without caring much for titular distinction.
While his nominal superior was off on his pleasure trips, Francklin
was helping the new settlers solve their vexatious problems, particu-
larly he was bringing back, as many exiles as he could to the Acadia
of their dreams. As a merchant, an assemblyman, a councillor, a lieu-
tenant-governor, an organizer of the Provincial forces in time of great-
est need, a rallying point for the discouraged in their hour of utmost
danger, a Christian gentleman, and if you like, a country gentleman
too, when he could snatch a moment for Windsor or Franklin Manor.?
Nova, Scotia has had few public servants more worthy of enduring
memory than Michael Francklin.

LOYALISTS SEEK NEW HOMES.

The treaty of peace between Great Britain and her former colonies
once concluded, it then became necessary for those who had remained
loyal to the crown to flee from the land of their birth or their adoption.
There was, however, a year’s grace for those who could obtain access
to New York.

Boston set the pace for the rest of Massachusetts: “Therefore
resolved, that this town will, at all times, as they have done, to the
utmost of their power, oppose every enemy to the just rights and
liberties of mankind; and that after so wicked a conspiracy against
those rights and who have been refugees, and declared traitors to
their country, it is the opinion of this town, that they ought never to
be suffered to return but to be excluded from having lot or portion
among us.

Indeed, before the peace had been formally concluded, streams
of refugees had begun to pour forth into British territory as opportun-
ity offered. Parr on his accession to office was deluged with applica-
tions for land and building material for the thousands who must
be out of New York when evacuation day arrived. Amos Botsford
was chairman of a committee sent on to Nova Scotia to select lands
on which large groups of exiled loyalists might build new homes

Francklin Manor was situated on the west side of River Hebert, between the
estates of Colonel Barron (Barronsfield) and Colonel Blair. Francklin Manor is now
the site of some of the finest farms in Nova Scotia. Francklin did not lock up his
lands. He put settlers on them and improved them. :
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for themselves." = This committee had its attention first drawn to a
practically uninhabited region called the township of Conway, stretch-
ing from Annapolis to Saint Mary’s Bay, and now known as the
County of Digby. “A very good soil and favorable to the fishery,”
was the committee’s report. The St. John River was then visited and
the Maugerville settlers are described as “wealthy farmers, having
flocks of cattle.” Botsford writes from Annapolis where they returned
to spend the winter: “Some of our people choose Conway, others
give the preference to St. John. Our people (a small body of immi-
grants had accompanied the committee) who came with us are settled
here for the winter; some at the fort; some in the town, while others
extend up the Annapolis River nearly twenty miles, having made
terms with the inhabitants; some are doing well, others are living on
their provisions. Their behaviour is as orderly and regular as we
could expect.” Eventually about ten thousand loyalists settled on the
St. John; about three thousand in Annapolis. A number variously
estimated from eight to twelve thousand sought to build a city on the
site of McNutt’s new Jerusalem at Port Roseway. To provide sites
for these and numerous other bands of settlers, escheats of granted
lands were now the order of the day.

~ The “Long Parliament”—though the Governor had received
royal instructions authorizing dissolution “if thought useful”’—con-
tinued to live on. It met in its sixteenth session on the 6th of
October, 1783, William Nesbitt still in the chair. Time, however,
had brought infirmities with it. Nesbitt tendered his resignation to
take effect at the end of the session. The House voted him one
hundred pounds a year for life. He had been a member of every
Assembly from the beginning, and speaker since 1759. He was also
Attorney General for twenty-five years. The House was in a pecu-
liarly generous mood. It voted Governor Parr “five hundred pounds
towards the support of his table, on account of the unusual resort of
strangers to this Province.” It also voted additions to official salaries
pretty nearly all round. Also “that there be paid to John Creighton,
Esquire, colonel of militia for the County of Lunenburg for himself,

The next summer Mr. Bottsford was appointed to locate those of the settlers who
preferred to settle on Annapolis Basin. He, himself, put down his stakes in Sack-
ville, N. B., where he acquired partly by grant, partly by purchase, the magnificent
Westcock property. He was a graduate of Yale, one of the first representatives of
Westmorland County in the New Brunswick Legislature and a speaker of the House
for many years. Charles Dixon, the Yorkshire immigrant, was his colleague in the
first New Brunswick Assembly.
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a non-commissioned and one private (who were made prisoners at
Lunenburg and carried to New England) the sum of one hundred and
six pounds, nineteen shillings, out of the arrears of the land tax due
from the counties of Lunenburg and Queens, when the same shall
be paid from the treasury.”

An Act of Oblivion extended a “full pardon for all treason and
misprision of treason in connection with the late war to all H. M.
subjects of this Province without any exception.” Roman Catholics
were freed from all disabilities in regard to the holding of lands and
the celebration of public worship.! The process of escheating lands
went on apace. One of many vessels sailing from New York for
Nova Scotia in September, 1783, was wrecked between Cape Sable
and the Tuskets. Ninety-nine perished and seventy-five were saved.
Fishing boats conveyed the rescued passengers to the St. Johmn,
whither they were bound when wrecked. The new loyalist town at
the mouth of the St. John was christened Parrtown.

LONG PARLIAMENT'S LAST SESSION.

On November 1, 1784, the seventeenth and last session of the fifth
General Assembly of the Province was convened. The most important
announcement in the opening speech of Governor Parr was “that the
King had divided the Province into two governments” and that the
new Province, to be called New Brunswick, embraced all the territory

» %ying north of a line “drawn from the mouth of the River Missiquash
in the Bay of Fundy, to its source, and from thence across the
“isthmus into the nearest part of the Bay Verte.” Allusion was also
made to the new arrangement by which Cape Breton was withdrawn
from the jurisdiction of Nova Scotia, with a lieutenant-governor of its
own. By his commission, Parr, as captain-in-chief and Governor Gen-
eral, had under him as subordinate the lieutenant-governors of Cape

The Roman Catholics of Halifax, who had become numerous, availed them-
Selves of the remedial legislature recently passed to provide themselves with the
facilities of public worship. They acquired the land on which St. Mary’s Cathedral
Now stands and erected a church which stood nearly opposite the head of Salter street.
The frame of the church was raised in presence of a great concourse of gentlemen and
Other people,

Parr reports the total number of loyalist immigrants as nearly 30,000, and states
U:at “as nothing will contribute more to the quiet of the minds of the loyalists of the
Providence than being represented in the House of Assembly, I am to request H. M.
‘TIOY&l instructions to increase the number of that House.” Reports began to circulate
\that Nova Scotia and Canada were to be divided into several Provinces—that there
Vas to be a governor at Parrtown and another at Halifax.




514 HISTORY OF NOVA SCOTIA.

Breton and St. John's Island. Though the division of Nova Scotia
into two Provinces had been practically effected by the appointment
of Governor, judges, law-officers, and other officials sometime prior
to the meeting of the Assembly at Halifax, the members from the
northern constituencies already thrown into New Brunswick sat as
usual and took part in the business of the House. Richard J. Uniacke,
who represented an out-going constituency (Sackville) was chairman
of the committee to prepare an answer to the Governor’s speech.  He
also got a motion passed to provide a place “for the freeholders to hear
the debates.”

No business of importance was transacted at the closing session
of the “Long Parliament.” It was felt that the problem of the new
era—with peace restored, and New Brunswick and Cape Breton lop-
ped off—should be left to a House fresh from the people. Four
members were lost as a consequence of the division, two for the
County of Sunbury, one each for the townships of Sackville and
Cumberland. An act provided for the addition of six, two each for
the counties of Shelburne, and Sydney, and one for each of the tdwn-
ships of Shelburne and Digby.

On December 24, 1784 Sampson Salter Blowers was appointed
Attorney-General of Nova Scotia in succession to William Nesbitt,
deceased. Mr. Blowers was the first loyalist immigrant to receive
an appointment to public office in Nova Scotia. As he had a long and
illustrious career in Nova Scotia his name will recur more than once
in the subsequent narrative.!

The early history of Blowers is admirably given by Dr. A. W. H. Eaton, in a
recent number of Americana. A graduate of the Boston Latin School and of Harvard,
and a law student with Governor Thomas Hutchinson, he afterwards practiced law
with distinguished success in Boston, Adhering to the royal cause, he was obliged
by the exigencies of war to take refuge in Rhode Island, then under British occupa-
tion, where he was appointed judge of the Rhode Island Court of Vice-Admiralty,
When the English were obliged to evacuate Newport, Blowers repaired to England
to seek some compensation for his financial losses. This he obtained in the shape of
an appointment to the solicitor generalship of New York, still a British possession.
When the time came, as it soon did, for New York to be evacuated, Mr. Blowers
repaired to Halifax, arriving there on the 25th of September, 1783. When the new
Province of New. Brunswick was being provided with an official staff, Mr. Blowers
was designated as its first Attorney General, but relinquished the position on receiv-
ing a similar appointment for Nova, Scotia. In a letter to a friend in St. Louis, written
Jjust after he had reached Halifax, he thus reported prospects: “I have been politely
received by the Governor, and have seen several of the great men here, and I am
told by them all that my coming among them is agreeable and that I shall soon
find business. This last I am inclined to doubt in any extreme degree.” His doubts
were soon removed. One year after, in 1784, he was made Attorney General, and then
proceeded to climb the ladder of promotion rapidly, in 1785 member and speaker of
the Assembly; in 1788, member of the Council; in 1797, Chief Justice of Nova Scotia,
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NEW ASSEMBLY.

Shortly after Blowers accession to the Attorney Generalship Chief
Justice Finucane, whom the Gazette of the day pronounced “an upright
judge an honest man—a warm friend and an accomplished gentle-
man—opassed away. The post fell to Isaac Deschamps, whom Blowers
was destined to succeed in 1797.

The sixth General Assembly, the elections for which had been held
the preceeding month, met in its first session on December 5, 1785.
The members elected were:

County of Halifax—S. S. Blowers, J. G. Pyke, R. J. Uniacke, M.
Wallace.

County of Lunenburg—D. C. Jesson, J. W. Schwartz.

County of Queens—S. Perkins, B. Collins.

County of Annapolis—T. Barclay, D. Seabury.

County of Hants—B. DeWolfe, W. Tonge.

County of Kings—]. Crane, E. Lawrence.

County of Cumberland—]. B. Dwight, C. Harper.

County of Shelburne—A. Lockie, C. McNeal.

Town of Sydney—]J. F. Buckley, J. Putnam,

Town of Halifax—]. Fillis, W. Town of Falmouth—]. Northup.

Cochran. Town of Cornwallis—DB. Belcher-
Town of Lunenburg—C. Wol- Town of Horton—G. Dennison.

lenhaupt. - Town of Amherst—W.  Free-
Town of Liverpool—E. Dean. man.

Town of Yarmouth—S.S.Poole. Town of Truro—M. Archibald.

Town of Barrington—J. Aplin.  Town of Onslow—C. Dickson.

Town of Annapolis—Col. De- Town of Londonderry—
Lancy. }. Smith,

Town of Granville—B. James. Town of Shelburne—I. Wilkins.
Town of Windsor—]. McMon- Town of Sydney—]J. F. Buckley,
agle. J. Putnam.

Town of Newport—]. Day.

The latter post he retained until 1833. He died in 1844 having rounded out a full
ceéntury of years. His house at the southwest corner ot Barrington and Blowers
streets is still standing. After being long known as the Waverley Hotel, it is now a
bart of the Sisters’ Infirmary.
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The seats of Mr. Harper for Cumberland and Mr. Freeman of
Ambherst were declared vacant, as the elected members were not
“inhabitants of the Province.” Philip Marchinton, a prominent
merchant of Halifax, was elected in Mr. Harper’s place for Cum-

_ berland. Mr. Seabury, one of the members elected for the County

of Annapolis, was unseated by the Assembly ‘“‘on scrutiny of votes.”
He was re-elected, but the House—it is not clearly stated on what
grounds—gave the seat to the opposing candidate, Alexander Howe.

The setting off of New Brunswick as a distinct Province was now
an accomplished fact. From its first suggestion to its full completion
the process of dismemberment had occupied barely a year. To this
by no means unimportant event a member of concurrent causes con-
tributed. Amaong these a prominent place is assigned by later authori-
ties to the inability of the government of Nova Scotia to handle suc-
cessfully the initial problem of settlement at the mouth of the St.
John. Others lay emphasis on the geographical facts which rendered
separation a convenience, if not an absolute necessity. There is to
be considered, too, the natural desire and ambition of so considerable
a body of homogenous settlers, with a good supply of able and edu-
cated men to take the lead in such an undertaking, to found for
themselves a Province with its institutions fashioned according to their
own ideals. Beyond all doubt among the forces impelling to separation
was dread, of that dread leaven of at least semi-republicanism, which
they were taught to believe still lingered in some of the townships of
Nova Scotia. v

The scheme of devolution was pressed forward by Edward Wins-
low and its other promoters with great energy to a swift conclusion.
Governor Parr, who was not exactly a model of prompt and vigorous
activity, of course protested and sent an agent across to arrest the
movement. The separation was a foregone conclusion, before the
remonstrance reached the ministry in any form. As Governor Parr’s
hands were still pretty full with Annapolis and Shelburne, it is quite
likely that he regarded the shrinkage of his Province as a relief rather
than a loss.

New Brunswick started on her course with, as her Governor,
Thomas Carleton assured the authorities at home, with a much better

“constitution” than any of the other Provinces. “In Nova Scotia”—

this was a new wonder of the world—“everything originated in the




"HISTORY OF NOVA SCOTIA. 517

Assembly.” New Brunswick had no intention of shaping her institu-
tions after the model of New England as Nova Scotia had done. New
York, less infected with the virus of democracy and .more inclined to
strengthen the executive, had been taken as New Brunswick’s pattern.
Governor Carleton, however, did not go into particulars and inform
the Secretary of State as to the precise points of similarity between
the constitutions of Nova Scotia and Massachusetts, and of New
Brunswick and New York respectively.?

BOUNDARY LINE QUESTION.

The selection of the Missiquash as the boundary line between the
Provinces was more satisfactory to New Brunswick than to Nova
Scotia. The latter protested but not with particular vehemence. Vari-
ously at later times—down to as late a period as 1802—she protested
and memorialized with greater energy. The imperial government
never displayed the sligtest willingness to reconsider this boundary
question. Particular objection to the dividing line was taken on the
ground that it unnecessarily and unjustly deprived Nova Scotia of long
settled territory of considerable dimensions and great value—the whole
of the large township of Sackville, and the greater part of the town-
ship of Sackville, and the greater part of the township of Cumberland,
including the site of the historic fort itself.

In 1792 the Nova Scotia Assembly presented an address to the
Lieutenant-Governor, praying for his intervention to secure a restora-
tion of her territorial rights—‘an alteration in the division line between
this and the neighboring Province of New Brunswick.” This address,
and an answering one, presented by the Legislature of New Bruns-
wick to its Lieutenant-Governor are published in the Appendix. The
home government from first to last declined to re-open the question.
It is understood that Nova Scotia suggested three preferable lines as
follows—the order being that of diminishing advantage to herself:

I. A line fromthe head of the tide on the Petitcodiac River (near
Salisbury, N. B.) to the head of the tide on the Restigouche river

10n the latter resemblance, almost the only detail supplied is that New Brunswick
and New York chose inland sites for their capitals on the Fudson and the St. John,

rather than in better peopled localities on the coast. The illustration certainly does
not appear to be particularly relevant.

(34)
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(Flatlands, N. B.) This line corresponded to the boundary between
the old Nova Scotia counties of Cumberland and Sunbury and would
have left Nova Scotia and New Brunswick pretty nearly equal in
area, with the difference somewhat in favor of the former.

2. A line from the head of the tide on the Memramcook River
(seven or eight miles southeast from Painsec Junction) to Cocagne
Harbor near Shediac. Of this proposed boundary, Dr. Ganong, in
Boundaries of New Brunswick, justly says: This “was not an unrea-
sonable boundary, intended to include in Nova Scotia the old settle-
ments of New Englanders (and Yorkshiremen) at the head of the
Bay of Fundy, whose affiliations were most naturally with Nova
Scotia.”

3- A line from the mouth of the Aulac River (near Aulac Station
Intercolonial Railroad) to its head, and then by a given compass line
to the Straits of Northumberland. This boundary would have retained
in Nova Scotia the whole of the township of Cumberland and indeed
the whole isthmus proper. The boundary line through its entire
extent was not finally determined until 1858. The character of the
country from the head waters of the Missiquash eastward presented
many obstacles to satisfactory adjustment. The river had no proper
source, or none easily ascertained. Successive commissions appointed
by the respective governments wrestled with the problem in vain. In
1858 a commission consisting of but two members, neither of whom
was a Nova Scotian," decided to project the river as a boundary above
tide water and take rather compass lines along its general direction.
The effect of this principle was to throw into Nova Scotia the entire
upper course of the river and a considerable block of land to which
she might not otherwise have established a claim.

In reviewing the controversy, Dr. Ganong is of the opinion that
“the authorities of Halifax had some grounds for their view that the
settlements at the head of the Bay of Fundy should have belonged to
them. These settlements, notably from Sackville to Amherst, were
formed between 1761 and 1765 by New Englanders (with later addi-
tions from Yorkshire, England) large numbers of whom settled in
those years in the present Province of Nova Scotia while but few set-

tled in those years in the present Province of New Brunswick.
1Joseph Avard, Esq., of Shemogue, N. B, was the representative of Nova Scotia

on the commission. His colleague was Hon, James Steadman—afterwards Judge Stead-
man—of Moncton.

4
\
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In Nova Scotia, however, fewer loyalists.settled and the New Eng-
landers had a proportionately greater share in the government. It was
natural therefore, that the government of Nova Scotia should view
these settlements as belonging rather to old Nova Scotia than to the
new loyalist government of New Brunswick. It is very probable that
had this been understood by the authorities in England, or had the
case of Nova Scotia been represented as persistently as was that
of New Brunswick the boundary would have been established along
the Memramcook to Shediac or Cocagne. That it runs as it does
is another of those pieces of good fortune which New Brunswick has
experienced in the settlement of her boundaries, a good fortune which
is not realized and hence not appreciated by the people.”

CAPE BRETON.

On becoming attached to the British Crown by the Treaty of
Paris in 1763, she was connected with Nova Scotia by the imperial
authorities, and formally organized under the style and title of the
County of Cape Breton. During the two decades of her connection
with Nova Scotia, though she nominally possessed the right 'of
representation in the Assembly, the actual enjoyment of that privilege
was denied her by causes already explained. That fine island was
not placed on a level with the little township of Barrington and Fal-
mouth, neither of which could probably have shown on strict count
much, if any, over the minimum quota of fifty freeholders. Cape
Breton was unrepresented and voiceless, accepting what the fates
might allot her. Set free, she will now for thirty-six years pursue
her own line of development, and her history will not have even a
nominal connection with that of Nova Scotia. Our last notice of her
was when in 1767 Lord William Campbell was sharply called to
account for granting Benjamin Gerrish an eight months’ lease for
digging coal. It is but right to attempt a brief outline of what went on
in Cape Breton between 1767 and 1784, the date of separation.

In 1768 a great blow befell Louisburg. The military authorities
had caught scent of danger in New England and forthwith removed
the entire garrison. Small traders and artisans followed the troops
and “the once celebrated capital of Cape Breton shrank into infini-
tesimal proportions. Lord Hillshorough, considerably, but in rather

L et

awkward English, instructed Lieutenant-Governor Francklin to “sig-
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nify to the inhabitants of the island of Cape Breton the tenderness
with which His Majesty considered, and the attention that would be
paid, to the improvements they had made under the temporary licenses
which had been granted to them by the Government of Nova Scotia.”
Francklin sent to Lord Hillshorough a list of licenses of occupation
in the whole island, there were only seven holders of said licenses.
The number of parties who had. made improvements without any
title whatever was much larger of course, but amounted to but a few
hundreds. There was not a single freehold in the island. But that
year many of the Acadians who had fled to St. Pierre and Miquelon
left the barren rocks and took up settlements at Isle Madame, River
Bourgeoise, Harbour Bouche and Pomquet. Mr. Cottnam, chief
magistrate at Louisburg, being threatened with starvation as a con-
sequence of the withdrawal of the troops, proposed to leave, but
Lieutenant-Governor Francklin induced him to remain by the promise
of “A salary of 100 pounds per annum until his Majesty’s pleasure
be known.”

In 1769 the rush of settlers to the neighboring islands of St. John’s
caused speculators to consider the claims of Cape Breton, *which
although inferior in point of fertility possessed many superior advan-
tages over St. John’s. Scores of needy, or greedy gentlemen sent in
application for grants, the average acreage asked for being 20,000,
though a few sank to about half of that amount. The applications
were all pigeon-holed.

Though we have already noticed the remedy for the disfranchise-
men of Cape Breton, by the resolution adopted by the House at Hali-
fax, on April 2, 1770, it is ridiculous enough to bear repetition; “that
no writ shall issue to the Isle of Cape Breton, because of the want
of freeholders to make an election, and that the said isle be deemed
to be represented by the members for the County of Halifax, into
which it has resolved and became a part as heretofore.”

Then came three years during which the painstaking historian of
Cape Breton can find nothing worth putting on record save an incident
in the early career of Lawrence Kavanagh who fifty years later, on
the re-annexation of Cape Breton was one of the two members elected?
for the island county and the first Roman Catholic gentleman to take
his seat in the Nova Scotia Assembly. A charge was preferred

IMr. Kavanagh’s colleague was Richard J. Uniacke, Jr.)
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against young Kavanagh of having removed and appropriated mate-
rial for some of the deserted public buildings of Louisburg. The
answer was that he had simply taken planks or other material from one
public building to repair another of greater value. He retaliated by
lodging complaint against Lieutenant Danson for impressing seamen
belonging to vessels in which he had an interest and unnecessarily
detaining his fishing boats. The whole matter ended in smoke. Mr.
Kavanagh soon removed to St. Peter’s. He was for more than half a
century one of the most influential merchants in Cape Breton.

Though the right to elect members to the Nova Scotia Assembly
was denied the people of Cape Breton, the duty of their raising troops
for service in the war period (1775) which has now arrived was
strongly insisted on. Indeed if the historian Brown’s arithmetic is
correct, in the apportionate of levies under Governor Legge’s procla-
mation a most disproportionate assignment was made to Cape Breton
and Isle Madame.



CHAPTER 1X,

RISE AND FALL OF SHELBURNE—THE IMPEACHMENT OF JUDGES—THE
OLD AND NEW INHABITANTS—THE LOYALISTS—THE CHURCH OF
ENGLAND—SOME ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY—BISHOP INGLIS.

It is impossible to ascertain with even approximate accuracy the
increment of permanent population which accrued to Nova Scotia
from the influx of Loyalists in 1783-4. Colonel Morse’s report, with
an appended return of the disbanded troops and Loyalists settling in
the Province of Nova Scotia, mustered in the summer of 1784, gives
the total as 28,347. The return was compiled before the partition
and so includes the whole scope of the greater Nova Scotia. The
total is swollen by the inclusion of 380 exiles, who had landed in the
island of St. John, and having been provided for by the British gove-
ernment thus came within the scope of the colonial muster. There
is no record of any contingent in Cape Breton. Of the total number,
11,047 are beyond the isthmus. 9,260 at the St. John River and 1,787
at Passamaquoddy. Deducting this number with the 380 in the
Island of St. John, we get 16,920 as the remainder (1784) within the
peninsula. Colonel Morse, whose report appears in the appendix to
this volume, proposes to “be able to give with precision the number
of new inhabitants, viz, the disbanded troops and Loyalists who came
into this Province since the peace, the whole having been mustered
in the summer of 1784, in order to ascertain the number entitled to
. the royal bounty of provisions.” As there was at least a limited
number of those who fled to Nova Scotia for refuge, whose circum-
stances did not require them to take advantage of the royal bounty,
it is reasonable to assume that the return, rather understates than
otherwise the proportions of the migration.

The figures for that part of Nova Scotia which was about to
become New Brunswick seem to be accepted by the historians and
statisticians of that Province as reasonably accurate. The general
tradition is that the original Loyalists settling on the St. John num-
bered about ten thousand, with some two thousand at other points.
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That our peninsula received during the years 1783-4 an accession
of population from a single source of nearly seventeen thousand souls
appears, on its first mention, an almost incredible statement. I
reliable, it follows that the newcomers were sufficient in number to
swamp the entire mass of people found in the peninsula on their
arrival,—original Haligonians, Germans, New Englanders, Pictonians,
Yorkshiremen, repatriated Acadians and Indians. There were in the
peninsula in 1767 according to the general return of that year barely
12,000 people of all races. There had been comparatively little growth
during the following seventeen years. Church statistics showed that
the settled population of Halifax had remained practically stationary.
Possibly the 3,000 had become 4,000. There had been some provin-
cial accessions, the Highlanders of Pictou and the Yorkshiremen of
Cumberland, but on the other hand the New England townships had
their natural development checked, and some of them their population
seriously reduced by the war just closed. Comparatively few of the
returning Acadians succeeded in making homes for themselves south
of the Isthmus. :

All known facts and probabilities suggest that prior to the Loyal-
ist movement in 1783-4 the entire population of the peninsula did
not reach fifteen thousand. Morse appends to his return of the
Loyalists an estimate of the number of established settlers awaiting
their arrival in the entire undivided Province as only 14,400. He
is, however, clearly in error in reckoning the Acadians as only 400,
there being certainly two or three thousand in the part of the Province
about to be cut off, the section which had received the chief benefit
of the influx which had set in in 1767. There were about a thousand
English-speaking settlers north of the Isthmus. Morse’s estimate of
the “Old British Inhabitants” is probably somewhat below the mark.

“An abstract of the number of inhabitants will stand thus:

SO Old Britishs Tnhabitants o oo coce i g 14,000

SO ePrench - Aleadianse Soonr e tean Sarasias b 400

“Of Disbanded Troops and Loyalists which are
called New Inhabitants..__ . ccieacuciwa- 28,347
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It is clear beyond dispute that when Morse compiled his return
the Loyalists and disbanded soldiers who accompanied them formed
a decided majority of the population of the peninsula. Though the
new element of population thus introduced was widely distributed,
extending from the extreme west to the extereme east, a few princi-
pal centers comprehended the bulk of it. N early three-fourths of the
entire migration are reported at Shelburne, the County of Annapolis,
Chedabucto Bay and the County of Cumberland.

From a numerical point of view Halifax never was a conspicuous
Loyalist centre. The two hundred and eight credited to the capital
in the return were, it would appear, without exception, “the widows
and children of Loyalists and soldiers and often objects of charity.”

This does not mean that Loyalists in considerable numbers had not
found homes in the capital, but that those who did so belonged to
classes of which cognisance would not be taken in the muster. Hali-
fax from 1781 to 1783 was the landing place and temporary halting
place of numerous groups, which variously dispersed.

Morse’s report was written in advance of the experiences of the
first winter spent in Nova Scotia by the great majority of the Loyal-
ist groups which attempted to form settlements in the Province,
experiences on which happily we are not called on to lift the veil.
The report, however, discloses some of the initial difficulties encoun-
tered, and contemplates the future with considerable apprehension.
Most of the immigrants did not reach Nova Scotia until the season
was well advanced. To get possession of the land designed for them,
they had to await tedious processes of escheatment made necessary
by the reckless and improvident policy of handing over whole counties
to grasping favorites. Governor Parr and his official staff were
rebuked for lack of preparedness to meet the emergency. With
Morse the one urgent paramount duty or necessity—was to get the
people on their lands. Eventually the question settled itself. Of
land, such as it was, Nova Scotia had enough and to spare. Some of
the groups of settlers, notably the one whose lucky star directed it
to Annapolis, was so fortunate in its allotment, that the generation
following might well repeat the grateful exultation handed down
from old, “The lines are fallen unto me in pleasant places; yea, I
have a goodly heritage.” Others less favored by fortune finding
that an abundance of the rocky, sterile soil marked out for them tended
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to poverty rather than riches, tried other callings rather than agricul-
ture, shifted about, and in too many cases left the country. Others
merged successfully from struggles of which but scant records remain.
Dangers were heroically faced; hardships and privations uncomplain-
ingly borne. Fields of golden grain gleamed in the depths of the
forest. Comfortable homesteads dotted Westchester Mountain and
the Rawdon Hills. ‘

To Colonel Morse the acquisition of land and the cultivation of the
soil were the main points to which attention should be directed. “They
have hitherto been mostly employed in building towns at the principal
settlements. At Port Roseway and the mouth of the River St. John,
astonishing towns have been raised, and in less time, perhaps, than
was ever known in any country before. It is, however, much to be
lamented such great exertions had not been more profitably directed in
cultivating their lands, for besides loss of time, they have wasted their
substance in that which can never prove profitable to themselves or
useful to the country.”

Morse was somewhat hasty in this expression of opinion. The
money spent in reckless folly at Shelburne might as well have been
thrown into the sea.

Results completely vindicated the policy of the Loyalist pioneers
of New Brunswick in making a central nucleus at the mouth of the
St. John, the main base of their operations for provincial settlement.
This course of procedure was indicated alike by physical and topo-
graphical conditions. A noble river through fertile upland and inter-
vale penetrated far into the interior. The town or city built at the
mouth of the river would have to serve it the whole Bay of Fundy
and its tributary waters, and could draw to itself the trade of the
older Nova Scotia townships almost without exception.

It was very rash and entirely unwarranted in Morse to put in a
common category enterprises so unlike in character as the attempts to
build cities on the St. John and at Port Roseway. The story of
the Sheffield misadventure has been often told and need not be
repeated. Emphasis is naturally laid in the recital on the incidents and
features which appeal most strongly to the imagination and to the
sympathetic instincts of human nature. Yesterday an unsettled
wilderness, today a city, tomorrow a ruin. One is naturally anxious
to learn who originated, what train of circumstance led up to this
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almost absurd attempt to improvise a fully fledged city in a place
characterised by an almost entire absence of favoring conditions.
To gratify this desire for information, a brief extract from an article
in the collections of the Nova Scotia Historical Society by Rev. ]J.
Watson Smith, D.D., is published in the Appendix.

THE MAGIC GROWTH OF SHELBURNE.

A more gourd-like growth than that of Shelburne is almost incon-
ceivable. All the conditions of civic life and activity—as civic life and
activity then were—were developed in the compass of a few months.
Within a year its population doubled that of Halifax, exceeded that
of Montreal or Quebec, and was equalled by few New England towns
but Boston. Governors visited it in state and were glad to recipro-
cate the hospitalities of the gay and generous people. Earnest itin-
erants who had spent many a long day of tiresome travel in reaching
a dozen settlers, found the opportunity of their lives in being able
to proclaim the gospel message in a community embracing half the
population of the Province. As long as money lasted there was some-
thing that strongly simulated the stir and whirr of actual business.
A few rather misdirected attempts to provide the city with some kind
of an industrial and commercial substructure was tried—the timber
trade, ship building, fishing ventures—but none yielded satisfactory
results. Cash in hand gradually became less and less. Government
expenditures were withdrawn or reduced to a paltry minimum.
Retail trade was smitten with a death blow. For labor, skilled and
unskilled, there was no demand. Then came disintegration, then
decay.

“Joseph Pynchon, one of the original delegates from New York,
saved himself from reproaches which must have overwhelmed any
sensitive man, by selling his lands eighteen months after his arrival
and withdrawing from the place. Even in 1785, notices of houses
for sale formed a good proportion of the whole number of adver-
tisements in the Shelburne papers, though widespread reports of the
new city and the beautiful harbour caused immigration which, for a
time, counter-balanced the emigration—in point of numbers at least.
But even this influx of strangers soon ceased; and in the autumn and
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winter of 1787, when the government distribution of food had ended,
men were treading on the heels of their fellows as they hastened away.
One of the unsolved mysteries of Nova Scotian history is the ultimate
destruction and fate of the vast majority of these wanderers for a
second time. Some found homes in adjacent townships. Halifax
absorbed a few well-known families. Others linked their fortunes
with their fellow exiles in St. John. The great body drifted away
no one knows whither. Few records of their wanderings and suffer-
ings have been preserved. Their circumstances were most unfavor-
able to the preparation or preservation of historical data. The Loyal-
ists in general left no songs behind them, nor harpers to chant their
sorrow; the best writers upon one of the most marvellously sad
events of the new world have given us only a comparatively few
detached incidents, which serve to deepen the mysterious interest
of the story, rather than to remove it.”

The Shelburne of Joseph Pynchon has had no resurrection. It is
difficult to conceive of circumstances likely to restore it to life, with
its fevered rush, its simulated prosperity, its gay revels. Modern
Shelburne is one of the most beautiful of our smaller county towns,
with a most reposeful air, some well established industries, and a
people noted for their exceptional intelligence and high standard of
morality.

One effect of the Loyalist wave of immigration was to bring
into Nova Scotia in considerable numbers gentlemen qualified by abil-
ity and experience to take part in the direction of public affairs, par-
ticularly in the realms of jurisprudence and politics. In determining
the extent to which actual participation in the official positions under
control of the Crown and Council should be accorded the incoming
settlers, two contrary forces might be recognized as at work, on the
one hand, the natural desire to show proper appreciation of unswerv-
ing loyalty, and on the other a strong objection to the displacement
of good men already in possession. The general description of the
situation in Nova Scotia after the peace is that there was quite a
scramble for office between the new and the old. Judgment on the
accuracy of this representation may be deferred until relevant facts
have passed under scrutiny.
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THE IMPEACHMENT OF THE J-UDGES.

The outstanding event in the history of the sixth Assembly, that
elected in 1785 after the dissolution of the “Long Parliament,” and
just after, too, the Loyalist settlement, was the “Impeachment of the
Judges.” A firm of lawyers, each member being well known. Loyal-
ists, had preferred charges against the two puisne judges, Isaac Des-
champs and James Brenton, the former “a gentleman of Swiss extrac-
tion” and the other a native of Rhode Island, both “old timers.”

The precise acts on which Sterns and Taylor, the legal firm in
question, advanced charges of improper and irregular conduct and
administration against the judges are not very definitely stated. They
were brought to the notice of the people generally by a letter from
Jonathan Sterns, the senior member of the firm, and who may be
regarded as the chief accuser, and to the notice of the House by Mr.
Milledge of Digby, who moved for the appointment of a committee
of investigation.

As the whole affair is often represented as a battle-royal between
the Loyalist element of the population through its representatives in
the House, and the older Nova Scotia stock, it is pertinent to take a
glance at the composition of the legislative body by which the question
is now to be threshed out. :

At the recent election, held after the dissolution of the “Long
Parliament,” the Loyalists who had just put foot upon the soil, car-
ried six seats. One of these, Granville, had been lost by the action
of the Assembly, first in declaring it vacant, and then, when the late
member had been re-elected, peremptorily displacing him by his twice-
defeated opponent. Alex. Howe, who thus obtained the right to sit
for Granville from which David Seabury® had been ejected, was a
son of Edward Howe, who was so severely wounded in the Coulon de
Villiers affair at Grand Pré, and afterwards so treacherously shot on
the banks of the Missiquash. In the course of a year or two the
Loyalist strength in the House received accessions which more than
made up for the loss of Granville. Shelburne County (Shelburne
and Yarmouth) was detached from Queens and awarded the usual

! David Seabury moved to Halifax and conducted business on a large scale, but
eventually he returned to New Fork. He was a brother of Dr. Samuel Seabury,
Bishop of Connecticut, whose conservation marked the beginning of the Episcopate of
the Protestant Episcopal Church of the United States.
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county quota of two members. The town of Shelburne and the new
township of Digby in Annapolis County obtained each a represen:
tative. These four seats were all filled by Loyalists, giving the
Loyalist interest nine members of the thirty-nine composing the
House.

The House “in Committee of the Whole” investigated the charges
of Sterns and Taylor, and examined Sterns, “who was heard at great
length in his account of several cases tried in the Supreme Court,
in order to prove the mal-conduct of the judges.” Mr. Taylor handed
in a written statement “to the tired members.” The committee simply
reported the facts of the case, whereon the House, with apparent
unanimity, requested the Governor to institute an inquiry into the
conduct of the incriminated justices, so conducted that ‘“the public
be fully convinced of their innocence or criminality, and that they
themselves may be satisfied in what they themselves have an undoubted
right to expect—a trial by their peers’.”

Governor Parr’s message in reply to the address embraced the
following points. The complaints required a very deliberate investi-
gation, which could not be gone into at present. Highly technical
points were involved. Disputes between judges and practitioners
were nothing new. Such things have often happened in England
with the twelve judges. “Insinuation of a more criminal nature
appears to be entirely void of foundation.” The Governor does not
believe that any charge of partiality or corruption in office can in any
degree be imputed to them. “However, the House was assured that
ample justice would be done.”

At this juncture a vacancy occurred in the representation of
Halifax County by the elevation of Attorney-General Blowers to the
Council. Jonathan Sterns, the chief accuser of the judge, offered
himself as a candidate for the vacant seat, but was defeated by Charles
Morris, representing one of the oldest English families in the
Province and naturally standing by the “old ways.” There was
much excitement at the election. One man was killed—“the Rev.
Dr. Boyles, a man of great humor,” who wrote some sarcastic verses,
we are not told at whose expense. :

The Supreme Court opened at Halifax, when Messrs. Stern and
Taylo‘tj, acknowledging the authorship of certain publications in the
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public papers printed by John Howe®' on the 6th, 13th, 20th and
27th March, reflecting on the judges, the Chief Justice (Hon. Des-
champs) stated his name in full and struck them both off the roll
of attorneys.”

A few days later, Lieutenant-Governor Parr presiding, the Coun-
cil in view of “several printed publications, highly reflecting on the
Governor and Council, signed ‘Sterns and Taylor, attornies at law,’
ordered that, the said attornies shall no longer be admitted to appear
before them on any business in that capacity.” The disbarring of
Sterns and Taylor and their future exclusion from intercourse with
the Council did not, however, settle the matter so far as the Assembly
was concerned. '

FIRST PARTY DIVISIONS.

Murdock thinks that this was “the period when party divisions
were first experienced in Nova Scotia.” He points out that “two
old gentlemen (judges) both highly respected and eminently loyal
were attacked,” and that Mr. Sterns who led this attack was “one
of the Loyalists recently settled here.”” He interprets the whole
impeachment matter as but one sign of an extensive friction between
the Loyalists and the old inhabitants. There are some facts and
considerations which tend to show that his picture is somewhat over-
drawn. It must be borne in mind that in connection with the
impeachment matter there is nothing to suggest that the Nova Sco-
tians of older planting were in any way obstructing the laudable ambi-
tions of the Loyalists. If Sterns was a Loyalist, and if his chief sup-
porters in the Assembly were Loyalists, so far the demand for an
investigation had not been formally opposed. Sterns had some
staunch supporters in the old New England element. Singularly
enough a sentence written by Murdock to illustrate and sustain his
interpretation of the impeachment episode followed another tending
to upset it. We read “An anonymous correspondent of the Nova
Scotia Gazette at this time alludes to it as a division into ‘Old comers
and New comers'—or ‘Loyalists and ancient inhabitants’.” Of course
such a division existed; it could not be overlooked. A part of the
population traced descent from early settlers of various stocks, a part
had but recently arrived and was just beginning to take root. This

1Father of Joseph Howe.
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obvious fact does not conclusively sustain the historian’s view of the
procedure against the judges. The following sentence is the imme-
diate sequel to the one quoted: “On the 8th of April, Jonathan Crane
and Elisha Lawrence, members of Kings County, and Benjamin
Belcher, the member for Cornwallis, addressed a memorial to the
lieutenant-governor, stating the disbarring of Messrs. Sterns and
Taylor, as if it were for having given their evidence before the
House of Assembly, and praying that they might be restored to
practice.” Crane, Lawrence and Belcher, who thus intervened in
Stern’s behalf, and who sustained the impeachment policy throughout,
were all of New England stock, Crane being of New England birth
as well. The Governor’s answer was that the attornies “had been
struck off the roll for the publications in the newspapers and not for
the evidence given the House” and on the “advice of the Attorney and
Solicitor-General.” The Attorney-General who had thus advised was
Sampson Salter Blowers, the most distinguished Loyalist then in
Nova Scotia. The Solicitor-General was Richard J. Uniacke.

The House for some reason did not meet in 1788. When it met
in 1799, Richard J. Uniacke was chosen Speaker in succession to
Blowers, who, as we have seen, had left the Assembly for the Coun-
cil. As Speaker Mr. Uniacke took no part in the memorable “im-
peachment” debates that were to follow. The deputy secretary of
the Province presented to the House the following message from
the lieutenant-governor answering in more precise terms than the one
in 1787, the address of the Assembly praying for the invetsigation of
the judges: “In consequence of your address to me in your last
session that enquiry should be made into the conduct of the judges
of the Supreme Court, on several charges which had been brought
against them for misbehavior in office, I accordingly with His
Majesty’s Council proceeded in that enquiry and called on the judges
to answer, which having been considered, together with the several
allegations brought in support of such charges, I did, with the
Unanimous opinion of the Council, agree that the charges against the
judges were not supported by the proof which accompanied your
address. The whole of the proceedings have heen long since trans-
mitted to His Majesty’s Minister, but I have not yet received any
answer thereto.”

A division was taken as to whether this message was, or was not,
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satisfactory to the House. By the narrow majority of one it was
declared to be satisfactory. Of the thirty-eight members of the
House exclusive of the Speaker, only twenty-nine voted, the division
standing fifteen to fourteen. Of the eight Loyalist members, seven
are recorded in the negative, Delancy of Annapolis being absent or
paired. The remaining seven were made up of Day of Newport, for
which township the impeached judge, Deschamps, had sat for nearly
twenty years, and who had himself come over with Cornwallis;
Crane for Kings County (his colleague, Lawrence, is not recorded) ;
Belcher of Cornwallis, Archibald of Truro, and Schwartz of Lunen-
burg, Tonge of Hants and McMonagle of Windsor. As all the
Halifax members, and two of the three Lunenburg members voted in
the affirmative, the Loyalists had with them a majority of the mem-
bers actually voting from New England constituencies. The names
of the members for Queens County (2), Yarmouth, Barrington,:
Annapolis, Kings County (1), Londonderry and Amherst, are not
included in the division list.

Notwithstanding the verdict of satisfaction with the lieutenant-
governor’s message, the matter now was not allowed to drop. The
next step was a motion proposed by Isaac Wilkins' of Shelburne, and
seconded by Major Barclay of Annapolis County, that “an humble
and respectful address be presented to his Excellency the lieutenant-
governor that he will be pleased to remove from his presence those evil
and pernicious councillors, until his Majesty’s pleasure shall be
known.” This was a sort of duplex proposition. It transferred the
attack from the judges to the Council and made the Council a con-
venient substitute for the Governor, on whose back the lash was
really to be laid. It is not clear how the House could with any
degree of consistancy adopt a motion of such a character. It was
opposed not only by out and out anti-Loyalists like Alexander Howe
of Granville, but by moderate men like Mr. Day of Newport, who
“was of no party, and never would act under the influence of a
party, but would on all occasions give his vote according to what
appeared to him most for the welfare of the country. He should,
therefore, give his negative to the motion before the House.” During

1Igaac Wilkins was a lawyer of Westchester, New York, who came to Nova Scotia
as a prominent member of the Shelburne immigrant body. After spending some time
in Nova Scotia, he returned to New York and took orders in the Protestant Episcopal
church. His son, Lewis Morris, remained in Nova Scotia and sat on the Bench, as
did a grandson of the same name who is still remembered.
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the debate on that motion Wilkins and Barclay made much of the
alleged inconsistancy of Blowers, who had while Speaker, tacitly but
strongly thrown his influence in favor of investigation and impeach-
ment, but as councillor had now declared the charges to be without
foundation, and that on a purely ex parte inquiry.

Alexander Howe! declared the stand taken by Wilkins and Barclay
to be practically rebellion. Barclay retorted that they were not pray-
ing for the dissolution of the Council but for the dismissal of coun-
cillors, a course abundantly justified by British precedent. The
motion received support, outside of the seven Loyalist members—
Colonel De Lancy of Annapolis had received an appointment in the
Bahamas and his brother James had not yet taken his place—from but
two members, Belcher of Cornwallis, and Collins of Queens.

This side attack having failed, Barclay of Annapolis formally pre-
sented thirteen articles of impeachment against the judges, Des-
champs and Brenton. He took the ground that the so-called acquittal
by the Council, sitting with closed doors, and without one side to the
issue being either heard or represented, had done nothing to allay
the discontent of the Province relative to the administration of justice.
Accordingly he preferred certain charges against the judges of the
Supreme Court for their inspection and consideration to be by them
(the House) adopted as articles of impeachment, if well grounded:
and he begged leave to move that in case those charges were accepted
by the House, an humble petition should be presented to His Majesty
accompanied with a copy of the impeachment and prays His Majesty
to institute a court for the trial of the judges.”

The Speaker (Uniacke) suggested proper modes of procedure,
and recommended calm and careful deliberation. A brilliant debate
ensued. Mr. Hill of Halifax respected Mr. Sterns and wished to
see him restored to practice, but this impeachment proceeding would
revive rancor and throw the country into confusion. Mr. Marchinton,
a resident of Halifax, but representing the Loyalists and Yorkshire-
men of Cumberland, urged inquiry: “This matter had not been like
a candle set under a bushel, but as a light set on a hill, which light
had shone through the adjoining Provinces and through the King-
dom.” Mr, Marchinton “wished our courts might shine like lustre,

INot in any way related to the family of the yet unborn “Tribune of the People,”
but whose father nevertheless had printed Jonathan Stern’s calumnious letters.

(35)
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and do honor to the Province, but for a long time past there had been
a dark cloud hanging over the land and the practice of it.” Major
(afterwards Colonel) Crane took the same side; if charges were
instituted against him of which he was innocent he would court
investigation. Wilkins (Loyalist) and Belcher (New Englander)
followed on the same side. Mr. Hill again broke a lance in favor
of the judges. They had already been tried and acquitted. He was
answered by Milledge, Crane and McMonagle. Mr. Dight,* one of
the members for Cumberland County, was the last speaker against
Barclay’s motion to initiate impeachment proceedings.

The motion was adopted by a vote of ten to seventeen. The
Loyalists voting in favor numbered nine. The seat for Annapolis had
been filled by the election of Capt. James DeLancy, while Gideon
White, a Shelburne Loyalist, had now replaced Joseph Aplin at Bar-
rington. The minority list included besides the five Halifax members
(Uniacke; the sixth was in the chair) only Jessen of Lunenburg,
DeWolfe of Hants (Deschamps’ next door neighbor), Dennison of
Horton, Northup of Falmouth, and Dight of Cumberland.

The minority had still a shot left in their locker. Mr. Pyke of
Halifax moved to limit the charges of impeachment to new matter,
and strike out those on which the judges had already been acquitted
by the Council. Major Barclay had no difficulty in rebutting this
amendment, which received but eight votes, two at least of the Hali-
fax members—Fillis and Morris—going against it.

So far as the Assembly was concerned, the end was now in sight.
By varying majorities of nine to twelve, the House adopted articles
of impeachment, and reported a committee of which Barclay was
chairman. The Governor was requested to suspend the judges against
whom such action had been taken. Failing to secure from his Coun-
cil assent to this proposition the Governor felt compelled to officially
negative it. Isaac Wilkins of Shelburne and Lawrence of Kings
County, were appointed to act with Mr. Cumberland, the Provincial
agent in England, on such unrelated matters as the impeachment of
the judges and obtaining a grant for the College at Windsor. When
matters connected with his charges were in such a stage of ripe
development, it is somewhat surprising to find Jonathan Sterns, bar-

1John Butler Dight obtained leave to assume Butler as a surname. .fohn Butler

Butler was father of Colonel E. K. 8. Butler of Martock, Windsor, whom some living
still remember.
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rister-at-law, “apologising for irregular conduct and praying to be
admitted to the practice of his profession in those courts where the
lieutenant-governor presides or sits as judge.” It is not surprising to
find that the only satisfaction just then obtained was to be assured
that “the same was taken into consideration.” The proverbial “law’s
delay” dragged along in fine style. “His Majesty directed that
articles of impeachment against the judges should be heard and
determined before the King and Council.” The incriminated judges
got leave to take evidence for their defense in the Province and
transmit same to England. Per Contra the House resolved that
“Messrs. Barclay, Sterns and Foster Hutchinson, Jr., be appointed
to cross-examine the witnesses produced for the defence.”

ECONOMY OF THE COUNCIL.

The Council had an eye to economy. When the House voted
two hundred pounds to pay Council and other charges in England, the
Council negatived this vote on two grounds; first, there was no infor- -
mation of expense actually incurred, or likely to be incurred; sec-
ondly, the Council had not concurred in the appointment of gentlemen
to cooperate with Mr. Cumberland in carrying on the impeachment.
Having received this rather staggering blow, the Assembly was pro-
rogued. The issue of the whole matter of the impeachment was
announced in the Gasgette of Tuedsay, September 11, 1792: “The
Committee of H. M. Privy Council, before whom the charges exhib-
ited by the House of Assembly against the assistant judges of the
Supreme Court have been heard, have reported to his Majesty, that
after a mature consideration of the subject, they cannot find any
Cause of censure against these gentlemen, and have fully acquitted
them, which report his Majesty has been pleased to confirm.”

A careful reading of the deliberations of the Assembly during
the three or four sessions that the impeachment question was at the
front does not strikingly confirm Murdock’s view—and indeed the
general view—that it was primarily an outward sign or outgrowth
of an inward antipathy between the two leading classes of Nova
Scotians. Whatever may have been its primary impulse, Murdock
himself leaves testimony to the fact that the general effect of the
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long drawn out controversy was to bring the representatives of the
earlier and later immigrations into nearer and better relations.

The selection of Isaac Wilkins or Elisha Lawrence to protect the
Assembly’s interests before the Privy Council suggests anything but
strife between the new and the old. Pretty soon we shall see
Jonathan Sterns head the poll in Halifax, and Thomas Barclay unani-
mously elected Speaker in the House not containing more than nine
or ten of his fellow Loyalists. Anyway, the impeachment debates
opened up a new era in our parliamentary oratory.

Just what grounds there may have been for Sterns’s charges
against the judges cannot be pronounced on with absolute certainty.
Still the testimony tendered in their support carried conviction to
the minds of too many independent men to permit us to assume that
they were entirely without foundation. It would be uncharitable to
assume that there was anything in the conduct of the judges which
could not be accounted for by incapacity and thoughtlessness. Such
personal pleas as that it would be an “unfriendly” if not cruel act,
to deprive men of their bread in the decline of life—men who could
not live many years longer—who had large families to struggle for,
and who had served the public in different offices for many years, on
charges of, at most, errors in judgment in one or two trifling occa-
sions,” really prove that grounds for complaint did exist. Deschamps
was a patriotic and loyal man no doubt, but as a most decided pluralist
attempted too many things to allow any of them to be done in a
really efficient manner. At one time—perhaps it has already been

; 14In our legislative body, much talent had been displayed. The flowing sentences
and racy humour of Uniacke—the elegant astuteness and vigour of Barclay—the
earnest and skilled arguments of Isaac Wilkins and Colonel Millidge, and the ready
powers of debate evinced by Charles Pyke, Crane, Freke Bulkeley and others, gave
the House of Representatives a weight and charm in 1789 and 1790, that has been
only twice or thrice repeated in succeeding years; and the zeal and energy of Cott-
nam Tonge in the pious efforts to support the interests of his persecuted father was
a precusor signal of Nova Scotian oratory.

Of the distinguished men of the Assembly Crane, F. Bulkely and Pyke were
native Nova Scotians, certainly the two last were. Crane I can remember as he
appeared in the House twenty years later--a tall handsome man with fluent speech
and an amazing readiness of natural wit and illustrative power. In short, T think,
that this was one of the happy and haleyon days of Nova Scotia. The hetrogeneous
elements of which its population were composed now settling down into good neigh-
borhood and harmony. Old grievances and hostilities had died out, and the only
fancy line of division was owing to fretfulness of lawyers who were unsuccessful in
some of their litigated suits.”

Colonel Jonathan Crane was a native of Connecticut, and came, a child of six
or seven, with his parents to Horton, in 1759. One of his sons, the Hon. William
Crane of Sackville, New Brunswick, was for many years one of the most influential
public men of the neighboring Province.
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stated—he filled simultaneously the following positions, member of
the Assembly, for Newport, clerk of the Assembly, assistant judge
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